
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380136/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 13 October 2020 

Page 1 of 4  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 21 October 2020 at 4.00 pm, 
MS Teams - Virtual Meeting 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Paul Cox, Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Jenny Molineux and Joyce Plummer 
 
Joining instructions for the meeting have been issued separately to Members. 
 
The meeting may be viewed by the public and press using Hyndburn Borough Council’s Public 
Meetings page on You Tube, which can be accessed directly via the host’s website, or by using the 
following link:- 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-qtrx4h0128 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 5 - 22) 
 
To approve the Minutes of the last meeting of Cabinet held on 12th February 2020. 

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-qtrx4h0128


 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

4.   Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups  (Pages 23 - 30) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the meetings of the following Committees, Boards, Panels and 
Working Groups: 
 

Meeting Date 

Regeneration and Housing Panel 6th January 2020 

Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) 24th February 2020 

Regeneration and Housing Panel 9th March 2020 
 

5.   Urgent Decisions Taken  (Pages 31 - 154) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), to receive a report on decisions 
taken under the urgency procedure.  The following decisions are attached:- 
 

No
. 

Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) B with Us Allocations Policy Councillor L 
Cox 

25th March 2020 

(b) Amendment to Scheme of Delegation – 
Coronavirus Act 2020 

Councillor J 
Plummer 

2nd April 2020 

(c) Truck Cartel - Potential Compensation Claim Councillor M 
Parkinson 
OBE 

5th May 2020 

(d) LA Support (Litter and Dog Fouling 
Enforcement) 

Councillor P 
Cox 

5th May 2020 

(e) Local Business Discretionary Grant Policy Councillor J 
Plummer 

3rd June 2020 

(f) Barnfield & Hyndburn Limited – Proposed 
winding up and sale of Norden Court (Urgency 
report only.  The substantive report contains 
exempt information – full details appear in Part 
C of the Agenda) 

Councillor M 
Parkinson 
OBE 

23rd June 2020 

(g) Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and 
Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing 

Councillor J 
Plummer 

9th July 2020 

(h) Member attendance at meetings Councillor J 
Plummer 

10th July 2020 

(i) Allotment Rental Charge 2022 and 2023 Councillor M 
Dad 

31st July 2020 

(j) Temporary Rent Concession for the Indoor 
Market Hall Traders due to Coronavirus 

Councillor P 
Cox 

27th August 2020 

(k) Equality and Diversity Strategy 2020-2025 Councillor J 
Plummer 

28th August 2020 

(l) Surrender of Lease from Mercer House 1842 
in respect of Mercer House, Clayton Le Moors 

Councillor L 
Cox 

3rd September 
2020 

(m) Surrender of Lease granted to Mercer House 
1842 of the Arthur Wilson Centre, Clayton Le 
Moors 

Councillor L 
Cox 

3rd September 
2020 

(n) Christmas Lights 2020 Councillor L 24th September 



 

Page 3 of 4 

 

Cox 2020 
 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

6.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive verbal reports from each of the Portfolio Holders, as appropriate. 
 

Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 
 

7.   Employment Land in Hyndburn - Future Provision  (Pages 155 - 174) 
 
Report attached. 
 

8.   Climate Emergency and Carbon Neutral Gold and International Standard Award  
(Pages 175 - 178) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

9.   Exclusion of the Public   
 
Recommended  That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local Government 

Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
following items, when it is likely, in view of the nature of the 
proceedings that there will otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Act 
specified at the items. 

 
Details of any representations received by the Executive about why the following 
report should be considered in public – none received. 
 
Statement in response to any representations – not required. 
 

10.   Urgent Decisions Taken  (Pages 179 - 182) 
 
Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 - relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), to receive a report on decisions 
taken under the urgency procedure.  The following decisions are attached:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(f) Barnfield & Hyndburn Limited – Proposed 
winding up and sale of Norden Court 
(The reason for urgency is included in 
Part B of the Agenda) 

Councillor M 
Parkinson 
OBE 

23rd June 2020 

 



 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 
 



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 12th February, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox, 

Joyce Plummer and Loraine Cox 
 

In Attendance: Councillors June Harrison, Eamonn Higgins and Dave Parkins 

  

Apologies: Munsif Dad BEM JP and Jenny Molineux 
 

 
245 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Munsif Dad BEM JP and 
Jenny Molineux. 
 

246 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

247 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 15th January 2020 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

248 Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
The minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

 Regeneration and Housing Panel – 10th June 2019 

 Regeneration and Housing Panel – 21st August 2019 

 Regeneration and Housing Panel – 14th October 2019 

 Cabinet Waste and Recycling Group – 19th December 2019 

 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

249 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
The following verbal reports were provided: 
 
Councillor Paul Cox (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
 
Councillor Paul Cox reported that, a new look play area in Church Kirk was already proving 
popular with local children, with youngsters enjoying lots of new equipment there, including 
an exciting aerial runway and a large side to side swinging rope.  There was also a climbing 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

frame and an overhead rotator, along with swings, a basket swing and an interactive 
snakes and ladders game for family fun. 
  
Pupils from the Sacred Heart Primary School in Church were already fans of the large 
swinging rope, which provided a centre piece within the play area and was the first of its 
kind in Hyndburn.  It could be used by several children at once and would swing back and 
forth like a pirate ship at a theme park.  
The Hyndburn Green Spaces Forum, working closely with Hyndburn Council’s Parks Team, 
had secured a grant from the Lancashire Environmental Fund for £30,000, with Hyndburn 
Council providing the remainder of the funding.  The facilities would help to improve the 
health and wellbeing of local children and their families. 
 
Resolved - To note the verbal report provided by the Deputy Leader 

of the Council. 
 

250 Global Resettlement Scheme - Request for Procurement Rules Exemption 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, reported on a 
proposal to seek a waiver of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules in respect of the 
purchase of casework support and voluntary sector support for the Global Resettlement 
Scheme implementation in Hyndburn. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Global Resettlement Scheme (GRS) is being introduced by the Home Office from 
2020/21 and will consolidate all current resettlement programmes for refugees.  Lancashire 
has been asked to be involved by the Home Office and Lancashire County Council (LCC) is 
the lead authority for its co-ordination on behalf of all Local Authorities in Lancashire. 
 
The GRS will broaden the geographical focus beyond the Middle East and North Africa 
region.  Therefore, refugees could come from many countries including Syria, Iraq, Iran, 
Somalia and Sudan.  
 
The funding structure and delivery of the programme for the first cohort arriving in 2020/21 
will be very similar to the current Syrian Resettlement Programme in Lancashire.  Both the 
funding structure and numbers beyond 2020/21 are subject to agreement from the 
Treasury. 
 
All Lancashire local authorities have been requested to pledge and commit to resettle 10 
refugee households over a 5 year period.  Hyndburn has committed to receive the first 5 
households in July 2020.  Preparations are now underway to enable this to happen. 
 
Whilst a lot of the arrangements and logistics are co-ordinated by LCC there are numerous 
responsibilities on Hyndburn Borough Council to undertake prior to the refugees arrival.  
These will be detailed in the Agreement between LCC and the Council (to be agreed) and 
include the following:- 
 

 Sourcing suitable self-contained accommodation; and 

 Casework Support Service. 

 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

It was reported that Onward Homes, who provided the accommodation for the 10 Syrian 
Refugee households who arrived in July 2018, have agreed to source and provide houses 
for the 5 families arriving in July 2020 under the GRS. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could undertake a procurement exercise to choose a service provider for the 
above services but this is not recommended for the reasons stated in paragraphs 3.8, 3.10 
and 3.11 of the report. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet waives the Council’s Contract Procedure 

Rules in respect of the appointment of Calico Enterprise 
Ltd to provide casework support for a period of 2 years 
for the refugee households arriving in Hyndburn in July 
2020 as part of the Global Resettlement Scheme.  

 
(2) That Cabinet waives the Council’s Contract Procedure 

Rules in respect of the appointment of Maundy Relief (on 
behalf of THRIVE) to provide voluntary sector support for 
a period of 2 years for the refugee households arriving in 
Hyndburn in July 2020 as part of the Global Resettlement 
Scheme. 

 
(3) That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of 

Regeneration and Housing in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Housing to agree 
the terms of the Council’s agreement with Calico 
Enterprise Ltd and Maundy Relief and the terms of the 
Local Authority Agreement between the Council and 
Lancashire County Council. 

 
251 Pavement Cafe Licensing Policy 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report seeking 
approval to the adoption of a Policy and standard conditions for the licensing of pavement 
cafes under section 115E of the Highways Act 1980 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Under Section 115E of the Highways Act 1980, a district Council may grant permission for 
the service, amenities, recreation and refreshment facilities on pedestrianised areas of the 
highways.  The powers can be used to licence street cafes to enable premises fronting on 
pedestrian areas to have tables and chairs outside the premises for their customers. 
 
Alfresco eating is becoming a more widespread aspect of urban life and the presence of 
tables and chairs on the pavement can make a positive contribution by adding vitality, 
colour, life and interest to an area.  Hyndburn Borough Council supports and encourages 
the provision of pavement cafes in the area as they can help maximise the use of public 
spaces, aid the local economy and add to the facilities offered to people who visit, live, and 
work in Hyndburn. 
 
Whilst the Council wishes to encourage pavement cafes, it is important that they are 
properly located and managed.  This is to ensure that they meet the standards expected in 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Hyndburn and that they do not obstruct the highway nor create a hazard for pedestrians, 
especially for blind, partially sighted and other disabled people.  
 
The area to be used must take into account other needs in the immediate vicinity e.g. 
kerbside parking, bus stops and pedestrian crossings.  Pedestrians’ needs must be 
paramount.  The expanse of the pavement cafe must not conflict with any access or 
dropped crossings that are required for free passage of normal road users.  Barriers and 
tapping rails should be positioned and maintained to the satisfaction of Hyndburn Council 
and should be totally removed outside the permitted hours of operation of the cafe, 
restaurant or bar. 
 
In order to ensure that Pavement Cafes are run in such a manner so as to enhance the 
area and not to cause a problem to others using the pedestrianised areas, it is important 
that a robust policy is in place to deal with the issuing and maintenance of the licences 
issued under the Highways Act 1980. 
 
The granting of such permissions is similar to the processing of other licensing applications 
dealt with by the Licensing Section and, as many of the premises likely to apply under the 
Highways Act 1980 are likely also to have premises licences issued under the Licensing Act 
2003, it seems sensible for them to be dealt with within the same service. 
 
Under Section 115F of the Highways Act 1980, a Council may attach such conditions as it 
feels fit to a Street Cafe licence.  Accordingly, it is proposed that the standard conditions set 
out in Appendix 1 to the Policy, also be approved. 
 
Based on the predicted time spent on administering and controlling pavement cafes it is 
proposed that the application fee should be set at £125. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves the proposed Policy and standard 

conditions for pavement cafe licences and approves the 
application fee of £125. 

 
252 Disability Service (Specialist Accommodation Unit) - Update from Overview and 

Scrutiny (Resources) Committee Call-In 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, provided a report 
on the findings of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee “Call-in” in respect of 

the Cabinet’s decision to approve a £300,000 contribution from the Council’s Capital 
Programme towards the provision of an adult specialist unit.  The unit would form part of 
Lancashire County Council’s proposed development of two specialist accommodation units; 
one for disabled adults and one for disabled children both in Great Harwood. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
At its meeting on the 15th January 2020, Cabinet approved a £300,000 contribution from the 
Council’s Capital Programme towards an adult specialist unit.  That decision was 
subsequently “called in” by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which met to 
consider the matter on the 6th February 2020.  
 
After careful consideration, the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee released the 
Cabinet decision in full for implementation. 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet notes that its decision of the 15th 

January 2020 in respect of the Disability Service 
(Specialist Accommodation Unit) was released in full for 
implementation, following the use of the Call-In 
procedure. 

 
253 Financial Position December 2019 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2020 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report informing 

Cabinet of the financial spending of the Council up to the end of December 2019 and the 

financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2019/20.  Members considered a 

table within the report which set out the core financial details. 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 9 months of the financial year to the end of December 2019 is 
£8,756,000 compared to a Budget of £8,887,000 giving a positive variance of £131,000 
over the first 9 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2020 is £10,776,000 
compared to a Budget of £10,994,000.  This forecast produces a positive variance of 
£218,000 by the end of the financial year.  There are small adverse forecasts for Planning 
and Transportation, and Environmental Services.  Regeneration and Property Services 
have a larger adverse variance of 16% of Budget.  Elsewhere positive variances are 
sufficient to produce an overall surplus for the year.  
 
Environmental Services  
 
Environmental Services are predicting a year end adverse variance of £21,000.  This stems 
from salary savings of £24,000 and £1,000 of other savings on Food Safety.  Waste 
Services’ income is up £48,000, along with £22,000 of salary savings and £103,000 positive 
variance on recycling, less £50,000 of additional miscellaneous expenditure for an overall 
£123,000 surplus on their budget.  Parks and Cemeteries are predicting a positive variance 
of £31,000 with the Parks Service indicating savings of £19,000 on salaries and £5,000 on 
miscellaneous costs offset by £36,000 of reduced income.  Cemeteries are predicting an 
additional £36,000 income this year and salary savings of £8,000 less £1,000 of additional 
extra miscellaneous spend.  The Town Centre and Market Hall Budget is indicating an 
overall adverse variance of £200,000, comprising £190,000 reduced income at the Market 
Hall and income from CCTV down by £10,000, less £27,000 of salary savings reduced by 
£27,000 of additional expenditure.   
 
Culture and Leisure Services 
 
Culture and Leisure Services are indicating a positive variance of £24,000 due to £30,000 
of savings on leisure budgets less £6,000 additional net expenditure at the Haworth Art 
Gallery. 
  
Planning and Transportation  
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

Planning and Transportation are predicting an adverse variance for the year of £32,000.  
This is due to a predicted shortfall in income compared to budget on Building Control of 
£65,000 and additional salary expenditure in this area of £26,000.  Elsewhere on the 
Budget there are £27,000 of staff savings and £46,000 of additional income less £14,000 of 
miscellaneous additional expenditure. 
 
Regeneration and Property Services 
 
Regeneration and Property Services are predicting an adverse variance of £169,000 at 
year-end with salary costs up by £74,000 over the year compared to budget and expected 
additional costs of £138,000, less £43,000 of additional income. 
 
 
Policy and Corporate Governance 
 
Policy and Corporate Governance are predicting a positive variance of £21,000.  This 
stems from salary savings of £281,000 less the Corporate Savings Target for the year of 
£165,000, predicted increases of £100,000 on Housing Benefit Costs, along with £82,000 of 
additional miscellaneous costs less £87,000 of additional income. 
 
Non Service Items 
 
The current estimate for the year is a positive variance of £395,000. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet notes the report and asks the Corporate 

Management Team to continue to reduce costs and 

increase income over the remaining months of the 

financial year. 

 
254 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 - February 2020 Update 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report on the 3-year 
projections of income and spending for the Council ahead of formulating its 2020/21 
Revenue and Capital Budgets. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted some key issues from the report including: 
 

 Global uncertainty and uncertainty around the Government’s 

future approach to supporting local councils; 

 The high levels of certainty around the financial position for 

2020/21; 

 Uncertainty around the financial position in 2021/22, as a result 

of the likelihood of the Government reactivating its Fair Funding Review; 

 The possibility of more funding being made available to local 

authorities in 2021/22, but questions about to which authorities that funding might be 

directed given the pressures on adult social care; 

 The potential for Hyndburn Borough Council to lose its Revenue 

Support Grant in 2021/22 and some of the funding available through Business 

Rates Retention, but an optimistic view that changes might only be relatively small; 

and 

 A forecast of a relatively balanced Budget in 2022/23. 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

 
In respect of the 2021/22, a 9.1% shortfall would equate to around £1M of savings required, 
but in the worst case scenario up to £2M could be required.  The Three Year Standard 
Model forecast set out in the report was based upon a £1M shortfall. 
 
The main elements included in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) were as 
follows:- 
 

 Objectives and Elements of the Strategy; 

 Service Planning to support overall Strategy; 

 Integrated Resource Planning with Service Plans; 

 Financial Analysis 2020/21 to 2022/23 (Resources; Government 

Grant; Business Rates; Council Tax; Expected Loss of Income); 

 Changes in Costs (Salaries Costs; Pension Costs; Supplies and 

Service Costs; Capital Costs); 

 Growth; 

 Reserves; 

 Other Assumptions; 

 Scenarios; 

 Robustness of Forecast; and 

 Overall Net Position 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Cabinet requires an update on its medium term financial outlook ahead of setting the 
Budget for 2020/21 and determining the level of Council Tax for the new financial year.  
This report also ensures those decisions are taken with a view to the overall position of the 
Council going forward and are not limited to a narrow one year perspective. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet approves the report and the 

accompanying Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

255 Prudential Indicators Monitoring & Treasury Management 2020/21 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report setting out 
proposals for the Council’s policy and objectives with respect to treasury management, to 
explain how it will achieve its objectives and manage its activities; and to agree an 
investment strategy for 2020/21. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted that the purpose of the report was to set the limits on how 
the Council used its cash and the limits on both borrowing and investments.  The Council 
intended to live within its means and did not wish to increase borrowing unnecessarily.  It 
intended to repay debt whenever it could.  The report also highlighted that interest rates 
were currently low.  Included in the report were the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for 
year 2020/21, the Treasury Management Policy Statement 2020/21 and the policy on 
capital expenditure. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

Treasury management is defined as: 
 

 The management of the Council’s investment and cash flows, its banking, money 

market and capital market transactions; 

 The effective control of the risks associated with these activities; and 

 And the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget which means that cash raised during 
the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of treasury management is to ensure the cash 
flow is properly planned with cash available when needed.  Surplus monies are invested in 
line with the Council’s low risk preferences. 
 
The second function of treasury management is funding the Council’s capital plans.  The 
plans give a guide to the future borrowing need of the Council.  The management of this 
longer term cash flow may involve arranging long or short term loans or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses.  Occasionally outstanding debt may be restructured to reduce Council 
risk or meet cost objectives. 
 
The report has been prepared in line with the Treasury Management Code and Guidance 
(2017) written by The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (Cipfa).  In the 
case of local authorities in England and Wales, the Code is significant under the provisions 
of the Local Government Act 2003.  This requires local authorities ‘to have regard (a) to 
such guidance as the Secretary of State may issue, and (b) to such other guidance as the 
Secretary of State may by regulations specify’.  The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 in paragraph 24 require local authorities to have 
regard to this guidance.  Acceptance of the report fulfils those obligations. 
 
The report included further details in respect of the following matters: 
 

 The Prudential Code and Prudential Indicators; 

 Capital Expenditure and the Capital Financing Requirement; 

 Minimum Revenue Provision; 

 Affordability Prudential Indicators; 

 Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21 – 2022/23 (Current Treasury Position; 

Expected Movement in Interest Rates; Borrowing and Debt Strategy  2020/21 – 

2022/23); 

 External Debt Overall Limits; 

 External v Internal Borrowing; 

 Limits on Activity (Treasury Management Indicators; Proposed Limits for Maturity 

Structure of Borrowing); 

 Debt Rescheduling; 

 Investment Strategy; 

 Treasury Management Practices (TMP); 

 Policy on the Use of External Service Providers; and 

 Treasury Management Strategy In-Year and Year-End Reporting. 

 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons for rejection. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet agrees to recommend the Council: 
 

(1) To adopt the Prudential Indicators and Limits detailed 

in the report. 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 
(2) To approve the Treasury Management Strategy, and 

associated indicators, as set out in Section 8 of the 

report. 

 
(3) To approve the Investment Strategy as set out in 

Section 13 of the report. 

 
(4) To approve that the Minimum Revenue Provision 

(MRP) for the year 2020/21 – Appendix 1. 

 
(5) To approve the Treasury Management Policy 

Statement 2020/21 – Appendix 2. 
 
(6) To approve the Treasury Management Practices 

Statement 2020/21 – Appendix 3. 
 

256 General Fund Revenue Budget 2020/21 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report setting out 
proposals for the 2020/21 General Fund Revenue Budget.  It also provided an overview of 
key issues arising from the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
The decision to set the Budget would be a principal decision of the Council.  The role of the 
Cabinet was to recommend a proposed Budget to the Council. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted key points from within the report including: 
 

 Predicted spending in 2020/21 of £11.3M; 

 Estimated revenue available in the sum of £11.2M; 

 A requirement of £116k to balance the Budget, to be financed by corporate in-year 

savings; 

 A proposed Band D Council Tax of £250.52, which equated to around a 10p/week 

increase (approximately 2%) from last year’s figure; 

 The majority of houses in Hyndburn were in Band A, which would be subject to a 

7p/week increase; 

 In setting the Budget, assumptions had been made about likely increases in salaries 

and non-pay expenses (both 2%); 

 If any estimates were too low an overspend would result, for which in year action 

would need to be taken; 

 There were a number of other potential threats during the year, but the Council had 

a good track record of financial management and usually returned a Budget surplus; 

 A list was provided of the anticipated precept requirements of Lancashire County 

Council, Lancashire Police and Crime Commissioner, Lancashire Fire and Rescue 

Authority and Altham Parish Council. 

 
Overall, the planned Budget gave rise to a moderate rise in Council Tax against a 
background of continuing pressure on public finances. 
 
The report provided further details as follows: 
 
The Council’s proposed Revenue Budget for 2020/21 includes net expenditure of 
£11,227,000. 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

 
Under these proposals, Council Tax for Hyndburn residents will rise for Hyndburn Council 
provided services by £5.00 (2.04%) for a Band D property.  (The amounts due for each 
band were set out in an Appendix to the report).  The increase is equivalent to 10p per 
week for a Band D property, but for most residents the increase will be less than 7p per 
week as the majority of households in Hyndburn are Band A properties that pay two-thirds 
the value of a Band D property in Council Tax. 
 
This is the only the fourth rise in Council Tax for Hyndburn services since 2009/10 and the 
average annual increase over this period has been below 1%.  This is significantly below 
the rate of inflation over this period.  If the Council had increased Council Tax simply by 
inflation (CPI) over the last 11 years rather than the actual increases made, Council Tax for 
Hyndburn’s services would have been almost 13% more expensive at £282.83 for each 
average Band D property within Hyndburn which is £32.31 more than proposed for 2020/21 
at £250.52. 
 
The increase in Council Tax by Hyndburn Council is a result of cost pressures from wages, 
other expenditure inflation and the loss of income which have risen at a faster rate than the 
increases generated from Government Grant or Business Rates.  The level of increase in 
overall expenditure would have been greater except for the reduction in pension costs this 
year.  The Triennial Review of the Council’s employer contribution by the independent 
actuary to the Pension Fund has allowed the Council to reduce its level of contribution by 
£528,000 this year, with a further £500,000 reduction expected in 2021/22. 
 
Lancashire County Council, the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Combined Fire 
and Rescue Authority have not yet formally taken their decisions on Council Tax Levels for 
2020/21.  It is expected that the County Council will raise its Council Tax for each 
household by a general increase of 1.99% and a 1.99% increase to assist with meeting the 
cost of Adult Social Care which equates to a 3.99% increase overall.  It is expected that the 
Police Commissioner will increase a Band D Property by £10 and that the Fire and Rescue 
Authority will recommend a 1.99% increase. 
 
Altham Parish Council has set a separate precept for its activities for the twelfth time in 
2020/21.  This year the Parish Council does not intend to increase its precept.  The Band D 
charge for Altham Parish Council will therefore remain at £40.27 for the year and will 
precept the Collection Fund for £12,685.  (Details of the proposed position on other 
Bandings for properties in Altham were supplied in an Appendix). 
 
In setting the Budget for 2020/21 the Council faces continued volatility around some of the 
most significant items within its Budget.  Major reforms of local government finance have 
transferred the risk of business rate revenues and Council Tax benefits to the Council.  The 
certainty on which the Council could budget and manage its finances has therefore 
decreased since 2013 and it will be important going forward to plot any deviations away 
from the expected figures and take appropriate action if these should start to emerge.  This 
might result in the need to reduce spending during the year, if revenue analysis during the 
year starts to indicate the amounts of funds received will fall short of the target. 
 
The Cabinet intends to continue the good financial stewardship of the Council’s affairs by 
continuing the successful policies introduced over the last 16 years to manage costs 
effectively and promote appropriate service investment.  This Budget will therefore deliver, 
 

 A continuation of the established approach of limiting enhancements on early 

retirement, continuing our rigorous approach to absence management and 

committing to minimising borrowing costs.  These actions have already stemmed 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
11 

the build-up of unproductive costs within the organisation.  In each of these cases 

the Council has put a stop to the costly and financially damaging policies of the past 

and created a healthier and more financially stable culture within the Council. 

 

 While the Council is not incurring any further borrowing costs it is able to invest  just 

over £3.1m in total for the year on Capital Schemes, with £966,000 going to support 

those with medical and physical difficulties to live independent lives in their own 

homes, it will continue its work to improve Accrington Town Centre building upon the 

£2m already spent in this area with a commitment to another £1¼ m of investment 

into this key area and provide money to improve facilities at our Sport Halls and 

Council buildings to ensure services can continue to be provided from these 

locations for many years to come. 

 

 Despite costs of over £85,000 to provide car parking in Hyndburn for residents and 

visitors and particularly for shoppers, the Council will continue to provide this facility 

free of charge and not introduce charges for parking in Hyndburn.  The Council 

believes this action will help bolster the town centres through these difficult 

economic times and provide an incentive for people to shop locally rather than drive 

and pay to shop elsewhere across the North-West 

 

 Further reductions in accommodation costs, building on the success over the last 11 

years including further rationalising the Council’s accommodation and looking at 

more ways of using accommodation more effectively.  The Council will also continue 

its actions to reduce its carbon emissions and energy costs and continue 

contributing to the improvements of its environmental footprint by positive action.  

 
The Council intends to continue to deliver all of the above and remains committed to a 
radical agenda of improvement while managing within its available resources.  This will be 
more difficult in the years to come, given reduced resources from the Government.  
However, there remains a firm commitment and absolute determination amongst Members 
and Officers of the Council to control the finances of the Council, drive forward on the 
efficiency agenda and continue to improve service delivery.  The Council wishes to continue 
to push forward on the drive for delivering value for money as a key priority. 
 
The rewards of strong financial control remain clearly evident.  The Council has built itself 
back from experiencing major difficulties in controlling expenditure and a position of 
negative reserves in 2003/04 to a situation by March 2019, in which Balances are over 
£2.1m and the Revenue Budget for 2019/20 is predicting a saving of over £218,000 which 
will contribute to improving the strength of the underlying financial position. 
 
Within the Budget for 2020/21 there are a number of areas which are subject to our best 
estimation.  There are therefore a number of risks around the budget, should these 
estimated costs or revenue amounts vary during the year.   
 
After the introduction of the Government reforms to Business Rates Funding of Local 
Government, the Council now carries a significant risk around the level of monies available, 
fluctuating substantially from this source.  In addition, as the calculation of how much funds 
will be available is dependent on a number of factors including debt collection rates, the 
size of appeals against business rates assessment and the success of these appeals, new 
rules around levies, safety nets and pooling, the introduction of new rules on rates relief on 
retail premises and small businesses, as well as predicted levels of growth or decline in 
business activities and the estimation of a number of figures which will only truly emerge 
after the end of the financial year, the imprecision in these estimates is regarded as high 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
12 

and could be subject to variations of hundreds of thousands of pounds.  The volatility 
around these forecasts is expected to remain for a number of years until the new system 
becomes bedded down and more robust data emerges on which to make more reliable 
forecasts. 
 
The threat of significant pay inflation during 2020/21 is viewed as low.  An assumption of a 
2% pay award has been included in the roll forward figure.  As yet there is no formal 
agreement between the Employers’ side and Trade Unions over a pay settlement for 
2020/21.  However, with a limited increase in funding from Government this year and 
continuing strong pressures on expenditure there appears little room for wage increases 
substantially above the current level of inflation.  Any increase in wages agreed at a 
national level beyond the 2% built into the roll forward position will increase in-year financial 
pressures making it more difficult for the Council to avoid overspending and will increase 
the need for more savings to be generated in future years, with the pressure to reduce staff 
numbers growing in such circumstances. 
 
With inflation likely to be low over the period and our strong past record on tracking in-year 
spend, plus the level of our Reserves, the Council should have confidence going into the 
year ahead that it will be able to deliver its Budget. 
 
The detailed report included further information on the following matters:- 
 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy; 

 Continuation Budget; 

 Growth Pressures; 

 Available Resources (Core Government Revenue Support Grant (RSG); Business 

Rates; Council Tax; New Homes Bonus); 

 Budget Proposals 2020/21 (General Financial Pressures; Budget Saving 

Proposals); 

 Reserves; 

 Risks and Risk Management; and 

 Consultation 

 
In summary, the Budget for 2020/21 will be £11,227,000 and will be supported by a Council 
Tax levy of £250.52 for a Band D property—translating into a revenue source of £5,247,000 
to meet services to the local community.  The Budget has been determined in light of 
continuing upward pressure on costs, previous financial difficulties that continue to 
overhang the Council, the available funding from Government and the Council’s strong 
desire to provide high levels of service to the Community in line with its priorities. 
 
Councillor June Harrison expressed concern for elderly residents who, on top of having to 
deal with numerous annual price increases, now had to contend with the planned removal 
of free television licences for over 75s. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The recommendations in the report provide an appropriate platform on which the Cabinet 
can recommend a Budget to the Council which meets the objectives and key priorities of 
the people of Hyndburn. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
13 

There have been a wide number of individual proposals put forward to produce a Balanced 
Budget.  Options have been rejected on a variety of grounds including policy objectives, 
practicalities and the potential for additional costs to be incurred.  Further options may be 
presented at the Council meeting. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet proposes to Council an increase Council 

Tax for 2020/21 of £5.00 per year for a Band D property.  
This is equivalent to less than 10 pence per week and as 
most households in Hyndburn are Band A rather than 
Band D properties, the vast majority of households will 
only see a rise of 7p per week.  This is only the fourth 
increase in Council Tax by Hyndburn Council in 11 years.  

 
(2) The Budget for 2020/21 will therefore be £11,227,000 as 

detailed in Appendices 1 and 2. 

 
(3) That Cabinet recommend approval of the savings 

approach outlined for 2020/21 as set out in Appendix 3 to 

ensure the Council has a balanced budget. 

 
(4) That Cabinet notes the significant improvement made in 

relation to budget monitoring and cost reduction within 

the Authority over the past 16 years and confirms its 

commitment to continuing this approach in the year 

ahead.  

 
(5) That Cabinet recommends during the financial year 

2020/21, the Deputy Chief Executive be delegated 

responsibility to amend the Budget (following 

consultation with the Leader of the Council) for technical 

reasons, such as the restructuring of cost centres, the re-

apportionment and re-allocation of overheads etc., 

provided such amendments have an overall neutral 

impact on the Budget. 

 
(6) That Cabinet recommends during the financial year 

2020/21, the Deputy Chief Executive be delegated 

responsibility to amend the Budget (following 

consultation with the Leader of the Council) should the 

estimate of Business Rates not be sufficiently accurate, 

by drawing on reserves if needed or paying over 

additional contributions to reserves. 

 
(7) That, to aid future financial management planning, any 

surpluses generated during 2020/21 are set aside to help 

the Council reduce its cost base over the next three 

years, support its long term capital programme or 

strengthen its overall reserve position. 

 
(8) That Cabinet recommends that the New Homes Bonus 

and any additional funds from Government that are not 

ring-fenced funding as well as any further surplus on the 

Collection Fund can be used if required to support capital 

Page 17



 
 
 

 

 
14 

expenditure as determined by the Deputy Chief Executive 

in the overall financing of capital expenditure or be 

transferred to reserves. 

 
257 Capital Programme 2020/21 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report inviting the 
Cabinet to consider the Council’s capital investment priorities for 2020/21 and 
recommending to the Council a Capital Programme for approval at its meeting on the 27th 
February 2020, having regard to key linkages between the management of the Council’s 
capital and revenue resources. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted some key messages from the report as follows: 
 

 Some £3.1M of capital; investment was planned in the local economy in 2020/21; 

 Specific schemes included £1.25M of investment in the Market Hall including interior 

refurbishment and leisure usage and removal of the outdoor pavilions to create car 

parking and additional public space, with a view to increasing footfall; 

 Support to people to continue living in their own homes through use of £1M 

Disabled Facilities Grant, which would help to alleviate pressure across other public 

services including the NHS and adult social care 

 Other improvements to the Council’s sports facilities, Willows Lane Depot and ICT; 

and 

 Capital funding would be available from both internal and external sources. 

 
The Report sets out the Council’s Capital Programme for 2020/21.  In the past 20 years, the 
Council has funded significant programmes of Capital Expenditure which sometimes 
exceeded £15m per annum.  In these more austere times it is not possible to fund 
investment into the local community at these levels.  However the Council is able to put 
forward a substantial capital investment programme of over £3.1m, despite the severe 
reductions in public spending that have been necessary due to the Recession.  This has 
only been made possible by the Council’s effective financial management over recent 
years, which has seen it avoid additional borrowing and increase its revenue reserves, 
while reducing its operating costs. 
 
It is intended that the Council will continue these strong policies of financial management 
and this year will again avoid increasing its borrowing.  It will rely on securing external 
sources of funding, using capital receipts, making revenue contributions to capital projects 
and will use unspent monies to fund its programme.  It will also apply a rigorous approach 
to selecting projects by examining all proposals against its corporate objectives and only 
selecting the most pressing and deserving projects to fund.  This is in accordance with the 
Council policy of limiting the increase in debt and borrowing costs, while ensuring the 
Council’s objectives are met. 
 
The Revenue implications of the strategy to finance the Capital Programme are a key 
element in the affordability issues on the Revenue Budget this year.  The programme 
contains a limited amount of risk this year.  The level of risk is significantly down from 
previous financial years.  This is largely due to the smaller programme and the removal of 
much of the risk around the level of available capital funds to meet the proposed 
expenditure.  The Council’s overall resources and management systems are believed to be 
sufficiently robust to effectively monitor these risks and ensure appropriate action is taken if 
they should materialise. 
 

Page 18



 
 
 

 

 
15 

The Council will continue with its strategy adopted for over 10 years of attempting to reduce 
its level of debt wherever possible by restricting borrowing and repaying debt and will 
continue to work extensively with external funders to bring forward realistic plans for Capital 
investment in the area. 
 
Overall the Council will be investing £3.1m in Capital investment in 2020/21.  There is a 
significant amount of the total resource available this year dedicated to supporting people 
with disabilities to continue to live in their own homes, along with continued investment in 
Accrington Town Centre and the Council’s key buildings and infrastructure that it needs to 
deliver services to the public.  
 
The details behind all of these proposals remain at the outline stage only and further work is 
required to ensure that these projects provide positive benefits to the Community and the 
Council.  Each project is therefore required to submit further detailed plans if required in 
order to obtain final approval for expenditure to occur and to obtain final clearance from the 
Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources. 
 
The Capital Programme does require a degree of flexibility within it, to respond to sudden 
demands for Capital expenditure, actions to be taken on the receipts of monies and 
revisions to proposals as projects are not financially viable or encounter other problems 
such as securing external funding.  The Capital Programme Working Group (CPWG) will 
report back to Cabinet at frequent intervals throughout the year to ensure Cabinet is kept 
apprised of the current situation and any approvals necessary for alteration are obtained. 
 
Councillor Plummer reminded Members that the various Budget papers would also be 
considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 18th February 2020, 
prior to submission to Council on 27th February 2020. 
 
The Leader of the Councillor remarked that a High Street Task Group would be established 
to look at future major investment into Accrington Town Centre.  The Council had recently 
secured access to Government professionals.  A broad based Panel, to include cross-party 
membership and representatives of local businesses, would lead the development of the 
future vision for the Town Centre. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
These schemes represent the best value for money and meet the Council’s overall 
corporate policy objectives, within the funding envelop for the year. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
A wider programme of funding has not been considered due to the Council’s policy 
commitment to limiting Capital Expenditure to affordable levels and seeking to repay debt. 
 
Resolved - That the Cabinet agrees to recommend the Council: 
 

(1) To approve a Capital Programme for 2020/21 of 

£3,107,775 as set out in Appendix 1.  

 
(2) That the programme is funded by new anticipated 

direct external grants of £976,000 and £2,131,775 of 

new investment from the Council’s resources.  

Page 19



 
 
 

 

 
16 

External grant funding must be secured before any 

internal funds are committed to projects that rely on 

external funding to proceed. 

 
(3) That delegated authority is given to the Deputy Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 

for Resources to flex the programme in accordance 

with the available funding, provided this does not 

require any additional borrowing. 

 
(4) That the individual projects within the Capital 

Programme require the written authorisation of the 

Deputy Chief Executive following consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder for Resources before 

commencing and incurring expenditure and that 

Service Managers provide the Deputy Chief 

Executive, with written details of estimated costs of 

schemes with full justification of the need and 

benefits from undertaking the capital investments 

before approval is provided and that approval to 

commence is delegated to the Deputy Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 

for Resources. 

 
(5) That Projects are timed to minimise the need for 

borrowing and the Deputy Chief Executive be 

requested to seek project start dates after September 

2020 whenever this is practical. 

 
(6) That in-year underspends are not made available to 

fund new projects during the year. 

 
258 Haworth Art Gallery's Application for Arts Council England Museum Accreditation 

 
In the absence of the Portfolio Holder for Education, Leisure and Arts, Councillor Munsif 
Dad BEM JP, the Leader of the Council introduced a report which presented Haworth Art 
Gallery’s proposed policies and plans which formed the Council’s Museum Accreditation 
submission to Arts Council England.  The report also sought the Cabinet’s approval to the 
detailed application for accreditation, which was available to view on the Council’s website. 
 
Councillor Parkinson noted that the Art Gallery was one of the Borough’s jewels and 
featuring the renowned Tiffany Glass collection, monthly events held by staff and a privately 
run café.  Accreditation should help to provide better access to external funding 
opportunities.  Councillor Parkinson wished the Gallery and its staff well for the future. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 

Page 20



 
 
 

 

 
17 

The Museum Accreditation Scheme is the UK industry standard for museums and galleries 
and sets out nationally-agreed standards which promote and inspire confidence with the 
public and funding bodies.  Accreditation does this by making sure museums manage their 
collections properly, engage with visitors and ensure that they are governed appropriately. 
The Haworth needs to renew its Arts Council England Museum Accreditation and a draft 
submission has been prepared for Cabinet to consider. 
 
Accreditation is required by all Museums and Art Galleries to be eligible for funding by Arts 
Council England or National Lottery Heritage Fund and is renewed every 5 years.  Having 
accreditation has allowed Haworth Art Gallery to access funding for the successful Stables 
and Motor House Artists’ Studios.  As a result the project has been used as a model for 
best practise with the National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF). 
 
The application includes a number of sections, including a series of plans and policies 
which are summarised as follows. 
 
For the Governance and Management section of Accreditation, an approved Forward or 
Business Plan is required which covers the current and subsequent planning year will be 
written in accordance to the Arts Council of England guidelines for Museum and Art Gallery 
Accreditation.  The section is required to include appropriate governance and management 
standards including a clear statement of purpose, an appropriate constitution and a 
satisfactory structure for governance and management.  It is also required to cover a set 
period and include the key aims Haworth Art Gallery wants to achieve and an explanation 
of how these aims will be achieved in terms of staff and volunteers, equipment and 
budgets. Budgets for the current year and subsequent planning year are required.  The 
section must include a review date. 
 
Under the Managing Collections section of Accreditation three policies are required.  They 
are a policy for Developing Collections and include acquisition and disposal.  An approved 
Documentation Policy which details the management of collections ensuring all objects are 
properly accounted for and useable.  Lastly an approved Collections Care and 
Conservation Policy setting out details of ethical commitments and legal requirements to 
improve the way objects are cared for and conserved for future generations.  The policies 
must include review dates. 
 
In order to be accessible to the public an approved Access Policy is required.  This section 
will cover how people can see, use and reference Haworth Art Gallery’s collections, gain 
access to museum buildings and site, and how we share information about the collection 
with people.  This should include using a variety of interpretive methods to exhibit the 
collections, enabling public access to the collections, buildings and sites, and associated 
information and the date the policy will be reviewed. 
 
The aim is to submit Haworth Art Gallery’s Accreditation return to the Arts Council England 
portal Grantium by 29th February 2020. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Haworth Art Gallery does not have to apply for Accreditation, however, it would make 
the gallery un-able to apply for external funding from Arts Council England, National Lottery 
Heritage Fund and various other funding bodies. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approve the draft application for Arts 

Council England Museum Accreditation for Haworth Art 
Gallery as proposed in the report. 

 

Page 21



 
 
 

 

 
18 

There were no items taken in private. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 22



 

 
1 

 
REGENERATION AND HOUSING PANEL 

 

 
Monday, 6th January, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair), Councillors Mohammad Ayub, 

Jean Battle MBE, Tony Dobson, Stewart Eaves, Joyce Plummer and 
Dave Parkins 
 

Apologies None  

  

 
71 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
 

No apologies or substitutions were received at the meeting.  
 
Councillor June Harrison attended the meeting as an observer.  
 

72 Declarations of Interest 
 

No declarations of interest were submitted at the meeting.  
 

73 Minutes of Last Meeting held on 14th October 2019 
 

The minutes of the last meeting of the Regeneration and Housing Panel held on 
14th October 2019 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Agreed - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

74 Regeneration and Housing Funding Programme 2019-20 
 

The Regeneration Manager submitted a report on the progress of the 2019/20 
Regeneration and Housing Capital Programmes. The report looked at the 
£1,171.88M spend up to the 17th December 2019.  Members were referred to 
Appendix 1 within the report, which listed the progress on individual projects. Some 
of the schemes have altered slightly in terms of spend with some additional funding 
being granted for individual projects.  
 
The Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Policy was updated at Cabinet on the 17th July 
2019 and we are now able to use our discretionary powers in order to maximise 
spend on the programme.  
 
Councillor Plummer expressed concern regarding St John’s and asked if money 
could be allocated due to the deterioration of St John’s. A comprehensive approach 
needs to be given to this area within Hyndburn.  
 
Councillor Battle queried how residents would find out about available DFG  and is 
there better ways the money can be used, especially on run down parts of the 

Public Document Pack

Page 23

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Town. The Head of Regeneration and Housing suggested meeting outside of this 
Panel Meeting for a further detailed discussion on the subject.  
 
The Regeneration Manager informed Members that the team is now fully staffed 
and working through the backlog of work and due to the amount of schemes coming 
into the Council an additional post will be added to the 2020/21 budget.  
 
Councillor Dobson requested the dates for commencement on the Hudson Street 
Improvement Programme. The Regeneration Manager confirmed the contractor has 
started on site on the 25th November 2019 and the contract will run for 30 weeks, 
more up to date information will be sent to Councillor Dobson after the meeting.  
 
The Members and Officers had a discussion around empty properties and 
properties that require facelifts. The responsibility is with the proprietor as well as 
the Council, there are options for Compulsory Purchase Orders but these demand 
the Council to pay the monies up front, which is not always possible.  
 
Councillor Ayub discussed a particular property that has received several notices 
and prosecutions but the owner constantly ignores these, which affects the 
neighbour’s frustrations. The Head of Regeneration and Housing replied to ensure 
the Members of the Panel knew enforcement action is taken seriously and it is 
getting the right balance of support and encouragement to uplift and invest in the 
neighbourhoods. He asked to meet with Councillor Ayub outside of this meeting to 
discuss the particular household mentioned.  
 
 
Agreed     (1) That the report be noted;  

(2) That the Head of Regeneration and Housing will 
arrange separate meetings with the Councillors on 
the issues raised. 
(3) That the Regeneration Manager will send a 
further update to Councillor Dobson regarding 
Hudson Street Facelift.  

 
75 Hyndburn's Homelessness Strategy 2020 - 2025 

 

The Head of Regeneration and Housing introduced the Hyndburn’s Homelessness 
Strategy 2020-2025. The Strategy sets out our strategic aims and plans for 
providing and improving services for homeless households in the district over the 
next five years. It has a specific focus on rough sleeping and considers the 
effectiveness of homelessness following the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act in 2018.  The strategy was approved in December 2019 and will be 
available on the Council’s website early January 2020.  Members were asked to 
note the report. 
 
Councillor Dobson, who is the chair of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP), 
where this subject is discussed regularly, made an observation that unfortunately 
some people don’t want to be helped or rehoused and therefore aren’t making the 
right steps to change.  
 

Page 24



 
 
 

 

 
3 

The Head of Regeneration and Housing confirmed that there is no reason why 
anyone should be sleeping rough in Hyndburn as there is ample accommodation.  
 
Councillor Battle commented that many families are accessing the Citizen’s Advice 
Bureau due to debt problems, which can then lead to homelessness. The Head of 
Regeneration and Housing asked Councillor Battle to ensure people know about 
accessing the Council’s Housing Advice Team.  
 
The Members had a discussion around Department of Working Pensions (DWP) 
Officers based in foodbanks to give advice and talk to residents. They also 
discussed the growing amount of foodbanks within the Country and that there is still 
a requirement to tackle mental health and addictions as this can be the root cause 
to accessing a foodbank.  
 
The Chair reflected on the great work that the Maundy service offer in Hyndburn, 
they are open 365 days a year, they do a great job and without them and the 
volunteers, the service could not work so well.  
 
Agreed    - That the report be noted.  
 

76 Be with us Allocations Policy Review 
 

The Housing Advice and Homelessness Manager submitted a report to advise 
Members of the proposed revised B with US Allocations Policy and the consultation 
that has taken place between 13th December 2019 and 24th January 2020.  
 
The proposed changes are highlighted in Appendix 2 of the report.  
 
The panel had a discussion around the housing related debt payments and cleared 
up any confusion. If a person has a housing related debt over £500 they will be 
disqualified from joining the housing register, however if the debt is less than £500 
they will qualify to join the register but the debt will need to be cleared before an 
offer of accommodation can be provided.  
 
The Chair and Councillor Battle queried the Homeowners section of the appendix 
relating to a person having an equity of £120K being disqualified from joining the 
housing register both Councillors felt it should be higher amount.  
 
Agreed    (1) That the report be noted; and 

(2) That the Head of Regeneration and Housing checks the 
previous figure regarding a person’s equity.  

 
 

77 Enforcement around Fly Tipping, Littering and Graffiti 
 

The Head of Regeneration and Housing advised the panel of the report that went to 
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee in December 2019. The report 
focussed on fly tipping, littering and graffiti enforcement taken by the Council in 
November 2018.  
 
The panel were asked to note the report and asked for any comments.  

Page 25



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 
Councillor Plummer asked for clarification on the timescales of enforcement once a 
letter has gone to a resident. The Head of Regeneration and Housing confirmed it is 
5 days and he would circulate the Frequently Asked Questions to Panel for their 
perusal.  
 
Agreed    (1) That the report be noted; and  

(2) The Head of Regeneration and Housing send the 
FAQ’s to the Panel.   

 
78 Disability Service: Specialist Accommodation Unit 

 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing informed the Panel Members of Lancashire County 
Council’s intention to develop two new specialist accommodation units; one for disabled 
adults and one for disabled children both in Great Harwood.  
 
A copy of the draft Cabinet report was issued for the Panel’s information and to comment 
on, Cabinet will be invited to support a £300,000 contribution from the Council’s Capital 
Programme towards these two accommodation units.  
 
The Panel had a discussion regarding the report and felt Lancashire County Council should 
provide further detailed information before this is agreed and requested to know if Ribble 
Valley Borough Council had also been required to contribute from their Capital Programme.  
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing confirmed there is provision within the Capital 
Programme under the Disabled Facilities Grants income.  
 
Agreed    (1) That the report be noted; and  

(2) The Head of Regeneration and Housing seeks further 
information from Lancashire County Council.  

 
 

79 Urgent Business 
 

There was no urgent business.  
 

80 The Time and Date of Future Meetings: 
 

The date of the next meeting was confirmed to be Monday 9th March 2020.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 26



 
1 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Monday, 24th February, 2020 

 
Present:  
 
 

Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair),  
Councillors Paul Cox and Jenny Molineux 
 
 

Apologies Loraine Cox and Munsif Dad BEM JP 

  

 
267 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Loraine Cox and 
Munsif Dad BEM JP.  
 
Councillor Paul Cox acted as a substitute representative for Councillor Munsif Dad 
BEM JP.  
 

Councillor Jenny Molineux acted as a substitute representative for Councillor 
Loraine Cox. 
 

The were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations.  
 

268 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The Minutes of the last Cabinet Committee – Street Naming held on the 20th March 
2019 were submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

269 Street Naming Proposal - John Street, Oswaldtwistle 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of two streets on a new build residential development located off 
John Street, Oswaldtwistle.  
 
Members discussed the Fire Service request to suggest a separate street name for 
the second street (Old Mill Close) as there was a physical divide in the road access. 
Members agreed with this decision.  
 
Resolved – That the two streets be named as per the Officers 
recommendation in the report.  
 

270 Street Naming Proposal - Miller Fold Avenue, Accrington 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of two streets for a new build residential development located off 
Miller Fold Avenue, Accrington.  
 

Public Document Pack

Page 27



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Resolved – That the two streets be named as per the officer’s 
recommendation in the report.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 28



 

 
1 

 
REGENERATION AND HOUSING PANEL 

 

 
Monday, 9th March, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair), Councillors Jean Battle MBE, 

Tony Dobson, Joyce Plummer, Dave Parkins and June Harrison 
 

Apologies Mohammad Ayub, Stewart Eaves, Simon Prideaux and Sarah Whittaker 

  

 
81 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 

There were apologies received from Councillors Mohammed Ayub and Stewart 
Eaves.  
 
Councillor June Harrison acted a substitute for Councillor Stewart Eaves.  
 

82 Declarations of Interest 
 

There were no declarations of interest submitted at the meeting.  
 

83 Minutes of Last Meeting held on 6th January 2020 
 

The minutes of the last meeting of the Regeneration and Housing Panel held on 6th 
January 2020 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Agreed – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.   
 
Matters arising from the minutes were as follows:  
 

- Councillor Dave Parkins thanked the team for the hard work and dedication.  
 

- The Head of Regeneration and Housing advised the panel the B with Us 
Allocations Policy Review had been changed to incorporate the equity issues 
raised at the last meeting.  
 
 

- Councillor Jean Battle requested an education session for ALL Councillors 
on Disabled Facilities Grant. 
 
Agreed – The Head of Regeneration and Housing to liaise with The 
Chair and Councillor Tony Dobson to arrange.  
 

- Councillor Tony Dobson requested further information on Government 
funding for Homelessness.  

 
Agreed – The Head of Regeneration and Housing to look into the 
funding access and respond via email.  

 

Public Document Pack

Page 29



 
 
 

 

 
2 

84 Regeneration and Housing Update 
 

85 Housing Renewal Funding Update 
 

The Regeneration and Property Manager updated Members on the progress with 
the 2019/20 Regeneration and Housing Funding Programmes (Capital and 
Revenue). There is a large programme which is achievable for the team to deliver 
and 25% has been completed to date. She talked through the progression on the 
projects and any slippages.  
 
Good progress has been made around the DFG’s, the Council is now using 
discretionary powers to help more households in order to maximise spend on the 
programme.  
 
 
 
 

86 Urgent Business 
 

There was no urgent business. 
 

87 The Time and Date of Future Meetings: 
 

The date of the next meeting was confirmed to be Monday 8th June 2020.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 30



Page 31

Agenda Item 5.



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 15 July 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson, Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Joe McIntyre 

Deputy Chief Executive 

TITLE OF REPORT: Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS)  

Local Business Discretionary Grants June 2020 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Yes If yes, date of publication: 3rd June 2020 

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

The report informs Cabinet of funding the Council has received from the Department of 
Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to assist local businesses facing financial 
difficulties as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and seeks approval of a policy to distribute 
that funding in accordance with the guidance issued by BEIS. 

 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1. Cabinet approves the policy document “Local Business Discretionary Grants 2020” 

attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 

Summary  
 

3.1. The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) has made almost 
£1m available to the Council to provide grants to local businesses suffering as a 
result of COVID-19. 

Page 51



3.2. The Cabinet needs to approve a policy to distribute the funds available in an 
appropriate way and this policy is set out at Appendix 1.  Appendix 2 is a copy of the 
latest BEIS guidance in relation to this scheme. 

3.3. The Council is under time pressure to distribute these funds as quickly as possible to 
businesses and we intend to have the application process operating on our website 
during the first week of June and after evaluation of the applications received against 
the eligibility criteria and priorities of the grant scheme we would expect to be able to 
make payments before the end of July 2020. 

Detail 
 

 
3.4. The COVID-19 pandemic of early 2020 led to the Government taking a number of 

measures to protect the population from the health risk of the virus.  A number of the 
measures introduced in March 2020, caused businesses across the country 
significant financial hardship and in response the Government introduced a wide 
range of support to the business sector to assist them during this period.  

3.5. Most of the support to businesses was supplied direct from Government to 
businesses.  However, the Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 
provided certain grant funding to businesses via local councils.  Two initial grants, 
Small Business Rate Grant (SBRG) and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant 
(RHLG) were announced in March 2020 and funding was passed to councils on or 
around the 1st April 2020.   

3.6. There was a further Government announcement on the 1st May 2020 of a new 
package of funding aimed at those businesses that had not received funding under 
the two earlier grants.  This money has been entitled Local Business Discretionary 
Grant Fund. 

3.7. Unlike the earlier 2 grants, BEIS has not been as prescriptive over the award criteria, 
though it has provided mandatory guidance that must be followed in awarding grants 
and provided clear guidance on what it believes are the primary priorities for this 
funding and which types of criteria should be used to determine which businesses 
receive funding.  As such the Cabinet needs to approve a policy for the distribution of 
these grants and a proposed draft of this is set out in Appendix 1.  The latest BEIS 
Guidance as at the 22nd May is attached at Appendix 2. 

3.8. BEIS has notified the Council that it will receive around £975,000 to provide grants to 
businesses under the Discretionary Scheme.  There is an expectation that the 
applications from the business community in Hyndburn will significantly outstrip the 
amount of funding available and that it will not be possible to make a payment to all 
applicants and that we will not be able to fund the amounts required by businesses in 
many cases.  A system of prioritisation will therefore have to operate.   

3.9. BEIS has indicated that because of the significant pressure businesses are facing 
due to COVID-19, councils should aim to pay these grants as quickly as possible.  
We are looking to have an application process established on our Website during  the 
first week of June 2020 and to determine grant awards by the end of June with 

Page 52



payments to businesses occurring within 4 weeks of closure of the application 
process. 

3.10. The Council’s policy to determine who is eligible to receive a grant and to prioritise 
between the applications received, follows the BEIS mandatory guidance on eligibility 
for the grant and the priorities it sets out in its guidance document.  The Council’s 
policy therefore prioritises the following as Tier 1 applications, 

 Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces. Examples 

could include units in industrial parks, science parks and incubators which 

do not have their own business rates assessment. 

 Regular market stall traders with building costs, such as rent, who do not 

have their own business rates assessment.  

 Bed & Breakfast businesses which pay Council Tax instead of business 

rates. 

 Charity properties in receipt of charitable business rates relief which would 

otherwise have been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate 

Relief. 

3.11. All other businesses that apply for the Discretionary Grant will be considered Tier 2 
applicants.  Those businesses that meet the criteria to be considered Tier 1 
applications will receive priority for funding and only if there is sufficient Government 
funding remaining after the award to Tier 1 applicants will distribution begin to Tier 2 
applicants. 

3.12. There are a number of key requirements for applicants to the scheme and these are 
detailed in the policy document and will be contained in the application form.  To 
protect the Council from fraudulent applications there will be requirements for 
applicants to sign declarations to allow the Council to cross match and verify any data 
supplied with internal and external organisations including but not limited to, other 
Government Departments and HMRC.  Applicants will be required to sign an 
undertaking to return the grant funding if the Council deems the funding was awarded 
incorrectly due to their false or misleading statements and applicants will be required 
to sign to state they have not received any other direct grant funding from 
Government in relation to COVID-19 and the payment of this grant will not contravene 
EU State Aid rules. 

 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

4.1. The Council could decline the funding from BEIS and return the funding to BEIS.  This 
is not recommended because local businesses are undergoing hardship as a result of 
COVID-19 and this funding will assist those businesses financially and help them 
survive and recover, thereby protecting the local economy and jobs. 

Page 53



4.2. The Council could design a wide range of approaches to awarding this grant funding.  
It has however chosen to follow the Guidance issued by BEIS which emphasises that 
priority should be given to 4 types of businesses excluded from the initial BEIS SBRG 
and RHLG funding and that businesses that incur high levels of fixed property costs, 
businesses that have suffered significant loss of income due to COVID-19 and those 
businesses that occupy property or part of a property with a Rateable Value of less 
than £51,000 or annual rent or annual mortgage payments of less than £51,000, or 
meet the definition of a small or micro business as defined in legislation or those with 
a significant local economic impact will be prioritised. 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1. Due to the urgent need to make these grant payments the Council has not consulted 

on the detail within the policy but followed the Government guidance in producing it. 

6.  Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

BEIS has provided funding to the Council to 
meet the cost of the grants paid under the 
Small Business Discretionary Grant and there 
should be no direct financial impact on the 
Council, so long as spending is contained 
within the BEIS figure. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The grants are being made under the 
Council’s general power of competence in 
section 1 Localism Act 2011. 
 
Applicants will be required to make a legally 
binding declaration when they submit their 
application which would enable the Council to 
take action to recover the grant in the event 
of fraud or misrepresentation. 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

There is a small risk of overspend in this 
area.  This should be reduced by the 
measures proposed around a window for 
applications and assessing applications 
against a set of criteria and the funding 
available. 
 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The Council is subject to the public sector 

equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 

2010. When making a decision in respect of 

the recommendations in this report Cabinet 

must have regard to the need to: 

Page 54

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


> eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation; and 

> advance equality of opportunity between 

those who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who don’t; and 

> foster good relations between those who 

share a relevant protected characteristic and 

those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing has 
confirmed that the Council does not have 
access to any data in respect of the 
representation of the equality target groups 
within local businesses. It would be a long 
and difficult process to obtain this information 
and doing so would frustrate the key 
objective of getting critical financial support to 
local business quickly at a time of pressing 
financial need. Moreover, there is nothing to 
suggest that the proposed policy would have 
an unfair or disproportionate effect on those 
within the protected groups. 
 

 
 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: List of Background 
Papers  

 
7.1. Not applicable. 
 
 
 
  

Page 55



Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 

Local Business Discretionary Grant Policy 
June 2020 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 56



 
 

 

 

 

Local Business Discretionary  

Grants Fund Policy 
June 2020 

1. Introduction 
1.1. This document sets out Hyndburn Borough Council’s policy for the distribution of grant 

funding to businesses under the Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 

(BEIS) Discretionary Grant Fund. 

1.2. This additional fund is aimed at businesses who were not eligible for the Small 

Business Grant Fund or the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Fund. 

1.3. This grant scheme widens access to support to businesses who are struggling to 

survive due to the Coronavirus shutdown but are unable to access other grant funding. 

1.4. The value of the discretionary grants available are: 

 £25,000 

 £10,000 

 Any amount up to £10,000 

 

1.5. Eligible businesses will only be entitled to one payment under this scheme, even if they 

occupy more than one premises. 

1.6. The Government has provided around £1m in grant funding to support local businesses in 

Hyndburn under this scheme.  The scheme for distributing this funding has been framed in 

the light of Government priorities and guidance. It is possible that demand for funding may 

exceed the funds available. Please note that we cannot therefore guarantee that 

applicants will receive a grant under this scheme. 

Page 57



1.7. Businesses will be required to submit an on-line application from and supporting 

documentation and fulfil a variety of criteria in making an application.  A window of at 

least 2 calendar weeks will be set in which applications can be made and the deadline for 

the submissions will be publicised by the Council widely and contained within the 

Electronic Application Form. 

1.8. The Council aims to make payments to businesses within 4 weeks of the deadline for 

submission of applications. 

 

 

2. Eligibility 
2.1. The Discretionary Grant scheme is meant to assist those businesses that have not received 

financial support from the Government by other means and all such businesses are able to 

apply for a grant under this scheme. The Government has asked local authorities to 

prioritise the following types of businesses for grants within this funding pot,  

 Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces. Examples could 

include units in industrial parks, science parks and incubators which do not have 

their own business rates assessment. 

 Regular market stall traders with building costs, such as rent, who do not have 

their own business rates assessment.  

 Bed & Breakfast businesses which pay Council Tax instead of business rates. 

 Charity properties in receipt of charitable business rates relief which would 

otherwise have been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate Relief. 

2.2. In line with this directive from Government, all applications from businesses of the type 

prioritised by the Government will be classified as Tier 1 applications and will be given first 

priority for grants within the funding pot. 

2.3. Applications from Businesses that do not meet the criteria set out in paragraph 2.1 will be 

classified as Tier 2 applications.  Tier 2 applications will only be considered if there is 

surplus Government funding remaining following the distribution of grants to businesses 

that qualify under Tier 1. 

2.4. In determining the amount of grant to be paid the Council will have regard to the 

Government’s statement that Discretionary Grant Scheme is  primarily and predominately 

aimed at Small Businesses with the following characteristic : 

Page 58



 Businesses which occupy property, or part of a property, with a rateable 

value or annual rent or annual mortgage payments below £51,000  

 Meet the definition of  a small or micro business under the Section 33 Part 2 

of the Small Business Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 and the Company 

Act 2006 

 Businesses with relatively high ongoing fixed property-related costs. 

 Businesses which can demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall 

in income due to the COVID-19 crisis. 

And those with significant local economic importance. 

2.5. The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive and businesses which do not have 

the above characteristics or fit the priorities listed are still welcome to apply and may be 

considered for the award of a grant. 

2.6. Where limits to the funding available for this scheme require the Council to prioritise 

which types of businesses will receive funding from all those applications that have met 

the criteria , the Council will use a point based system to identify those businesses that 

meet its criteria most fully.  Using this approach, the Council will determine how many and 

which business will receive a grant and the value of the grant to each individual business. 

2.7. Only premises which were occupied and trading on 11 March 2020 are eligible for this 

scheme. 

2.8. Businesses that are in administration, are insolvent or where a striking-off notice has been 

made are not eligible for funding under this scheme. 

2.9. Where there is a business rates assessment, the eligible business must be the ratepayer 

registered with the Council on 11 March 2020. 

2.10. Where there is a business rates assessment, the eligible business must not be in arrears 

with their business rates liability on 11 March 2020. 

2.11. Where there is not a business rates assessment, the eligible business must be liable for 

rent / mortgage for the premises which they occupy and trade from on 11 March 2020.   

2.12. Where there is not a business rates assessment, the eligible business must not be in 

arrears with their rent liability, or mortgage liability on 11 March 2020.  

2.13. The Discretionary Fund payment will be made to the person, organisation or company that 

are the named liable party for business rates, or rent or mortgage for the premises. If there 

Page 59



is no property associated with the business making an application the grant payment will 

be made to the official business account of the applicant. 

2.14. Businesses who have applied for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme are eligible to 

apply for this scheme. Please note that if your business has furloughed staff, then it may 

still be eligible for the Local Discretionary Grant Fund.  Applicants for the Self-employed 

Income Support Grant are also eligible to apply for a Discretionary Grant.  Businesses 

which have taken advantage of Government support in the form of loans, the deferral of 

VAT payments and other support which is not in the form of a grant, are eligible to apply 

for this grant. 

2.15. This grant funding is for businesses that are not eligible for other grant support schemes. 

Businesses which have received cash grants or funding from any central Government 

COVID-19 related schemes are not eligible for funding from the Discretionary Grants Fund. 

Such grant and funding scheme include but are not limited to: 

 Small Business Grant Fund 

 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant 

 The Dairy Hardship Fund 

 Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation Fund 

 The Fisheries Response Fund 

 Domestic Seafood Supply Scheme 

 The Zoo Support Fund 

 

 

2.16. Hyndburn Borough Council will not consider a discretionary grant for premises that are 

operating without the correct licenses in relation to that property, have not paid the 

required license, are in breach of any planning restrictions, limits or requirements, 

contravene environmental requirements or other breaches of national or local statutory 

requirements. 

3. Applying for Discretionary Grant Fund 
3.1. There will be a mandatory application process for this scheme. 

3.2. Applications for discretionary awards should be made using the Local Business 

Discretionary Grant Application Form provided by the Council on its website. Application 

Page 60



forms, together with all relevant supporting evidence must be submitted to the Council by 

the deadline announced and contained within the Application Form. 

3.3. A person or business claiming a grant under this policy is required to: 

 Submit an application form, completing all sections of the application form 

 Provide the Council with such information and supporting evidence as it may 

require to determine eligibility for an award under this scheme.  Failure to 

provide all the relevant information requested will reduce the likelihood of 

the award of a grant. 

 The business must agree that the Council can use the information provided 

to verify the validity of any claim and the information presented in support 

of that application, with third parties including other local authorities and 

Government Departments including HMRC and that the Council can seek 

information from other sources as it deems necessary to validate the 

application and information provided as it determines. 

 Businesses applying for the grant will be required to provide legal assurances 

that the information they have provided is truthful and accurate and 

acknowledge the Council’s right to recover all of the grant if the Council 

believes the grant was paid in error due to any inaccuracies or misleading 

information within the application for whatever reason. 

4. Decisions and awards 
4.1. The Council’s decision on whether to award a grant, or the level of grant funding awarded, 

is final. 

4.2. As this is a discretionary scheme there is no formal right of appeal against any 

determination made.  

5. Managing the risk of fraud 
5.1. The Government, and the Council, will not accept deliberate manipulation and fraud and 

any business caught falsifying their records or submitting incorrect information to gain 

grant money will face prosecution and any funding issued will be subject to claw back, as 

may any grants paid in error.  

5.2. The Council will undertake a variety of checks to determine that applications and 

information provided in support of those applications is truthful and correct. Further 

checks will be carried out subsequently to validate all grants paid and the Council will make 

use of Central Government’s Counter Fraud Function and audit tools such as Spotlight, for 

identifying inappropriate applications or misleading information in support of applications. 

Page 61



 

6. State Aid 
6.1. The United Kingdom left the EU on 31 January 2020, nonetheless under the Withdrawal 

Agreement the State aid rules continue to apply during a transition period, subject to 

regulation by the EU Commission. The local authority must be satisfied that all State aid 

requirements have been fully met and complied with when making grant payments, 

including, where required, compliance with all relevant conditions of the EU State aid De-

Minimis Regulation, the EU Commission Temporary Framework for State aid measures to 

support the economy in the current COVID-19 outbreak, the approved COVID-19 

Temporary Framework for UK Authorities, and any relevant reporting requirements to the 

EU Commission.  

6.2. Local authorities have a discretion to make payments to eligible recipients under either the 

De Minimis rules or the COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK Authorities (provided all 

the relevant conditions are met). 

6.3. Payments of up to and including £10,000 can be provided under the De Minimis rules, 

meaning applicants can receive up to €200,000 of aid within a three year period. 

6.4. Payments of up to and including £25,000 (or where the De Minimis threshold has been 

reached) should be paid under the COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK Authorities. 

Local authorities should note the conditions attached to the Temporary Framework, 

including the €800,000 threshold per undertaking. 

6.5. The Council will not make payments under the discretionary fund scheme without the 

undertaking completing a signed State Aid declaration. 

7. Complaints 
7.1. Complaints about the handling of any account will be dealt with in accordance with the 

Council’s general complaints policy which can be found at 

www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints  

8. Review/approval 
8.1. This policy will be reviewed and updated if required.   

 

 

  

Page 62

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints


Appendix 2 

 
 
 
 

 

Department of Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy  

 
 Grant Funding Schemes  

Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund 
– guidance for local authorities 

 
 

May 2020 
 
 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

13 May 2020 

Grant Funding Schemes 
Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund – 
guidance for local authorities 

Page 65



 

 

 

© Crown copyright 2020 

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. 
To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3 or write to the 
Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk.  

Where we have identified any third-party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the 
copyright holders concerned. 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at:  
enquiries@beis.gov.uk 

Page 66

http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@beis.gov.uk


 

3 

Contents 

About this guidance _________________________________________________________ 4 

Introduction________________________________________________________________ 4 

How will the grants be provided? _______________________________________________ 4 

How much funding will be provided to businesses? _________________________________ 5 

Who will benefit from these schemes? ___________________________________________ 6 

Eligibility __________________________________________________________________ 7 

Who will receive this funding? _________________________________________________ 8 

Will these grant schemes be subject to tax?_______________________________________ 8 

Managing the risk of fraud ____________________________________________________ 8 

Post event assurance ________________________________________________________ 8 

Monitoring and reporting requirements ___________________________________________ 9 

State aid __________________________________________________________________ 9 

Annex A: Post-payment reporting ______________________________________________ 11 

Annex B: State aid – Sample paragraphs that could be included in letters to grant recipients 12 

 

Page 67



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

4 

About this guidance 

1. This guidance is intended to support local authorities in administering the  
Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund announced on 1 May 2020. This guidance 
applies to England only.  

2. This guidance sets out the criteria which local government should consider as they 
manage the Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund. This does not replace existing 
guidance for the Small Business Grant Fund (SBGF) or the Retail Hospitality and 
Leisure Grant Fund (RHLGF). 

3. Local authority enquiries on this measure should be addressed to 
businessgrantfunds@beis.gov.uk. Businesses seeking information should refer to their 
local authority for further information on their discretionary scheme. 

Introduction 

4. In response to the Coronavirus, COVID-19, the government announced there would be 
support for small businesses, and businesses in the retail, hospitality and leisure 
sectors, delivered through the Small Business Grant Fund and the Retail, Leisure and 
Hospitality Grant Fund.  

5. This additional fund is aimed at small and micro businesses who were not eligible for the 
Small Business Grant Fund or the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Fund.  

How will the grants be provided? 

6. Local authorities will be responsible for delivering grants to eligible businesses. Section 
1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides all local authorities with the vires to make these 
payments. 

7. The cost to local authorities of these grant payments will be met in one of two ways: 

• Where they have or plan to spend all of the grants fund allocation for the Small 
Business Grants Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants Fund, they will 
receive an additional payment of 5% of their funding allocation (using a grant under 
section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003). 

• Local authorities that, having taken all reasonable steps to provide grants to eligible 
businesses for the Small Business Grants Fund and/or the Retail, Hospitality and 
Leisure Grants Fund, still have unspent initial grants funds allocation, will fund the 
grants from this unspent residual. Local authorities with a projected underspend of 
more than 5% cannot allocate awards above their 5% threshold.  

8. In either case, we will continue to monitor each local authority’s spend performance for 
the Small Business, Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants Funds and the Local 
Authority Discretionary Grants Fund and ensure they have sufficient funding and the 
correct 5% cap for the Discretionary Grants Fund and will top up funding where 
necessary. 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-on-business-support-grant-funding
mailto:businessgrantfunds@beis.gov.uk


Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

5 

9. We will use the data return from local authorities of Monday 4th May 2020, which 
includes a projection of spend totals for the Small Business and Retail, Hospitality and 
Leisure Grants Funds, as the baseline for calculating either: 

• The 5% funding envelope that each local authority can utilise to meet the costs of 
this discretionary grants scheme, where they have residual funding available; 

• Or, the allocation of the additional amount of grant to be paid to those local 
authorities expecting to have no residual funding or not enough residual funding from 
the initial allocation of Small Business and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants 
Funds. 

10. This is a baseline to provide the fixed minimum 5% allocation for each local authority, to 
give certainty. We do not want to penalise local authorities that subsequently manage to 
achieve a higher number of business hereditaments supported and grants awarded; 
their 5% allocation will be adjusted upwards. 

11. We are committed to meeting the delivery costs to local authorities for this scheme and 
will meet associated New Burdens costs.  

12. Local authorities that will be responsible for making payments to businesses and which 
will receive funding from government are billing authorities in England.  

13. This grant scheme widens access to support to businesses who are struggling to 
survive due to the Corona virus shutdown but are unable to access other grant funding. 
Local authorities should make payments as quickly as possible to support struggling 
businesses. We anticipate that the first payments made under the scheme will be 
received by businesses by early June. 

How much funding will be provided to businesses? 

14. Local authorities may disburse grants to the value of £25,000, £10,000 or any amount 
under £10,000. The value of the payment to be made to a business is at the discretion 
of the local authority. 

15. Grants under the Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund are capped at £25,000.  

16. The next level payment under the Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund is £10,000.  

17. Local authorities have discretion to make payments of any amount under £10,000. It will 
be for local authorities to adapt this approach to local circumstances, such as providing 
support for micro-businesses with fixed costs or support for businesses that are crucial 
for their local economies. We expect that payments of under £10,000 may be 
appropriate in many cases.  

18. In taking decisions on the appropriate level of grant, local authorities may want to take 
into account the level of fixed costs faced by the business in question, the number of 
employees, whether businesses have had to close completely and are unable to trade 
online and the consequent scale of impact of COVID-19 losses. 

19. Bearing in mind the above, local authorities should set out clear criteria for determining 
the appropriate level of grant to give businesses clarity. 

Page 69



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

6 

Who will benefit from these schemes? 

20. These grants are primarily and predominantly aimed at: 

• Small and micro businesses, as defined in Section 33 Part 2 of the Small Business, 
Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 and the Companies Act 2006. 

• Businesses with relatively high ongoing fixed property-related costs 

• Businesses which can demonstrate that they have suffered a significant fall in 
income due to the COVID-19 crisis 

• Businesses which occupy property, or part of a property, with a rateable value or 
annual rent or annual mortgage payments below £51,000.  

21. To be a small business, under the Companies Act 2006, a business must satisfy two or 
more of the following requirements in a year— 

• Turnover: Not more than £10.2 million 

• Balance sheet total: Not more than 5.1 million 

• Number of employees: a headcount of staff of less than 50 

22. To be a micro business, under the Companies Act 2006, a business must satisfy two or 
more of the following requirements— 

• Turnover: Not more than £632,000 

• Balance sheet total: Not more than £316,000 

• Number of employees: a headcount of staff of not more than 10 

23. We want local authorities to exercise their local knowledge and discretion and we 
recognise that economic need will vary across the country, so we are setting some 
national criteria for the funds but allowing local authorities to determine which cases to 
support within those criteria. 

24. We are asking local authorities to prioritise the following types of businesses for grants 
from within this funding pot: 

• Small businesses in shared offices or other flexible workspaces. Examples could 
include units in industrial parks, science parks and incubators which do not have 
their own business rates assessment; 

• Regular market traders with fixed building costs, such as rent, who do not have their 
own business rates assessment; 

• Bed & Breakfasts which pay Council Tax instead of business rates; and 

• Charity properties in receipt of charitable business rates relief which would otherwise 
have been eligible for Small Business Rates Relief or Rural Rate Relief. 

  

Page 70



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

7 

25. The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive but is intended to guide local 
authorities as to the types of business that the government considers should be a 
priority for the scheme. Authorities should determine for themselves whether particular 
situations not listed are broadly similar in nature to those above and, if so, whether they 
should be eligible for grants from this discretionary fund.  

26. Where limits to funding available for this scheme require local authorities to prioritise 
which types of businesses will receive funding, it will be at the local authorities discretion 
as to which types of business are most relevant to their local economy. There will be no 
penalty for local authorities because of their use of discretion to prioritise some business 
types.  

27. Local authorities should set out the scope of their discretionary grant scheme on their 
website, providing clear guidance on which types of business are being prioritised, as 
well as the rationale for the level of grant to be provided (either £25,000, £10,000 or less 
than £10,000).  

28. Local authorities may wish to consider collaborating as they design their discretionary 
schemes to ensure there is consistency where they are working across a functional 
economic area (e.g. a Mayoral Combined Authority or Local Enterprise Partnership 
area) and may want to engage with MCAs and LEPs to ensure alignment and reduce 
duplication with other local discretionary business grants that may have been 
established.  

Eligibility 

29. This grant funding is for businesses that are not eligible for other support schemes. 
Businesses which are eligible for cash grants from any central government COVID-
related scheme (apart from SEISS) are ineligible for funding from the Discretionary 
Grants Fund. Such grant schemes include but are not limited to:  

• Small Business Grant Fund 

• Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant  

• The Fisheries Response Fund 

• Domestic Seafood Supply Scheme (DSSS). 

• The Zoos Support Fund 

• The Dairy Hardship Fund 

30. Businesses who have applied for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme are eligible to 
apply for this scheme.  

31. Businesses who are eligible for the Self-Employed Income support scheme (SEISS) are 
eligible to apply for this scheme as well.  

32. Only businesses which were trading on 11 March 2020 are eligible for this scheme.  

33. Companies that are in administration, are insolvent or where a striking-off notice has 
been made are not eligible for funding under this scheme. 

Page 71



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

8 

Who will receive this funding? 

34. It is recognised that local authorities will need to run some form of application process.  

35. This will allow local authorities to undertake proportionate pre-payment checks to 
confirm eligibility relative to their local scheme and to allow each local authority to 
determine how to use its discretion in relation to the appropriate level of grant. 
Prepayment checks must include confirming that by accepting payments recipients are 
in compliance with State aid rules.  

36. Local authorities must use their discretion in identifying the right person to receive this 
funding, based on their application process.  

37. The local authority must call or write to the business, stating that by accepting the grant 
payment, the business confirms that they are eligible for the grant scheme, including 
that any payments accepted will be in compliance with State aid requirements. 
Suggested wording for State aid declarations is included at Annex B.  

Will these grant schemes be subject to tax? 

38. Grant income received by a business is taxable therefore funding paid under the Local 
Authority Discretionary Grants Fund will be subject to tax. 

39. Only businesses which make an overall profit once grant income is included will be 
subject to tax. 

Managing the risk of fraud 

40. The government will not accept deliberate manipulation and fraud - and any business 
caught falsifying their records to gain grant money will face prosecution and any funding 
issued will be subject to claw back, as may any grants paid in error. 

41. The government Grants Management Function and Counter Fraud Function will make 
their digital assurance tool, Spotlight, available to local authorities, and will offer support 
in using the tool and interpreting results. Alongside other checks conducted by local 
authorities, the tool can help with pre-payment and post payment assurance. We also 
want local authorities to work with us and each other in identifying and sharing good 
practice, including protecting eligible businesses which may be targeted by fraudsters 
pretending to be central or local government or acting on their behalf. 

Post event assurance 

42. Post payment, the government Grants Management Function and Counter Fraud 
Function will support local authorities to carry out post-event assurance work to identify 
high risk payments. 

Page 72



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

9 

Monitoring and reporting requirements 

43. Local authorities will be required to report on their progress in developing and delivering 
the Local Authority Discretionary Grant Fund weekly to BEIS alongside the existing 
reporting on the Small Business Grants Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants 
Fund. Criteria for local authority schemes must be published and shared with BEIS.  

44. Once the scheme is developed and payments are made, reports from June onward will 
cover: 

• Numbers of businesses provided £25,000 grants 

• Numbers of businesses provided £10,000 grants 

• Numbers of businesses provided less than £10,000 grants  

• Total funding paid out in relation to the discretionary grant scheme paying less than 
£10,000  

• Expected date of completion of all grant payments to businesses 

• Issues encountered in implementing the scheme to allow BEIS to support 
development of solutions with local authorities. 

45. We will also contact a sample of LAs each month to: 

• Check they are awarding in line with the mandatory criteria; 

• Understand the ways in which they are using their discretion. 

46. Annex A contains information on Post Payment Monitoring requirements.  

State aid 

47. The United Kingdom left the EU on 31 January 2020, nonetheless under the Withdrawal 
Agreement the State aid rules continue to apply during a transition period, subject to 
regulation by the EU Commission. The local authority must be satisfied that all State aid 
requirements have been fully met and complied with when making grant payments, 
including, where required, compliance with all relevant conditions of the EU State aid 
De-Minimis Regulation, the EU Commission Temporary Framework for State aid 
measures to support the economy in the current COVID-19 outbreak, the approved 
COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK Authorities, and any relevant reporting 
requirements to the EU Commission.  

48. Local authorities have a discretion to make payments to eligible recipients under either 
the De Minimis rules or the COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK Authorities 
(provided all the relevant conditions are met).  

49. Payments of up to and including £10,000 can be provided under the De Minimis rules, 
meaning applicants can receive up to €200,000 of aid within a three year period.  

50. Payments of up to and including £25,000 (or £10,000 where the De Minimis threshold 
has been reached) should be paid under the COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK 
Authorities. Local authorities should note the conditions attached to the Temporary 
Framework, including the €800,000 threshold per undertaking (€120 000 per Page 73



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

10 

undertaking active in the fishery and aquaculture sector or €100 000 per undertaking 
active in the primary production of agricultural products), and requirement for recipients 
to declare they were not an undertaking in difficulty on 31 December 2019. An 
‘undertaking in difficulty’ is defined by GBER (2014) as an undertaking in which at least 
one of the following circumstances occurs:  

a) In the case of a limited liability company (other than an SME that has been in 
existence for less than three years), where more than half of its subscribed share 
capital has disappeared as a result of accumulated losses. This is the case when 
deduction of accumulated losses from reserves (and all other elements generally 
considered as part of the own funds of the company) leads to a negative cumulative 
amount that exceeds half of the subscribed share capital. 

b) In the case of a company where at least some members have unlimited liability for 
the debt of the company (other than an SME that has been in existence for less than 
three years), where more than half of its capital as shown in the company accounts 
has disappeared as a result of accumulated losses. 

c) Where the undertaking is subject to collective insolvency proceedings or fulfils the 
criteria under its domestic law for being placed in collective insolvency proceedings 
at the request of its creditors. 

d) Where the undertaking has received rescue aid and has not yet reimbursed the loan 
or terminated the guarantee, or has received restructuring aid and is still subject to a 
restructuring plan. 

e) In the case of an undertaking that is not an SME, where, for the past two years: 

i) The undertaking’s book debt to equity ratio has been greater than 7.5 and 

ii) The undertaking’s EBITDA interest coverage ratio has been below 1.0. 

51. Annex B of this guidance contains two sample declarations which local authorities may 
wish to use with either payments under the De Minimis rules or under the COVID-19 
Temporary Framework for UK Authorities. Where local authorities have further 
questions about De Minimis or other aspects of State aid law, they should seek advice 
from their legal department in the first instance. 

  

Page 74



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

11 

Annex A: Post-payment reporting 

Background 

1. Local authorities will be required to report weekly to BEIS on the Local Authority 
Discretionary Grants Fund, alongside the existing reporting on the Small Business 
Grants Fund and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants Fund  

2. Reports will cover: 

• Numbers of businesses provided £25,000 grants 

• Numbers of businesses provided £10,000 grants 

• Numbers of businesses provided less than £10,000 grants  

• Total funding paid out in relation to the discretionary grant scheme paying less than 
£10,000 

• Expected date of completion of all grant payments to businesses 

• Issues encountered in implementing the scheme to allow BEIS to support 
development of solutions with local authorities  

3. The return will be completed using the DELTA Reporting system.  

Process 

4. Local authorities are required to complete the weekly return for BEIS by 10am Monday 
(from early June), reporting on the previous Monday – Sunday period. 

5. Each weekly report will only cover grants provided by local authorities to eligible 
business during the period of the previous week as per paragraph 4. The Cities and 
Local Growth Unit will consolidate the reports to create a cumulative total and monitor 
progress against the allocation of funding per local authority.  

Definitions 

Total number of grants provided under each 
level of the scheme (£25,000; £10,000; and 
less than £10,000) 

Number of grants paid (in that week) to the 
eligible businesses identified by the local 
authorities. 

Total funding paid out in relation to the 
discretionary grant scheme paying less than 
£10,000 

This should reflect the amount of money paid in 
grants against the under £10k grant in the 
reporting week under this scheme. 

Expected Date of Completing all payments 
to Eligible Businesses 

Date at which the local authorities believes it will 
have provided all grants under the scheme. 

Comments Highlight in this box issues that local authorities 
are encountering while implementing the 
schemes. 

  

Page 75



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

12 

Annex B: State aid – Sample paragraphs that could be 
included in letters to grant recipients 

Template to send to beneficiaries of aid awarded based on the UK 
COVID-19 Temporary Framework1  

Dear [Name of Aid Recipient]  

Confirmation of State Aid received under the COVID-19 Temporary Framework for UK 
Authorities scheme 

Following the outbreak of the Coronavirus, the European Commission has approved schemes 
to aid businesses affected by the Coronavirus outbreak on the basis of their Temporary 
Framework, including the COVID-19 Temporary Framework scheme for the UK. 

The maximum level of aid that a company may receive is €800 000 (€120 000 per undertaking 
active in the fishery and aquaculture sector or €100 000 per undertaking active in the primary 
production of agricultural products). This is across all UK schemes under the terms of the 
European Commission’s Temporary Framework. The Euro equivalent of the Sterling aid 
amount is calculated using the Commission exchange rate2 applicable on the date the aid is 
offered. 

Any aid provided under this scheme will be relevant if you wish to apply, or have applied, for 
any other aid granted on the basis of the European Commission’s Temporary Framework. You 
will need to declare this amount to any other aid awarding body who requests information from 
you on how much aid you have received. You must retain this letter for four years after the 
conclusion of the UK’s transition from the EU and produce it on any request from the UK public 
authorities or the European Commission. 

Aid may be granted to undertakings that were not in difficulty (within the meaning of Article 
2(18) of the General Block Exemption Regulation3) on 31 December 2019, but that faced 
difficulties or entered in difficulty thereafter as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak4.  

This aid is in addition any aid that you may be have received under the De Minimis regulation 
allowing aid of up to €200,000 to any one organisation over a three fiscal year period (i.e. your 
current fiscal year and previous two fiscal years), and any other approved aid you have 
received under other State aid rules, such as aid granted under the General Block Exemption 
Regulation. 

  

 
1 Approval reference. 
2 https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/how-eu-funding-works/information-contractors-and-
beneficiaries/exchange-rate-inforeuro_en  
3 https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:02014R0651-20170710  
4 If you are an undertaking in difficulty within the meaning of Article 2(18) of the General Block Exemption 
Regulation you may still be entitled to de minimis aid if you have received less than €200,000 in de minimis aid in 
the last three years. You should contact us if you consider that you may qualify for de minimis aid on this basis. Page 76

https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/how-eu-funding-works/information-contractors-and-beneficiaries/exchange-rate-inforeuro_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/funding-tenders/how-eu-funding-works/information-contractors-and-beneficiaries/exchange-rate-inforeuro_en
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:02014R0651-20170710


Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

13 

Confirmation of State aid received under x Scheme, and Undertaking in Difficulty status  

Please sign the attached statement confirming your eligibility, in principle, for aid.  

I confirm that I have received the following aid under measures approved within the European 
Commission’s Temporary Framework between March 2020 and December 2020. 

I confirm that my undertaking was not in difficulty (within the meaning of Article 2(18) of the 
General Block Exemption Regulation) on 31 December 2019. 

Body providing the assistance/ aid  Value of assistance (in €)  Date of assistance  

   

   

   

 
Declaration  

Company    

Company Representative Name   

Signature   

Date  

 

  

Page 77



Local Authority Discretionary Grants Fund - guidance for local authorities  

14 

Template to send to beneficiaries of aid awarded based on De Minimis 
Rules 

Dear [ ]  

The value of the grant payment to be provided to [name of undertaking] by [name of local 
authority] is £ [ ] (Euros [ ]).  

This award shall comply with the EU law on State aid on the basis that, including this award, 
[name of undertaking] shall not receive more than €200,000 in total of de minimis aid within the 
current financial year or the previous two financial years). The de minimis Regulations 
1407/2013 (as published in the Official Journal of the European Union L352 24.12.2013) can 
be found at:  
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF  

Amount of  
de minimis aid 

Date of aid  Organisation 
providing aid 

Nature of aid  

    

    

    

    

 

I confirm that:  

1) I am authorised to sign on behalf of _________________[name of undertaking]; and  

2) __________________[name of undertaking] shall not exceed its De minimis threshold by 
accepting this grant payment.  

SIGNATURE:   
NAME:   
POSITION:   
BUSINESS:   
ADDRESS:  

I confirm that I wish to accept the grant payment in relation to the above premises.  

DATE:   

Page 78

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF


 

 

This publication is available from: www.gov.uk/beis 

If you need a version of this document in a more accessible format, please email 
enquiries@beis.gov.uk. Please tell us what format you need. It will help us if you say what 
assistive technology you use. Page 79

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-business-energy-and-industrial-strategy
mailto:enquiries@beis.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 2 

 
 

URGENT CABINET DECISION 
 

B16 EXECUTIVE URGENCY PROCEDURE 

 
(a) Urgent executive decisions which cannot be delayed until the next meeting of the executive 

or executive committee (as the case may be) may be taken by the relevant Chief Officer 
after consultation with the following:  
- Leader  
- a Deputy Leader  
- Relevant portfolio holder (if any) or any other Cabinet member if there is no relevant 

portfolio holder in respect of the decision in question  
- The Mayor, pursuant to Rule C15 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules [i.e. 

to agree that it is exempt from call-in].  
- Plus one of the following:  

- the Chief Executive; or  
- the Executive Director (Resources) (in the absence of the Chief Executive, or 

if the Chief Executive is the decision taker); or  
- the Monitoring Officer (in the absence of the Chief Executive or Executive 

Director (Resources), or if one is absent and the other is the decision taker).  
(b) In the absence of the Leader, Deputy Leader or portfolio holder (if any) the consent of 

another Cabinet member will be required. 
(c)  The urgent decision, the reason for it and the reason for the use of the urgency procedure 

must be reported to the next meeting of the executive or executive committee (as the case 
may be). 

HBC Constitution, Executive Procedure Rules 
 

 

Subject:   Barnfield & Hyndburn Limited – proposed winding up and sale of Norden Court  
 

Report Author:   Jane Ellis, Executive Director – Legal & Democratic Services 

 

Background: 
 

The background to this matter is set out in the attached report. 
 
 

Reason for Urgency: 
 
Due to the ongoing pandemic Cabinet meetings have been temporarily suspended. A 
decision on this matter is needed urgently and cannot wait until the next Cabinet meeting 
takes place.  

Given current economic uncertainty it also seems prudent to progress the sale of Norden 
Court on the basis of the current valuation, as there is clearly a risk that property values 
may fall in the short to medium term. 
 
 

Page 81



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 2 

Recommendation: 
The recommendations are set out in the attached report. 
 
 
 

Date of Decision (when finally approved): 

 

 

 

 

Signatures of Members and Officers: 

 

 

Chief Officer ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Leader ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Deputy Leader ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Portfolio Holder  ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Mayor * 
* to exempt from call-in 
 

……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 

Chief Executive, or ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Executive Director 

(Resources), or  

 

……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Monitoring Officer  ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

 

Page 82



1 of 2 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION 
 

(Executive Procedure Rule B16) 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Summary and Approvals 
  

1. Title of Report - Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney 
carriage and Private Hire Licensing 

 

2. Report Author - Wendy Redfern 
 

3. Purpose of Report - To seek approval for the amendment to the Rules, Regulations 
and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing so as to extend the 
issue of a 6 month licence plate to any electric or hybrid  vehicles up to the age of 15 
years old. 

 

4. Decision requested - Cabinet approves the amendment to the Rules, Regulations 
and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing.  

 
 

5. Reason for Urgency - Due to the Covid 19 pandemic Cabinet meetings are not 

currently being held and the item cannot wait until the next scheduled meeting 

 

6. Approvals of Members and Officers 

 

Designation Signature to give Approval 

Elected Members  
 

Leader of the Council  

 

Deputy Leader of the Council  

 

Portfolio Holder  

 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 

 

 

 

Officers 

 

 

Chief Executive  

 

 

Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker) 

 

 

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 

 

Page 83



2 of 2 

Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 

 

Chief Officer/Head of Service 

 

 

 
 

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):  

Page 84



 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 18 March 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Wendy Redfern – Licensing Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Amendment to the Rules, Regulations and 
Procedures for Hackney carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval for the amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing so as to extend the issue of a 6 month 
licence plate to any electric or hybrid  vehicles up to the age of 15 years old. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet approves the amendment to the Rules, Regulations and Procedures for 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing as set out in this report.  
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Council are responsible for setting the vehicle testing frequency for hackney 

carriage and private hire vehicles, which in turn determines the period of the licence 
that is issued. Currently vehicles under the age of 2 years are tested annually and 
issued with a 12 month licence.  Vehicles between the age of 2 years and 10 years are 
tested every 6 months and issued with a 6 month licence and vehicles over the age of 
10 years are tested every 4 months and issued with a 4 month licence. A vehicle 
cannot remain licensed beyond the age of 15 years. 

 
3.2 Members will be aware that this Council has declared a climate emergency and all 

areas of the Council have been asked to consider ways to reduce our carbon footprint.  
At a recent Taxi Liaison Group a request was received from one of the representatives 
of the trade, for the Council to consider extending the issue of 6 months taxi licences to 
the age of 15 for all electric or hybrid vehicles that we licence. This will encourage 
drivers to purchase hybrid vehicles and will go some way to addressing the climate 
issue.  

 

Page 85



 

 

3.3 Members of the taxi trade have been consulted and asked to give their views on this 
matter.  There has been a very positive response from the trade and there have been 
no negative comments at all.  Some other neighbouring authorities already offer some 
incentive to applicants to try and encourage them to licence cleaner hybrid or electric 
vehicles.   

 
34 Officers now believe that the 6 month licence could be extended to include electric and 

hybrid vehicles up to the age of 15 years, to encourage the uptake of these types of 
vehicles and to help to improve the climate.  Officers are now carrying out frequent 
roadside inspections which would highlight any potential issues with this type of vehicle 
between tests as they get older and the policy will be kept under review in this regard 
as safety for passengers and road users remains our top priority. Officers have noted 
that on recent roadside inspections the Toyota Prius Hybrid, for example usually fairs 
very well against many other vehicles and it is rare that any serious faults are found.   

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could take no action and continue with the current policy and frequency of 

testing. However, as the Council has declared a climate emergency and this change of 
policy could assist in the reduction of carbon emissions in the Borough by encouraging 
the use of cleaner vehicles, officers  recommend that members approve the change of 
policy. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Members of the trade have been consulted and although there have been no written 

responses received, officers are aware from verbal responses that this is a move that 
is highly supported by them. 
 

5.2 Further members of the trade have elected a number of representatives to attend the 
Taxi Liaison Group meetings to raise any issues and make any suggestions for 
improvements, and the Taxi Liaison Group has been consulted and supports this 
proposal.  

 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None relating to the Council’s licensing 
function, although if there is a large uptake it 
would lead to less frequent testing required 
at the Council's Vehicle Maintenance Unit 
and therefore income from tests would be 
reduced. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

No specific risks have been identified.  

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 

Page 86

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

2010. When making a decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

 advance equality of opportunity 
between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who 
don’t; and 

 foster good relations between those 
who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. To assist the Cabinet in this 
regard a Customer First Analysis has been 
carried out as part of the review process 
and is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
Cabinet is advised to consider the Customer 
First Analysis and its obligations in respect 
of the public sector equality duty when 
making a decision in respect of the 
recommendations contained in this report.  

 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
Rules, Regulations and Procedures for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing. 
 
Appendix 1 - Customer First Analysis. 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 2 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 89



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 2 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 
The uptake of electric and hybrid vehicles to be licensed as hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicles to assist in the climate change crisis. 
 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 
 Licensing Officers/ Licensing Manager and the Executive Director of Legal and Democratic 
 Services. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 

Hackney carriage and Private Hire owners, members of the public and the Council 
   

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
  
 Failure to have regard to the policy when making decisions. 
 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 

Letters to all proprietors.  Publication of the updated policy on our website 
 
2. Evidence 
 
 Greater uptake of cleaner vehicles.  
 
3. Impact 
 
The policy will ensure that the uptake of cleaner private hire and hackney carriage vehicles is 
incentivised and should contribute to addressing the climate emergency.  There is no reason to 
believe there will be any adverse impact arising from this change in policy on any of the protected 

characteristics groups. 
 
 

 
Name:   Wendy Redfern                              Signed: __Wendy Redfern_______________________ 
 
Service Area:  Licensing                          Dated: 26th February 2020 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 
 

Page 90



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 2 

 
 

URGENT CABINET DECISION 
 

B16 EXECUTIVE URGENCY PROCEDURE 

 
(a) Urgent executive decisions which cannot be delayed until the next meeting of the executive 

or executive committee (as the case may be) may be taken by the relevant Chief Officer 
after consultation with the following:  
- Leader  
- a Deputy Leader  
- Relevant portfolio holder (if any) or any other Cabinet member if there is no relevant 

portfolio holder in respect of the decision in question  
- The Mayor, pursuant to Rule C15 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules [i.e. 

to agree that it is exempt from call-in].  
- Plus one of the following:  

- the Chief Executive; or  
- the Executive Director (Resources) (in the absence of the Chief Executive, or 

if the Chief Executive is the decision taker); or  
- the Monitoring Officer (in the absence of the Chief Executive or Executive 

Director (Resources), or if one is absent and the other is the decision taker).  
(b) In the absence of the Leader, Deputy Leader or portfolio holder (if any) the consent of 

another Cabinet member will be required. 
(c)  The urgent decision, the reason for it and the reason for the use of the urgency procedure 

must be reported to the next meeting of the executive or executive committee (as the case 
may be). 

HBC Constitution, Executive Procedure Rules 
 

 

Subject: Member attendance at meetings 
 

Report Author: Jane Ellis  – Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) 
 

Background: 
  
Please see the attached report. 
 

Reason for Urgency: 
 
 
Due to the ongoing pandemic Cabinet meetings have been temporarily suspended. A 
decision on this matter is needed urgently and cannot wait until the next Cabinet meeting 
takes place. 
 
 

Recommendation: 
To approve the recommendation in the attached report.  
 
 

Page 91



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 2 

Date of Decision (when finally approved): 

 
10/07/20 
 

 

Signatures of Members and Officers: 

 

 

Chief Officer ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Leader ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Deputy Leader ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Portfolio Holder  ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Mayor * 
* to exempt from call-in 
 

……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 

Chief Executive, or ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Executive Director 

(Resources), or  

 

……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Monitoring Officer  ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

 

Page 92



 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 01 July 2020 

REPORT AUTHOR: Jane Ellis – Executive Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Virtual Meeting Procedure Rules & Non Attendance 
by Councillors for 6 Months 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options N/A  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1.1 For Cabinet to consider agreeing that all Members of the Council continue to be  

members of the Council if they remain unable to attend any relevant meeting of the 
Council on or before 26th August 2020;  

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet approve that all Members of the Council continue to be members of the 

Council if, due to the ongoing Covid 19 pandemic and social distancing requirements, they 
are unable to attend any relevant meeting of the Council on or before 26th August 2020 
and that such approval  extend until 26th February 2021; 

 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 

 
 
3.1 Emergency powers approval has already been granted by full Council (under section 

85 Local Government Act 1972) to allow councillors to retain their seats if they fail to 
attend a meeting by 26th August 2020. In the past such approval has been granted by 
full Council, both here at Hyndburn and local authorities generally, and this seems to 
be a sensible and appropriate approach. In recent weeks however it has been 
suggested by a barrister advising the LGA that this decision is an executive one and 
falls to Cabinet.  It is by no means clear that this view is correct, and there is no 
definitive view on the point, but to avoid any risk to the Council, officers have decided 
to seek Cabinet approval in addition to that of full Council as a “belt and braces” 
approach.   

Page 93



 

 

 
3.2   The majority of councillors last attended a formal Council meeting (namely budget 

Council) on 27th February 2020, with a handful attending Judicial Committee a week or 
so later. Since then, the Council has been unable to hold meetings due to the Covid 19 
lockdown, ongoing social distancing requirements and the refocussing of priorities on 
measures to address the pandemic and maintain services to the public. Moreover, it is 
not currently known when it will be possible to resume meetings in person. Virtual 
meetings are possible and the plan is to restart these in September.  

 
3.3 Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that where a councillor fails to 

attend any meeting of their authority for a period of six consecutive months from the 
date of the last attendance, subject to certain exceptions, he or she automatically 
ceases to be a member of the authority.  The exceptions relate to military service or 
service of the Queen at a time of war or any emergency related to that service. 

 
3.4 The Council may approve that an absent councillor remain a member of the Council, 

but this decision must be made before the end of the 6 month period and the decision 
cannot be made retrospectively. Unless otherwise stated in the decision the approval 
will not be time limited and it is generally regarded as good practice to specify both the 
reason for which the approval is given and the period for which it will run. 

 
3.5 If councillors do not attend a relevant meeting of the Council on or before 26th August 

2020 (or early September in a few cases), and the Council has not given approval as 
referred to above, then they will automatically cease to be a member of the Council 
and the Council would be under a duty to declare their office vacant under Section 86 
of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 
 
4. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None arising from this report 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

These are set out in section 3 above 

Assessment of risk 
 

The risks arising from non-approval of the 
report are significant. If the Cabinet does not 
make a decision on Member non-attendance 
on or before the 26th August 2020 a 
significant number of Council seats would be 
vacated and it would not be possible to make 
a decision on this matter retrospectively 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 

None arise in relation to this report. 
 
 

Page 94

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

 
 
5. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 2 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION 
 

(Executive Procedure Rule B16) 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Summary and Approvals 
  

1. Title of Report Allotment Rental Charge 2022 and 2023 
 

2. Report Author Ian Marfleet, Regeneration Projects Manager 
 

3. Purpose of Report   
To seek approval for a proposed increase in allotment rent charges from the 1st January 
2022 and 1st January 2023. 

 

4. Decision requested   
Approve the increased allotment rent charges from 1st January 2022 and 1st January 2023, 
as set out in the attached Cabinet Report ‘Allotment Rental Charge 2022 and 2023’. 

 

5. Reason for Urgency 
Cancellation of the Cabinet Meeting due to be held on the 9

th
 September 2020. 

 

6. Approvals of Members and Officers 

 

Designation Signature to give Approval 

Elected Members  
 

Leader of the Council 

Councillor Miles Parkinson 

 

Approved by email 

Deputy Leader of the Council 

Councillor Munsif Dad (on behalf of Cllr 
Paul Cox who has interest in this item) 

 

Approved by email 

Portfolio Holder 

Councillor Jenny Molineux (on behalf of 
Cllr Joyce Plummer who has an interest 
in this item) 

 

Approved by email 

Deputy Mayor on behalf of the Mayor 
who has an interest in this item (to agree 
to exempt from call-in) 

 

Agreed to exempt from call-in 

 

Officers 

 

 

Chief Executive  

 

Absent 

Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker) 

Joe McIntyre 

 

Approved by email 

Page 97



2 of 2 

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 

 

 

Chief Officer/Head of Service 

Simon Prideaux – Head of Planning & 
Transportation 

Approved by email 

 
 

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):   31/07/2020 

Page 98



Page 1 of 9 
 

 AGENDA ITEM            

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 9th September 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Miles Parkinson 

Leader of the Council 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ian Marfleet, Regeneration Projects Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Allotment Rental Charge 2022 and 2023 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Yes If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval for a proposed increase in allotment rent charges from the 1st 

January 2022 and 1st January 2023. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet approves the increased allotment rent charges from 1st January 2022 and 1st 

January 2023, as set out in Paragraph 3.1 of the report, allowing for the statutory 
notification period, as noted in Paragraph 3.5 of the report. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 It is recommended that from 1st January 2022 the allotment rent charge be increased 

from 23.0p/m2 annum to 23.5p/m2 annum (2.2% increase). 
 

It is recommended that from 1st January 2023 the allotment rent charge be increased 
from 23.5p/m2 annum to 24.0p/m2 annum (2.1% increase). 
 
The rent increase will enable the allotment service to continue in its present cost 
neutral format, having taken into consideration the UKs 2022 & 2023 predicted inflation 
rate forecast of 2.0%. 

 
3.2 During 2012 the Council consulted with the allotment tenants.  83% of those 

responding said that rent should be increased regularly in small amounts rather than a 
single large increase at irregular intervals.    

Page 99



Page 2 of 9 
 

3.3 Since 2014 the Council has progressively increased the allotment rents in small annual 
increments to ensure that the annual rate of increase is kept reasonable.  Allotment 
rents are charged by calendar year.  

 
 2014  11p/m2 annum.  *Minimum charge £35.00. 
 
 2015  12p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £35.00. 
 
 2016  13p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £35.00. 
 
 2017  14p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £35.00. 
 
 2018  16p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £40.00. 
 
 2019  18p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £40.00. 
 
 2020  22p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £45.00.  (Approved Cabinet 6.6.2018) 
 
 2021  23p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £50.00.  (Approved Cabinet 6.6.2018) 
 
 2022  23.5p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £50.00. (Recommended this report) 
 
 2023  24p/m2 annum. Minimum charge £50.00. (Recommended this report) 
 

*The minimum charge is the lowest amount of rent charged per plot regardless of plot 
size. 

 
3.4 Prior to 2014 the allotment rents had not been increased since 2006 and were 

amongst the lowest in England (data supplied by the National Allotment Society).  
Between 2006 and 2014 the annual allotment rents were charged at an average of 
7.5p/m2 

 
3.5 The Council has a legal duty to notify tenants 12 months in advance of an allotment 

rent increase.  To facilitate the 1st January 2022 rent increase, allotment tenants must 
be advised in advance of the 31st December 2020. 

 
3.6 Prior to 2020 the Councils allotment service operated a financial deficit.  The allotment 

rent increase in 2020 and 2021 (approved Cabinet 6th June 2018) allowed the 
allotment service to become self-financing cost neutral. 

 
3.7 The recommended rent increase of 2.2% and 2.1% respectively is consistent with the 

current rate of UK national inflation (*1.94%) and the 2022 & 2023 predicted inflation 
rate forecast (*2.0%).  By increasing the allotment rent at the same rate as national 
inflation the allotment service will continue to operate in its present cost neutral format 
without change.  *Statistica.com 

 
  

Page 100



Page 3 of 9 
 

3.8 The Allotment Act 1950 says that an authority may charge such rent as a tenant may 
“reasonably be expected to pay”.  The recommended rental increase has taken 
account of all of the following factors: 

 

 Comparison with other neighbouring Local Authorities (Section 3.9). 

 Comparison with other local recreational activities (Section 3.10). 

 National Allotment Society Policy Document 103. Rents (Section 3.11). 

 Consultation with the Hyndburn Federation of Allotments (Section 5.1). 
 
3.9  Comparison with neighbouring allotment authorities: 

 
The following information was supplied by the various allotment authorities attending 
the 2019 North West Allotment Officers meeting held on the 16th October 2019.  The 
information represents the most up-to-date details of allotment rents charged by those 
attending the meeting.   
 
Bradford     17p/m2 
Bury     68p/m2 (includes water) 
Cheshire West   16.5p/m2 
Colne     36p/m2 
Haworth Cross   14p/m2 
Kendal    37p/m2 
Leeds     29p/m2 
Preston    34p/m2 
Skipton    35p/m2 
St Helens    24p/m2 
Tameside    44p/m2 
 Trafford    41.5p/m2 
 
The following rents are charged in 2020: 
 
Blackburn with Darwen  23p/m2 
Burnley    16p/m2 
 
There is a high degree of variability in the amount of allotment rents charged amongst 
local authorities and parish councils.  It is evident that a number of local authorities 
have not increased their rent for several years, others are using self-managed options 
to keep costs down, whilst others provide a far greater range of direct allotment 
services, including toilets, and similar. 
 
The average rent charged (of the above, but excluding Bury) is 28p/m2.  The rent 
increase recommended in this report remains below average, it is therefore reasonable 
to conclude that the proposal is not inconsistent when compared to other local 
authorities. 

  

Page 101



Page 4 of 9 
 

3.10 There are no recreational activities which are directly comparable to allotments.  The 
Council has introduced rents for the use of football pitches and bowling greens, set at 
an incremental rate to ensure that the use of these facilities become cost neutral.  The 
increase in allotment rents has followed the same trajectory. 

 
3.11 The National Allotment Society has produced Policy Document 103 – Rents.  The 

National Allotment Society recognises within its Policy the significance of rent to the 
allotment provider as an income, and further adds that rents must be reasonable and 
set in accordance with the legal requirement (Section 3.12).  When considering NAS 
Policy 103 the Council has taken the following into account: 

 
• The long-term financial sustainability of the allotments. 
• The nature, quality and cost of facilities provided, including the cost of 

maintenance.   
• Expenditure on management and administration. 

 
With reference to the NAS Policy 103 it is reasonable for the Council to make the 
allotment service cost neutral.  The demand created on the service has established the 
management cost to the Council, and therefore through necessity the level of rent 
charged onward to the allotment tenants. 

 
3.12 Summary of legislation, case law and procedures  
 

Section 10(1) of the Allotments Act 1950 states that “Land let by a Council under   the 
Allotments Acts 1908 to 1931 for use as an allotment shall be let at such rent as a 
tenant may reasonably be expected to pay…”: 

 
Additionally the Council has taken account of existing case law relating to rent 
increases on allotment sites, the most relevant of which is Harwood –v- Borough of 
Reigate and Banstead (1982).  In this case the Court determined that it was the “right 
approach” for the Council “not to discriminate against this recreational activity as 
compared with other recreational activities”.  This case emphasised that it was the 
Council that was required to determine the rent, although representations made by or 
on behalf of tenants should be listened to, the rent was not a matter for agreement 
between the Council and the tenant.  The Council was, under section 10(1) of the 
Allotments Act 1950 required to determine the rent that a notional tenant might 
reasonably be expected to pay, the appropriate test for the Council in determining the 
rent is that it “must take into account all relevant circumstances in a broad, common 
sense way, giving such weight as the Council thought fit to various factors in the 
situation so that it might come to a conclusion that it thought right and fair”. 

 
  

Page 102



Page 5 of 9 
 

3.13 The Allotments Acts 1908-1950 are prescriptive regarding the provision of allotments.  
The Council has had regard to the Allotments Acts when considering the rent on 
allotment sites.  In considering Section 10(1) of the Allotments Act 1950, the Council 
has taken the following into account when proposing the level of allotment rent: 

 

 The rate by which the allotment rent has been increased is comparable to that 
set by other recreational activities within Hyndburn. 

 The tenant consultation during 2012 established that allotment tenants were in 
favour of small regular increases, rather than large increases at irregular 
intervals.  . 

 The allotment rent set by Hyndburn Borough Council remains comparable to 
that set by neighbouring local authorities. 

 Consultation with the Hyndburn Federation of Allotments (HFA), has produced a 
favourable response, accepting that a rent increase is needed to enable the 
service to continue at its present level. 

 The rent increase takes into consideration the rent policy set by the National 
Allotment Society. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 No rent change or reduced rate of increment.  Owing to inflationary pressures and 

increased costs the allotment service will become under-funded in 2022 and 2023 
resulting in the need to achieve cost savings.  The allotment service will be reduced in 
its ability undertake its function in compliance with the allotment tenancy agreement.  

 
In officers’ opinion, there are no other reasonable alternatives.  Officers recommend 
that option 4.1 is rejected on the grounds that the allotment service must continue to 
provide a cost neutral, effective and efficient service in its present format.  The 
recommended option (Section 3.1) is reasonable to ensure that the allotment service 
continues to provide the level of service expected by allotment tenants. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The proposed allotment rent increase was addressed by the Hyndburn Federation of 

Allotments on the 19th June 2020. Cath Holmes, Chair of the Hyndburn Federation of 
Allotments, held no objections to the proposed rent increase.  

  
5.2 Regular Portfolio Holder discussions and site based activities are part of the service 

arrangements.   
 
5.3 A consultation with the allotment community was carried out by questionnaire during 

October/November 2012, which has informed the content of this report.  
  

Page 103



Page 6 of 9 
 

 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

Please refer to Sections: 

3.1 

 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Please refer to Sections: 

3.5 

3.8 

3.12 

3.13 

Assessment of risk 
 

N/A 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Attached  

 
List of Background Papers  

 
Cabinet Report dated 9th January 2013 “Allotment Rental Charges Review” 

Cabinet Report dated 23rd October 2013 “Allotment Rental Charge 2015” 

Cabinet Report dated 3rd December 2014 “Allotment Rental Charge 2016” 

Cabinet Report dated 21st October 2015 “Allotment Rental Charge 2017” 

Cabinet Report dated 7th December 2016 “Allotment Rental Charge 2018” 

Cabinet Report dated 6th December 2017 “Allotment Rental Charge 2019” 

Cabinet Report dated 6th June 2018 “Allotment Rental Charge 2020 and 2021” 

  

Page 104

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/cabinet/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/cabinet/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/cabinet/
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=168&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=1077&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2190&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MID=2303


Page 7 of 9 
 

 
           Appendix 1 
Report to:   Cabinet 
 
Date:    9th September 2020 
 
Portfolio:   Councillor Miles Parkinson 

Leader of the Council 
 
Report Author:  Ian Marfleet, Regeneration Projects Manager 
 
Title of Report:  Allotment Rental Charge 2022 and 2023 
 
Customer First Analysis  
 
1. Purpose 
  
1.1   The purpose of the report is to introduce of a reasonable level of allotment rent charge 

from 1st January 2022 and 1st January 2023. 
 
1.2   Two key aims of the allotment service are to maximise the productive use of the 

allotment resource and to enable more people to benefit from food growing and the 
wider social, health and well-being benefits of allotment life.  This includes encouraging 
and providing opportunities for more people from disadvantaged groups to get 
involved. 

 
1.3  There are a number of the equality characteristics which are relevant to the allotment 

resource and service:-  
 

• Age, with consideration of older age groups and younger people 
• Disability, including wider considerations of well-being, mobility and mental 

health 
• Pregnancy and maternity, in relation to suitability of site conditions and facilities 
• Race, religion or belief, in relation to ethnic communities 

 
2. Evidence 
 
2.1 An allotment consultation carried out in November 2012.  Although the consultation is 

somewhat out of date the cohort of allotment users is not expected to have altered 
greatly since.  A second consultation was carried out in 2018, however the response 
rate was so low that the results cannot be effectively considered.  The low response 
rate may be considered as an overall indicator of satisfaction with the allotment 
service. 

 
2.2 122 people responded to the 2012 allotment consultation.  While it is not certain that 

they are representative of the whole of the allotment community, the results provide an  
indication of equality related characteristics of the allotment community. 

  

Page 105



Page 8 of 9 
 

Age 
 
 18 – 24 yrs  1.5 % 
 25 – 44 yrs 11.5 % 

45 – 64 yrs  47% 
65 – 74 yrs 35% 
Over 75 yrs  5% 

 
Health 

 
Very good 26% 
Good  50% 
Fair  19% 
Bad    5 % 
Very bad   0% 

 
Day to day activities limited because of a health problem or disability 

 
Not limited  68% 
Limited a little 27% 
Limited a lot       5% 

 
2.3 Age ranges are perhaps more wide ranging than in the past, with 13 % of the 

respondents in the younger age groups, 47% in the middle age groups and 40% of the 
respondents in the older age groups. 

 
2.4  While health and mobility is good for the majority, it is significant that around 24% of 

respondents experience less than good health and 32% of respondents have some 
level of mobility limitation.  

 
2.5 23% said their health is better than before they had an allotment.  And of those whose 

health had declined, a massive 83% said that having an allotment had helped to slow 
down the effects of illness or age.   

 
3. Impact 
 
3.1.1 The Council now has tangible evidence that allotment provision contributes to 

improved health and well-being. 
 
3.2 The key equality consideration relating to the rental increase proposal is to ensure that 

no-one is discriminated from being able to access the allotment resource for reasons of 
affordability.   

  

Page 106



Page 9 of 9 
 

 
3.3 The rent review has taken account of all of the relevant factors as follows:- 
 

 Consultation with the Hyndburn Federation of Allotments. 

 Rent comparison with other North West Local Authorities. 

 Comparison of costs with other recreational activities. 

 National Allotment Society policy. 

 Affordability, social and health improvement considerations. 
 
3.4   The allotment resource includes special provisions with raised beds and ‘easy access’ 

beds on a number of sites and accessible and manageable plots of small sizes at 
Meadoway, Norden, Woodnook, Heys and Peel Park.  These provide for people with 
limited mobility, including older age groups, activities for young people and schools 
involvement, disability support groups and encourage involvement from more people 
who are new to food growing or who only have limited time for example due to work, 
family or study commitments.   

 
3.5 The Cabinet report shows that the recommended rent increase is reasonable by, 

balancing all the relevant considerations, including comparison with other similar 
recreational activities, and other local authorities. 

 
3.6 The allotment resource is very wide ranging with plots of many sizes available.  This 

means that people can choose a plot type and size that is directly relevant to their 
needs and affordability.  It is also often possible for an existing plot holder to reduce 
the size of their plot, or to move to more suitable provision, should their needs change 
over time. 

 
3.7 The proposal ensures that the Councils allotment resource remains affordable and 

accessible to all the residents of Hyndburn, regardless of individual circumstances. 
 
4. Actions 
 
4.1   The proposals inherently provide for equality considerations and no further action is 

required. 
 
 
Simon Prideaux 
Chief Officer Planning and Transportation 
19 6 2020 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

1 of 2 

 
 

URGENT CABINET DECISION 
 

B16 EXECUTIVE URGENCY PROCEDURE 

 
(a) Urgent executive decisions which cannot be delayed until the next meeting of the executive or 

executive committee (as the case may be) may be taken by the relevant Chief Officer after 
consultation with the following:  
- Leader  
- a Deputy Leader  
- Relevant portfolio holder (if any) or any other Cabinet member if there is no relevant 

portfolio holder in respect of the decision in question  
- The Mayor, pursuant to Rule C15 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules [i.e. to 

agree that it is exempt from call-in].  
- Plus one of the following:  

- the Chief Executive; or  
- the Executive Director (Resources) (in the absence of the Chief Executive, or if 

the Chief Executive is the decision taker); or  
- the Monitoring Officer (in the absence of the Chief Executive or Executive Director 

(Resources), or if one is absent and the other is the decision taker).  
(b) In the absence of the Leader, Deputy Leader or portfolio holder (if any) the consent of another 

Cabinet member will be required. 
(c)  The urgent decision, the reason for it and the reason for the use of the urgency procedure must 

be reported to the next meeting of the executive or executive committee (as the case may be). 
HBC Constitution, Executive Procedure Rules 

 

 

Subject: Temporary Rent Concession for the Indoor Market Hall Traders due to Coronavirus 
 

Report Author: Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment) 
 

Background: 
During 2018 and 2019 Cabinet approved a number short and longer term rent 
concessions/reductions to the indoor market hall. However, the Coronavirus pandemic has 
placed even further pressures on the high street as people have turned to on-line shopping and 
stayed at home during the lockdown. The indoor market hall has not been immune from these 
pressures, with many stall holders highlighting the high rents/service charges, low footfall/sales 
as the perfect storm for traders/small businesses like theirs. 
 
The market hall traders, whilst fully acknowledging the support already provided by the Council 
in rent concessions since 2018, recently made further representations to officers and the 
Portfolio Holder responsible for Markets, that the rents and service charges remain too high and 
are looking for reductions, given the dramatic reduction in footfall and that there are few signs 
people are returning to the high street anytime soon and accordingly sales are not moving back 
to anything like pre-pandemic levels. 
 

As part of the reopening of the high streets, driving up occupancy rates within the market hall 
will be a key priority over the next 12 to 18 months and offering new traders’ assistance with 

Page 109



 UNCLASSIFIED  
 

2 of 2 

setting up inside the market hall would help manage their initial start-up costs of buying stock, 
fitting out and the initial low sales when starting etc. 
 
In the past, previous market officers have offered various incentives to attract new tenants and 
there are still a number of these historic rent arrangements in place outside the market hall 
which should be standardised. In addition there is no approved policy around rents and service 
charges applied to charitable organisations that are accommodated within the market hall. 
 

Reason for Urgency: 
Due to the ongoing pandemic Cabinet meetings have been temporarily suspended. A decision 
on this matter is needed urgently and cannot wait until the next Cabinet meeting takes place. 
 

Recommendation: 
That Cabinet approves the rent concession for the market hall traders with effect from 1

st
 April 

2020 and until 31
st
 March 2021 as detailed within the report; and 

 
That Cabinet approves the proposal to provide support by short term incentives to attract new 
traders to the market hall as detailed within the report; and 
 
That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director (Environment) following consultation 
with Portfolio Holder responsible for the Markets to standardise the level of rents in locations 
across some other areas of the market as detailed within the report; and 
 
That Cabinet approve a scheme which supports registered charitable organisations through 
peppercorn rents/no service charge as set out in this report; and 
 
That Cabinet notes the rent concessions will reduce income levels for the financial year 
2020/21 as detailed within the report. 
 

Date of Decision (when finally approved):      27
th

 August 2020 

 

Signatures of Members and Officers: 

 

 

Chief Officer Steve Riley ……………… Approved by email 
 

Leader Cllr Miles Parkinson…………… Approved by email 
 

Deputy Leader Cllr Paul Cox…………………… Approved by email 
 

Portfolio Holder  Cllr Joyce Plummer…………… Approved by email 
 

Mayor * 
* to exempt from call-in 
 

Cllr June Harrison..…………… Agreed by email 

Chief Executive, or Dave Welsby…...……………… Approved by email 
 

Executive Director 

(Resources), or  

 

……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 
 

Monitoring Officer  ……………………………………… Approve / Do not approve 

 

Page 110



 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 18 August 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Paul Cox - Deputy Leader - Environmental 
Services 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Temporary Rent Concession for the Indoor Market 
Hall Traders due to Coronavirus 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government Act 
1972, Schedule 12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To consider offering a further rent concessions for the indoor market hall traders due to 

the unpresented pressures involved around the Coronavirus pandemic. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet approves the rent concession for the market hall set out in paragraph 3.4 

and subject to the conditions in paragraph 3.5 of this report, with effect from 1st April 
2020 and until 31st March 2021; and 

 
2.2 That Cabinet approves a scheme to provide support by short term incentives to attract 

new traders to the market hall as set out in paragraph 3.9, 3.10 and 3.11 of this report; 
and 

 
2.3 That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director (Environment) following 

consultation with Portfolio Holder responsible for the markets to standardise the level 
of rents in locations across some other areas of the market as set out in paragraph 
3.12 of this report; and 

 
2.4 That Cabinet approve a scheme which supports registered charitable organisations 

through peppercorn rents/no service charge as set out in paragraph 3.13 of this report; 
and 

 
2.5 That Cabinet notes the rent concession will reduce income levels for the financial year 

2020/21 and it is unlikely any efficiency savings will offset this. 
 
 
  

Page 111



 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Trading conditions within the indoor market continue to face unprecedented pressures 

from reduced footfall as a result of on-line shopping and out of town centre retail 
centres/supermarkets following the Coronavirus pandemic and this is likely to be for 
the foreseeable future. 

 
 3.2 In February 2018 Cabinet approved a 50% concession on rent and service charges for 

2 months. In August 2018, Cabinet approved a permanent reduction in rents of 13.4%, 
and in November 2019 approved a 30% rent concession for a period of three years 
commencing 1st January 2020. 

 
3.3 The market hall traders, whilst fully acknowledging the support already provided by the 

Council in rent reductions since 2018, have made further representations by letter to 
officers and the Portfolio Holder responsible for Markets. The indoor traders continue 
to express concerns that the rents and service charges remain too high, given the 
dramatic reduction in footfall, and with little signs it is returning to pre-pandemic levels. 
The letter signed by 12 indoor traders requested; 

 
I. An immediate reduction of at least 50% in the rents. 

II. The total removal of all service charges. 
III. The Council to review its policy of charging full rent and service charges whilst 

the traders were locked out and prevented from working. 
 
3.4 This proposal sets out a 22.5% rent concession for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st 

March 2021, which would reduce the current market hall charge from £13.30 sq. ft. to 
£10.31 sq. ft. This would see the Council facing a reduction in rental income of 
approximately £27,000 for the financial year 2020/21. 

 
3.5 The concession offered to the market hall traders will be on the condition that they 

continue to make all monthly rent or other payments via Direct Debit, (DD) and adhere 
to the Council’s Market Regulations, which will include remaining trading during the 
agreed market hall opening hours. Where a current market hall trader is in rent arrears, 
no concession will be applied to the arrears and any credits will be used to reduce the 
outstanding debt. Where a trader is up to date, any credits will be returned in full. Any 
tenant not agreeing to these conditions will remain on the existing sq. ft. rental charge. 

 
3.6 There is no proposal to make any adjustments to the service charges, (such as 

electricity, gas, water etc.) as these are simply passed on to the trader at cost i.e. the 
Council does not add any administrative charge on top of these costs. However, if it is 
possible to make efficiency savings over the next 12 months, these will be passed on 
through future reductions in service charges. 

 
3.7 A number of traders continued to operate as normal throughout the Coronavirus 

lockdown and anyone that was eligible received the Government’s Small Business 
Grant of £10,000 to support them during this period. This was no doubt especially 
helpful to those in leases for covering fixed expenditure costs such as rents and 
service charges.    

 

Page 112



 

3.8 As part of the reopening of the high streets, driving up occupancy rates within the 
market hall will be a key priority over the next 12 to 18 months and offering new 
traders’ assistance with setting up inside the market hall would help manage their initial 
start-up costs of buying stock, fitting out and the initial low sales when starting etc. 

 
3.9 In an effort to attract new traders into the market hall, it is proposed to have (at the 

discretion of the Market Manager) a standard introductory offer consisting of a 3 month 
lease which sets out the gradual increase in rents and service charges during this 
period where all payments must be made by Direct Debit.  

 
3.10 The standard offer would be as follows and cannot be used on multiple occasions by 

the same business, owner/person or other family member selling the same or different 
products/services; 

 

 First month 100% reduction in all rent and service charges. 

 Second month 66% reduction in the relevant rent and service charge at the 
time. 

 Third month 33% reduction in the relevant rent and service charge at the time.  
 
3.11 On the first day of month four, the trader would need to have already signed up to a 

long term lease at 100% of the relevant rent and service charge at the time, (to 
continue trading) or leave the market with no further trading being permitted.  

 
3.12 In the past, previous market officers have offered various incentives to attract new 

traders and there are still a number of these historic rent arrangements in place outside 
the market hall which should be standardised. The proposal would be to simply 
equalise the different historic arrangements so the outside traders within the same type 
of unit/stall all pay the same rent per sq. ft. 

 
3.13 Historically, there is no approved policy around rents and service charges applied to 

charitable organisations that are accommodated within the market hall. It is proposed 
that the Executive Director Environment be given delegated authority, following 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder, and at their sole 
discression, to offer a registered charity a lease at a peppercorn rent and no service 
charge on condition that the lease is excluded from statutory security of tenure and can 
be terminated by the Council on short notice (such as two months or otherwise as the 
Executive Director decides). The ability to terminate the lease would enable the 
Council to re-let the unit more commercially if a suitable tenant came forward.  

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could leave the rents at the current level. It is suggested that this is 

rejected because there is acceptance that footfall levels have declined and there is still 
a political wish to see the market hall occupied and providing a range of traditional 
stalls and no desire for ever lower occupancy levels. 

 
4.2 The Council could consider a different concession as chosen by some property 

owners/landlords i.e. even lower rents or 12 month free of any rent/service charge but 

Page 113



 

this would add further pressures to the Council’s financial budget, which more than 
likely could only be achieved through additional income generated from Council Tax. 
Given the Council is not in a position to match any long rent free periods, there is still a 
political wish to see traders pay an acceptable level of rent for trading within the market 
hall. 

  
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Portfolio Holder for the Markets, Executive Director and the acting Markets 

Manager have held meetings with the indoor marker hall traders in July and August.   
 
5.2 Legal Services colleagues have also been consulted about the mechanisms for 

achieving the recommendations in this report. 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 

The proposed 22.5% rent concession within 
this report would reduce income by Circa 
£27,000 for the financial year 2020/21.  
 
The introductory offer for new traders would not 
incur any further reductions as these would be 
new businesses filling empty stalls with the 
potential to increase income for the Council. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 

As traders are signed up to leases, colleagues 
in legal services have drafted a simple letter 
that can be sent to each trader, making 
reference to the lease and detailing the 
additional rent concession proposed within this 
report. 

Assessment of risk 
 

This further concession attempts to bring the 
market hall charges to levels that can be 
afforded by business within the market hall, 
given the reduced footfall from the Coronavirus 
pandemic. However, the Council cannot 
support every business within the market hall 
and there may be some businesses that are no 
longer viable no matter what level of rent the 
Council charged. 
 
The risk from the decision is that the 
concession fails to make any difference to the 
performance of the market hall. If the reduction 
in rental income continues to grow, this will add 
further pressures to the Council’s financial 
budget. If this is not addressed over the coming 
years, it may reach the point where the Council 

Page 114



 

might have to consider the long term viability of 
the market, as it now requires the Council to 
subsidise its operation.   

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

None from this report 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Cabinet Report of the 14th of February 2018: - Market Hall Rents and Charges Review 

 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2192&Ver=4 

 
Cabinet report 29 August 2018: Accrington Market – Review of Charges 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2368&Ver=4  

 
 Cabinet Report of the 13th November 2019 – Accrington Markets – Review of Rents and 

Charges 

 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2465&Ver
=4  

Page 115

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2192&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2368&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2465&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2465&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 2 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION 
 

(Executive Procedure Rule B16) 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Summary and Approvals 
  

1. Title of Report 

 
Equality and Diversity Strategy 2020-2025 
 

2. Report Author 

 
Kirsten Burnett, Head of Policy and Organisational Development 
 

3. Purpose of Report 
 
To propose an Equality and Diversity Strategy for the period 2020-25. 
 
Our previous Equality and Diversity Scheme took us through to the end of 2018.  In 2019 there 
were resolutions passed by Council to accept definitions of antisemitism and islamophobia which 
were to be incorporated into a new document.  This was published as a consultation document with 
feedback invited by early 2020.  13 people responded and as a result an additional action relating to 
our work with refugees has been added. 
 
The revised document would have been presented to Cabinet around March 2020 but the covid-19 
pandemic and work required over the last few months has prevented this.  There are occasions 
where we are asked to provide our strategy, for example when bidding for funding, and it also 
shows our commitment to meeting our legal obligations and provides a framework for action. 
 

4. Decision requested 

 
Cabinet are asked to agree the attached. 
 

5. Reason for Urgency 
 
The current Equality and Diversity Scheme expired at the end of 2018. 
 

6. Approvals of Members and Officers 

 

Designation Signature to give Approval 

Elected Members  
 

Leader of the Council 

Cllr Miles Parkinson 

Approved by email 

 

Deputy Leader of the Council 

Cllr Paul Cox 

Approved by email 

 

Portfolio Holder 

Cllr Joyce Plummer  

Approved by email 

 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 

Cllr June Harrison 

Agreed by email 

 

Page 117



2 of 2 

 

Officers 

 

 

Chief Executive, David Welsby 

 

Approved by email 

Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker) 

 

-  

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 

 

 - 

Chief Officer/Head of Service 

 

 
 
 

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):  28
th
 August 2020 

Page 118



 

1 
 

 
 
 

 
Our Equality 
and Diversity 

Strategy: 2020-
2025 

 

 
 Page 119



 

2 
 

Contents 
 
 

1. Setting the context ......................................................................................................................... 3 

2. The Public Sector Equality Duty .................................................................................................... 4 

3. The Protected Characteristics ........................................................................................................ 4 

3.1 Disability .................................................................................................................................. 4 
3.2 Gender Equality ....................................................................................................................... 5 
3.3 Race Equality ........................................................................................................................... 6 

3.4 Religion and belief ................................................................................................................... 6 
3.5 Specific Definitions adopted by the Council ............................................................................. 7 

3.6 Age .......................................................................................................................................... 7 

3.7 Sexual orientation .................................................................................................................... 7 
3.8 Marriage and Civil Partnership ................................................................................................. 8 
3.9 Pregnancy and maternity ......................................................................................................... 8 

3.10 Socio-economic inequality .................................................................................................... 8 
4. Human Rights Issues ..................................................................................................................... 8 

5. Hate Crimes and Incidents ............................................................................................................. 9 

6. Our commitment to equality and diversity ...................................................................................... 9 

7. How we will deliver our equality objectives .................................................................................. 10 

7.1 Customer First Analyses ........................................................................................................ 10 
7.2 Responsibility for Equalities ................................................................................................... 10 
7.3 Reporting procedures ............................................................................................................ 10 

7.4 Employment and training ....................................................................................................... 11 
8. Monitoring our services ................................................................................................................ 11 

9. Our Equality and Diversity Actions ............................................................................................... 12 

 
 

 

Page 120



 

3 
 

1. Setting the context 
 
Hyndburn lies right at the heart of Pennine Lancashire and consists of 14 towns and villages.  The 
Borough covers 73 square kilometers and in 2011 had a population of 80,734.   
 
Hyndburn has the smallest land area of the 14 authorities in the broader Lancashire area.  In 
common with some of the other districts in East Lancashire, there are significant issues with regard to 
the quality and price of housing, net population migration, health, job creation and areas of severe 
deprivation.   
 
We are working hard to address these issues and our Vision is “Driving growth and prosperity in 
Hyndburn”.  Our Corporate Strategy sets out how we will address this. 
 
This policy aims to: 
 

 highlight the different kinds of equalities issues; 

 consider community cohesion, integration and social inclusion, community engagement and 
participation; 

 show how we need to consider a wide variety of factors to understand the concerns and 
barriers facing our communities; 

 set out our corporate approach to equalities; and 

 set key actions for the lifetime of this strategy. 
 
Equality and diversity underpins our overall council strategy, our policies and procedures and our 
corporate values. 
 

Our Values 
 
Teamwork 
We promote a friendly and supportive working environment.  We will work together across teams, 
services and with partners to achieve the objectives of the Council and the best outcomes for our 
customers. 

 
Customer focus 
We will make best use of our resources to support the delivery of excellent services to our 
customers.  We will treat each customer as a valued individual and show sensitivity to their needs 
and differences. 

 
Integrity 
We will always try to do the right thing.  We will act and communicate honestly and openly, honour 
our commitments and be accountable for our actions. 
 
Positive attitude 
We will be proactive and optimistic in finding solutions to challenges, open to improved ways of 
working and to updating our knowledge and skills to meet these changes. 

 
The Equality Act 2010 sets out distinct strands, known as “protected characteristics”.  These are age, 
disability, ethnicity, gender (including gender identity), religion and belief, sexual orientation, 

Page 121



 

4 
 

pregnancy and maternity and marriage and civil partnership.  These issues are often inter-related and 
it can be the combination of these factors that leads to social exclusion. 
 

2. The Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
As a Public Sector organisation, the Council has certain duties under the Equality Act 2010.  We must 
have due regard for these when going about our business.  These are: 
 

 eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act; 

 advancing equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share it; and 

 fostering good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and people who 
do not share it. 

 
These are sometimes referred to as the three aims or arms of the general equality duty. The Act 
explains that having due regard for advancing equality involves: 

 removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics; 

 taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are different from 
the needs of other people; and 

 encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities 
where their participation is disproportionately low. 

 

3. The Protected Characteristics 
 

3.1 Disability 
 
When carrying out our functions, we will try to: 
 

 promote positive attitudes towards people with disabilities; 

 encourage participation by people with disabilities in public life; 

 promote equality of opportunity between people with or without disabilities; 

 eliminate disability-related harassment; 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination; and 

 take steps to meet the needs of people with disabilities, even if this requires treatment that is 
more favourable. 

 
This applies to all of our functions and activities including employment, service delivery, budget 
setting, procurement and regulatory functions. 
 
It is important to consider what we mean by the term “disability”.  The Equality Act 2010 says that 
person has a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment, and this impairment has a 
substantial and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities.  This 
could include, for example, problems with mobility, manual dexterity, physical co-ordination, 
continence, ability to lift, carry or move everyday objects, speech, hearing or eyesight, memory or 
ability to learn and understand, ability to concentrate, or where a person’s perception of risk or 
physical danger is impaired.  This is not an exhaustive list, but it provides a guide. 

Page 122



 

5 
 

 
The 2011 Census showed that 21.7% of Hyndburn residents consider that their day-to-day activities 
are limited to some extent by a long-terms health problem or disability. 
 

3.2 Gender Equality 
 
We will try to: 
 

 promote equality of opportunity between people of different gender identities, including people 
undergoing gender re-assignment; 

 eliminate sex discrimination; and 

 have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination and harassment against men, 
women and people undergoing gender re-assignment, in the fields of employment, vocational 
training and in the provision of goods and services; and 

 challenge any discriminatory attitudes or practices that exist. 
 
Gender Reassignment includes anyone who is proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has 
undergone a process (or part of process) to reassign their sex.  The Equality and Human Rights 
Commission notes that the preferred umbrella term is “trans” which encompasses different forms of 
gender identity, such as people who identify as non-binary.   We understand and respect that there 
can be differences between assigned sex and gender identity and expression and we value all of our 
staff and customers, including individuals who identify outside of the gender binary.   
 
We report on our gender pay gap in line with legal requirements.  We will take any actions we decide 
are appropriate if the pay gap information highlights any concerns. 
 
3.2.1 Domestic Abuse 
 
This can be defined as any incident of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or 
abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or have been intimate partners or family members, 
regardless of their gender or sexuality.  This definition incorporates forced marriage, dowry related 
abuse, female genital mutilation and so called ‘honour’ killings, as well as elder abuse when 
committed within the family or by an intimate partner. 
 
Domestic abuse can have truly devastating effects – not only for victims themselves, but also for any 
children who witness it.  The costs, in terms of service, lost economic output, and human misery are 
huge.  It is associated with a range of adverse health outcomes. 
 
The Hyndburn Community Safety Partnership has been in existence since 1998: it includes a range 
of organisations from the voluntary, community and statutory sectors.  Its aim is to make Hyndburn a 
safer place to live, work and visit by working in partnership and one of its key priorities is to reduce 
domestic violence. 
 
The Hyndburn and Ribble Valley Domestic Violence Team (HARV) provides advice and support from 
HARV for women and children suffering from abuse in the home. 

Across Lancashire, the strategy and action plans for tackling domestic violence are co-ordinated via 
the Pan Lancashire Strategic Domestic Abuse Board. 

Page 123



 

6 
 

The Council has a Domestic Abuse Policy which outlines how it will support employees and 
customers who are dealing with domestic abuse, as well as signposting people to sources of 
specialist support. 

3.3 Race Equality 
 
In the Equality Act, race can mean someone’s colour, or their nationality (including citizenship). It can 
also mean their ethnic or national origins, which may not be the same as their current nationality. For 
example, a person may have Chinese national origins and be living in Britain with a British passport. 
 
Race also covers ethnic and racial groups. This means a group of people who all share the same 
protected characteristic of ethnicity or race.  
 
Public authorities must promote race equality and ensure that employment and services (including 
services provided through other organisations on their behalf) are fair and accessible for everyone. 
 
Both institutional and individual racism “can be seen or detected in processes, attitudes and 
behaviour which amount to discrimination through unwitting prejudice, ignorance, thoughtlessness, 
and racist stereotyping which disadvantages ethnic minority people.”  We recognise that institutional 
racism can exist, and that no organisation is immune. 
 
Hyndburn has a high percentage of people from BAME backgrounds.  85.3% are White British.  
11.2% are Asian / Asian British.  The largest minority group is Pakistani at 9.35% of the local 
population. 
 
We have a large Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community and have 15 sites within Hyndburn. 
 
We are proud of our excellent record of working with partners across Lancashire on programmes 
such as the Syrian Resettlement Programme and more recently the Global Resettlement Programme.  
This has helped families settle into our communities and build new lives. 
 
94.1% of people living in Hyndburn speak English.  The other top languages spoken are: 2.4% 
Panjabi; 1.3% Urdu; 1.0% Polish; 0.2% Bengali; 0.1% Pakistani Pahari; 0.1% All other Chinese; 0.1% 
Italian; 0.1% Arabic; and 0.1% Cantonese Chinese. 
 

3.4 Religion and belief 
 
This characteristic covers any religion or any religious or philosophical belief, including a lack of 
religion or belief 
 
Faith groups have a positive impact on our local communities.  They bring opportunities to create 
face-to-face dialogue, which supports a greater understanding of shared values, appreciation of 
distinctiveness and for side-by-side collaborative social action. 
 
The religious make up of Hyndburn in the last census was: 66.4% Christian; 16.7% No religion; 
10.3% Muslim; 0.2% Buddhist; and 0.1% Hindu. 
 

Page 124



 

7 
 

3.5 Specific Definitions adopted by the Council 
 
Antisemitism 
The Council has adopted the International Holocaust Memorial Alliance (IHRA) definition of 
antisemitism and its examples1.  The definition states: “Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, 
which may be expressed as hatred toward Jews.  Rhetorical and physical manifestations of 
antisemitism are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, toward 
Jewish community institutions and religious facilities.”  
 
Islamophobia 
Islamophobia is rooted in racism and is a type of racism that targets expressions of Muslimness or 
perceived Muslimness. 
 

3.6 Age 
 
The law regarding age discrimination covers organisations providing goods, facilities and services 
and carrying out public services as well as in the employment sector.   
 
Older people, particularly in rural areas, can face social isolation and can feel cut off from the wider 
community.  Young people can often feel socially excluded and marginalised within their 
communities.  We try to engage with people of all ages to empower them to participate in their local 
communities. 
 
In the last census, the average age of people in Hyndburn was 39 years of age.  The authority has a 
tendency towards a younger population and fewer people of pensionable age than is the average for 
England and Wales. 
 
 
There are around 16,400 young people aged 0 - 15 in Hyndburn: together this group accounts for 
20.4% of the local population.  Hyndburn’s Children's and Young People’s Trust has identified the 
following priorities: 
 

 Child Sexual Exploitation; 

 Domestic Violence; 

 Drugs and Alcohol; 

 Educational Attainment; and 

 Participation and Engagement of Children and Young People.  
 
There are around 13,400 people aged 65 and over in Hyndburn which represents 16.7% of the local 
population.  By 2021, the population aged over 65 in Hyndburn is projected to be 14,500.  
 

3.7 Sexual orientation 
 
The Equality Act 2010 says that people must not be discriminated against because: 

 they are heterosexual, gay, lesbian or bisexual; or 
 someone thinks they have a particular sexual orientation (this is known as discrimination by 

perception); or 

                                            
1
 https://www.holocaustremembrance.com/sites/default/files/press_release_document_antisemitism.pdf 

 
Page 125

http://www.lancashire.gov.uk/corporate/web/?siteid=6120&pageid=35455&e=e
https://www.holocaustremembrance.com/sites/default/files/press_release_document_antisemitism.pdf


 

8 
 

 they are connected to someone who has a particular sexual orientation (this is known as 
discrimination by association) 

 
In the Equality Act, sexual orientation includes how people choose to express their sexual orientation, 
such as through their appearance or the places they visit. 
 
Homophobia is the irrational hatred, intolerance, and fear of lesbian, gay and bisexual, transgender or 
questioning (LGBTQ) people.  These negative feelings fuel the myths, stereotypes, and discrimination 
that are harmful and can lead to violence against LGBTQ people. 
 

3.8 Marriage and Civil Partnership 
 
Within Hyndburn (2011 census) 44.4% of people are married, 12.4% cohabit with a member of the 
opposite sex, 0.6% live with a partner of the same sex, 24.5% are single and have never married or 
been in a registered same sex partnership, 10.2% are separated or divorced. 
 

3.9 Pregnancy and maternity 
 
There are specific provisions of the Equality Act relating to employment rights for women who are 
pregnant or have recently given birth.  Pregnancy and maternity-related discrimination can also occur 
outside of the workplace if a woman is treated unfavourably because of her pregnancy or because 
she has given birth (within the past 26 weeks) and, in particular, because she is breastfeeding. 
 

3.10 Socio-economic inequality 
 
Whilst not a protected characteristic under the Equality Act, the Council considers socio-economic 
inequality as an important issue and for a long time this has been key to how the Council sets its 
priorities.  Inequality is not just about gender, race, disability, or the other protected characteristics.  It 
is also about social class – family background or place of birth.  By socio-economic disadvantage we 
mean the state of being disadvantaged in life.  This applies in terms of getting on, getting educated, getting a 
job.  It is influenced by one or more of a range of external factors.  Poverty is one such factor, but it can also 
be about the complex interplay of factors such as health, housing, education, and family background, and the 
resulting lack of ambitions and expectations, that so often combine to keep people in poverty, and limit their 
chances of upward social mobility. 
 
 

4. Human Rights Issues 
 
Human Rights are about our basic needs as human beings - the core rights we are all entitled to so 
that we can develop our potential and live our lives with fairness dignity and respect.  The Council has 
legal duties as a public authority to act compatibly with UK law in the Human Rights Act, along with 
the related duties in relation to equality and anti-discrimination laws. 
 
Human Rights should be looked at when planning, reporting, policy, day-today decision-making and 
practice.  Many of the important aspects of the rights are as follows; 
 

 the right to life; 

 the right not to be tortured or treated in an inhuman or degrading way; 

 the right to be free from slavery or forced labour; 

 the right to liberty and security; Page 126



 

9 
 

 the right to a fair trial; 

 the right to no punishment without law; 

 the right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence; 

 the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion; 

 the right to freedom of expression; 

 the right to freedom of assembly and association; 

 the right to marry and found a family; 

 the right not to be discriminated against in relation to the enjoyment of any rights contained in 
the European Convention; 

 the right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions; 

 the right to education; and 

 the right to free elections. 
 
 

5. Hate Crimes and Incidents 
 
A hate incident is any incident which the victim, or anyone else, thinks is based on someone’s 
prejudice towards them because of their race or perceived race; religion or perceived religion; sexual 
orientation or perceived sexual orientation; disability or perceived disability; or motivated by hostility 
or prejudice against a person who is transgender or perceived to be transgender.  Hate incidents 
cause alarm, distress or harassment. 
 
Not all hate incidents will amount to criminal offences, but those that do become hate crimes. 
 
The Council’s Hate Crime and Incident Procedure outlines how the Council will respond to report of 
hate crimes or incidents. 
 

6. Our commitment to equality and diversity 
 
This policy is part of our continuing approach to address equality and diversity in Hyndburn.  We will 
continue to mainstream our approach to equality and diversity into our service planning and delivery 
activities.  We recognise and value the diversity of our communities in our work. 
 
Not only do we aim to carry out all of our legislative duties but we also want to go beyond what is 
required of us.  We will also work towards our equality objectives so that we can actively promote 
equality for all of our residents and address any issues that exist.  We recognise our community 
leadership role and use this to work towards a cohesive community in which inequality is tackled and 
equality promoted.  
 
Diversity is about recognising and embracing differences.  People are not the same and by 
recognising this, we look at the specific needs of individuals and social groups.  This strategy is about 
treating people fairly and recognising their differences.  This works at three levels: 
 

 community relations - how we engage with and understand the needs of our communities; 

 service delivery – taking into account differences by providing a choice of services and 
responding to a range of needs; and 

 internally - how we apply our HR policies and our attitudes and differences in the work place. 
 

Page 127



 

10 
 

This policy applies to both our internal and external operations.  It covers all aspects of our work and 
applies to officers, councillors, partner organisations, contractors and anyone we are working with.  It 
states our position as an organisation and our high-level commitment to recognising and promoting 
equality and diversity. 
 

 

7. How we will deliver our equality objectives 
 
This section sets out our approach to incorporating equality and diversity as part of our work in order 
to meet our equality objectives.  This builds on our legal requirements and embraces the protected 
characteristics. 
 

7.1 Customer First Analyses 
 
An equality impact assessment is a way of assessing and consulting on the effect a policy, project or 
service is likely to have on different groups of people.  Within the Council, we call this process 
Customer First Analysis.  Our approach is deliberately simple to carry out and understand.  Our focus 
is on making this a useful part of the decision-making process which does not feel unnecessarily 
bureaucratic for those involved.  
 
We screen all reports when they go to Cabinet, Council or other decision-making groups as 
appropriate.  This means that we consider the implications of the policy, project or service in relation 
to our priorities and promises and the impact they will have on our communities.  This is a time where 
the impact of services is looked at including issues such as: 
 

 Do we have adequate information about the impact of our services? 

 What consultation have we conducted to ensure they are meeting residents’ needs? 

 Have there been any complaints or other feedback, that we can learn from? 

 How can we ensure our services are not having an adverse impact or resulting in any 
discrimination? 

 How can we develop the policy, project or service so that it will help us to deliver our equality 
duties? 

 Can we learn from good practice in other organisations? 
 

7.2 Responsibility for Equalities 
 
We believe that all elected members and staff have responsibility for delivering fair services to all and 
we ensure that equality issues are considered in our decision-making and policy development. 
 
We have a Cabinet Member with responsibility for equality within the Health and Communities 
portfolio and a nominated senior manager who leads this work, currently the Head of Policy and 
Organisational Development. 
 

7.3 Reporting procedures 
 
The Council has a Hate Crime and Incident Procedure for reporting and responding to hate crimes 
and incidents.  This aims to ensure that all such episodes are reported and are dealt with promptly, 
appropriately and effectively and to aid the evaluation, review and development of best practice.  Our 
Grievance, Whistleblowing and Complaints procedures allow staff, elected members and customers 
to raise concerns. Page 128



 

11 
 

 

7.4 Employment and training 
 
Equality and diversity is embedded within all of our employee-related matters.  Our recruitment and 
selection procedures aim to ensure that anyone involved in the recruitment and selection of 
employees to the Council is following good management practice and legal obligations.  We ensure 
there is fair and equal pay through a job evaluation scheme and we regularly report on and examine 
our workforce profile information. 
 
Monitoring takes place as part of our overall recruitment processes.  This involves monitoring 
information and statistics regarding the profile of applicants entering into the recruitment process. 
We are committed to developing our employees and providing equal access to training and 
development opportunities.  By developing our people this has a positive impact on our services and 
performance.  We ask for monitoring information in our employee surveys. 
 
Training is a key part of our approach to diversity.  This aims to address diversity issues and raise 
awareness.  All of our diversity training incorporates links to our equality objectives and details set out 
in this policy. 
 
As well as with our own staff it is important that we also consider diversity issues in relation to our 
partners and key contractors.  All staff who are involved in procurement and contracting related 
activity are required to consider diversity issues.  Similarly, all partners, contractors and consultants 
are required to comply in all respects with our policies, contract procedure rules and financial 
regulations where appropriate. 
 

 

8. Monitoring our services  
 
Monitoring plays an important role in our equality and diversity work. 
  
Legislation requires us to monitor services in relation to race, gender and disability.  This legislation 
does not set out the specific ways in which we must monitor services but it requires us to ensure that 
no discrimination exists within the services we provide and that we must ensure equal access to our 
services.  To establish this we need to be able to know more about the customers that are using our 
services to ensure there are no barriers to access.  Sometimes monitoring can seem to be an 
intrusive process for customers and colleagues so we need to make it clear to them why we are 
asking personal questions. 
 
We will use impact assessments to establish gaps in information we have about our customers and 
we will build on existing monitoring systems we have in place and our developing customer insight 
tools.  This will include identifying high-risk areas where additional monitoring is required. 
 
 
 

Page 129



 

12 
 

9. Our Equality and Diversity Actions 
 
The following actions will support us to meet our equality duty.  Further actions may be identified 
during the life of this strategy. 

 
a) Review our Customer First Analysis process – our way of conducting equality impact 

assessments (EIAs). 

b) Continue to carry out and publish Customer First Analyses to support relevant decisions. 

c) Produce and publish an annual workforce monitoring report. 

d) Report on our gender pay gap each year and take any action identified as a result of this. 

e) Consider equality and diversity-related training needs each year when planning learning and 
development activities. 

f) Continuing to evaluate jobs against an approved scheme to maintain integrity of pay. 

g) Promote flexible working opportunities as available to all employees, regardless of gender. 

h) Collect monitoring information when appropriate for access to services and responses to 
consultation processes. 

i) Ensure our Hate Crime and Safeguarding Policies are kept up to date and understood by our 
staff and elected members, and that we engage with partners to address issues and raise 
awareness. 

j) Review our Dignity at Work Policy and ensure that staff understand how they can address 
unacceptable behaviour at work. 

k) Review and where possible improve how we support staff who have been the subject of 
discriminatory conduct from customers and ensure we are doing all we can to minimise the 
risks of this occurring. 

l) Maintain our “White Ribbon” accreditation to signify our commitment to tackling domestic 
abuse. 

m) Ensure that meeting venues and services are accessibile and adjustments made to support 
individual needs. 

n) Support Hate Crime Awareness week and other relevant campaigns. 

o) Ensure that we meet our responsibilities, alongside working with partners, to support refugees 
and asylum seekers and report on this work to elected members. 

p) Continue to offer Dementia Awareness training to staff, especially those who deal directly with 
customers. 

q) Use loop system at meetings and provide sign language interpreters or large print copies of 
paperwork when requested. 

Page 130



 

13 
 

r) Provide material relevant to consultation & engagement in different forms (including holding 
events, making printed/graphic material web accessible, personal contact by phone, email or 
visit on request, etc.). 

 
 

More information 
 
If you wish to discuss this policy or 
have any questions please contact 
Kirsten Burnett, Head of Policy and 
Organisational Development, on 
01254 380694, or email 
kirsten.burnett@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
 
If you require this information in a 
different format, for example large 
print, audio or in different 
languages, please let us know.  
 

 
 

Page 131

mailto:kirsten.burnett@hyndburnbc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

URGENT CABINET DECISION 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Summary and Approvals 
 

 
A report, using the Cabinet report template, must be attached. 
 
  

1. Title of Report: Surrender of Lease from Mercer House 1842 in respect of 
Mercer House, Clayton Le Moors 

 

 
2. Report Author Helen McCue-Melling – Regeneration & Property Manager 
 
 
3. Purpose of Report: To seek urgent approval to: 
 
  
3.1       accept the surrender of the 25 year lease from Mercer House 1842, of Mercer 
House, Clayton Le Moors.   
 
3.2    accept the current condition of the property at the date of surrender and seek to 
recover all costs to be incurred for rectification of compliance matters 
 
3.3    Commence negotiations with potential tenants 
 

 
4. Decision requested: That Cabinet agree to:-  
 
 
4.1 accept the surrender of the 25 year lease from Mercer House 1842, of Mercer 
House, Clayton Le Moors; 
 
4.2 accept the current condition of the property but seek to recover all costs that may be 
incurred in carrying out any repairs or upgrades that should have been completed by the 
outgoing tenant under the terms of the lease and which will be required to be completed by 
the Council before re-occupation; 
 
4.3 Begin negotiations with future occupants in order to bring options back to Cabinet at a 
future date for consideration and approval of Cabinet’s preferred occupier. 
 
 

Page 133



5. Reason for Urgency: 
 
5.1 Mercer House was vacated by the current tenants, Mercer House 1842 back in January 
2020 without giving the proper notice as required by the lease and has been vacant ever 
since. The current tenants have recently signed a Deed of Surrender which will be accepted 
subject to this approval. This will enable officers to: bring the lease to an end; request that 
Land Registry remove lease from title of the property; begin negotiations with new tenants; 
commence the legal work to ensure reoccupation of the building, which the Council holds in 
trust; carry out any remediation work, all as soon as is practicably possible.  
 
5.2 The current tenant has applied to Companies House to dissolve the Company, Mercer 
House 1842 and if successful will mean the Council may  result in complex and prolonged 
legal procedures to terminate the lease and remove the legal title registered at the Land 
Registry making re-occupation of the property difficult  for the foreseeable future. The 
Council has objected to this application and as such the date of the decision to be made by 
Companies House has been delayed to 18th November 2020 when the application to 
dissolve may be approved.  
 
5.3 The current Covid Pandemic means Cabinet Meetings do not resume until mid 
September 2020 which will be too late to take action as described. 
 
   
 
6. Approvals of Members and Officers 
 

 
Designation 

 
Signature 

 
Leader, Cllr Miles Parkinson 

 
Approval by email 

 
Deputy Leader, Cllr Paul Cox 

 
Approval by email 

 
Portfolio Holder, Cllr Loraine Cox 

 
Approval by email 

 
Chief Officer, Mark Hoyle 

 
Approval by email 

 
Chief Executive, Dave Welsby  
 

 
Approval by email 

Monitoring Officer (in the absence of the 
Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 
 

 
 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 
Cllr June Harrison 
 

 
Agreement by email 

 
 
 
7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):   3rd September 2020 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



Page 1 of 5 
 

  

 AGENDA ITEM   .           

REPORT TO: Cabinet  

DATE:  September  2020 

PORTFOLIO Housing & Regeneration 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen McCue-Melling Regeneration & Property 
Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Surrender of Lease granted to Mercer House 1842 of 
Mercer House, Clayton Le Moors  

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval for officers to accept the surrender of the current lease of Mercer 
House from Mercer 1842 (no need to repeat the recommendations in full here) 
 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
That Cabinet 
 
2.1 Agree to accept the surrender of the 25 year lease of Mercer House, Clayton Le Moors 
from the tenant Mercer 1842 
 
2.2 Accept the current condition of the property but seek to recover costs that may be 
incurred in carrying out any repairs or upgrades that should have been completed by the 
outgoing tenant under the terms of the lease and which will be required to be completed by 
the Council before re-occupation.  
 
 

Page 135



Page 2 of 5 
 

2.3 note that officers will begin negotiations with potential future occupants in order to bring 
options back to Cabinet at a future date for consideration and approval of Cabinet’s preferred 
occupier. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Mercer House 1842 (MH1842) entered into a 25 year lease with the Council 29/09/11 
to occupy Mercer House. In January 2020 MH 1842, vacated the building and it has been 
vacant ever since. The Council has incurred the cost of the liabilities arising out of the building 
by undertaking works  in default of the tenant’s obligations in order to protect the property that 
has been held in Charitable Trust by the Council since 1916.  
 
3.2 A Deed of Surrender (DOS) which, if Cabinet approve the recommendations made in part 
2 of this report, will enable officers, as soon as is practicably possible to: 
 
3.2.1 bring the lease to an end which has been at the tenant’s request 
 
3.2.2 assist with the necessary applications to the  Land Registry which are needed  to 
remove the lease from the title of the property in order that the Council is then able to grant 
leases in the future  
 
3.2.3 progress negotiations with potential new tenants  
 
3.2.4 commence the legal work to facilitate the  re-occupation of the building  
 
3.2.5 carry out compliance testing e.g. lift, electric installation, boilers, alarms etc and 
subsequent remediation work not done by the current tenants in accordance with the lease 
and seek to recover such costs. It should be noted that the Company has declared it is 
without funds and continues to fail to provide details of the Company’s accounts as such 
recovery of any monies spent may not be possible. In addition, if we accept the surrender, we 
accept the property as it stands on that date. NB essential intruder and fire alarm upgrades 
have already been completed as when inspected by the Council were found to be not up to 
current regulations and did not sufficiently protect the building.  
 
3.3  Interested parties have been already asked to submit their proposals to the Council in 
order that it can consider their suitability both in terms of meeting the terms of the Trust, and 
being capable of running and maintaining a listed building which has been entrusted to the 
Council. 
 
3.4 Cabinet will be asked at a future date to consider the bids received and to choose their 
preferred option. An application to the Charity Commission will follow as they will ultimately 
determine the suitability of the proposal and occupier and that it meets the needs of the Trust. 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 If the Council does not accept agree to the surrender of the lease and other 
recommendations this may result in: 
 

Page 136



Page 3 of 5 
 

4.1.1 Mercer House 1842 proceeding to dissolve the company unless the Council makes 
another successful objection to application which in turn will result in: 
 
4.1.2  the Council needing to applying to court to forfeit the lease and embark in complex  
lengthy and time consuming legal work to take back possession of the building  
 
4.1.3 risk losing control of the building and the re-letting process if the legal interest in the 
lease of the dissolved company (Mercer House 1842)  vests in the Duchy of Lancaster  
 
4.1.4  a considerable delay to the  re-occupation of the property  and making the building  
vulnerable to anti social behaviour and degradation for the foreseeable future 
 
4.1.5 the Council paying for security measures and empty property management costs (in 
default until the lease is cancelled) in order to protect the building for the foreseeable future. 
N.B. the Council is already paying these costs in the interim to protect the building.  
 
4.1.6 Clayton continuing to be deprived of services and facilities from this site for the 
foreseeable future 
 
4.1.7  negotiations with prospective tenants ceasing 
 
4.1.8  essential work, that may be  required to allow re-occupation, not taking place with the 
result that a new tenant may be unable or dissuaded from taking the property  or would be 
detrimental to the interest of the charitable trust under which the building is held by the 
Council as trustee. (NB essential intruder and fire alarm upgrades have already been 
completed as when inspected by the Council were found not to meet current regulations and 
did not sufficiently protect the building.) 
  
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Chief Executive, Head of legal and Democratic Services, and the Leader have 

been consulted  
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

Costs of managing and monitoring the empty 
building are already being incurred in addition 
to upgrading the fire and intruder alarms that 
were not adequately maintained or upgraded 
by the current tenant. There are likely to be 
other compliance works as the tenant has 
failed to provide any test certificates for the 
maintenance and or repairs of the building. 
Recovery of this expenditure may be difficult 
as the Company has declared it is without 
funds and continue to fail to provide their 
accounts as evidence. Staffing resources in 
dealing with the DOS, the management of an 

Page 137



Page 4 of 5 
 

empty building.  

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Accepting of the  surrender of the lease to  by 
Mercer House 1842 will help avoid the need 
to apply for forfeiture to end the lease. Land 
Registry will be sent the DOS and requested 
to approve the application to remove the 
lease from the title.   
 

Assessment of risk 
 

It may not be possible to re-let the building on 
terms acceptable with the Charity 
Commission . The Council, in its capacity of 
as trustee, would take back responsibility of a 
building which is vulnerable to anti-social 
behaviour whilst unoccupied and this is 
widely known due to posts on social media. 
However the building is likely to remain 
unoccupied in any event as the current 
directors no longer wish to have responsibility 
for the building and have resorted to dissolve 
the company and the Council is incurring 
costs in the interim. 
 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

N/A 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 N/A 
 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
  

Page 138

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 5 of 5 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

URGENT CABINET DECISION 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Summary and Approvals 
 

 
A report, using the Cabinet report template, must be attached. 
 
  

1. Title of Report: Surrender of Lease granted to  Mercer House 1842 of the Arthur 
Wilson Centre, Clayton Le Moors 

 

 
2. Report Author Helen McCue-Melling – Regeneration & Property Manager 
 
 
3. Purpose of Report: To seek urgent approval to: 
 
  
3.1       accept the surrender of the 25 year lease from Mercer House 1842, of the Arthur 
Wilson Centre, Clayton Le Moors.   
 
3.2    accept the current condition of the property at the date of surrender and seek to 
recover all costs to be incurred for rectification of compliance matters 
 
3.3    Commence negotiations with potential new tenants 
 

 
4. Decision requested: That Cabinet agree to:-  
 
 
4.1 accept the surrender of the 25 year lease from Mercer House 1842, of the Arthur Wilson 
Centre, Clayton Le Moors.   
  
4.2 accept the current condition of the property and seek to recover all costs that may be 
incurred in carrying out any repairs or upgrades that should have been completed by the 
outgoing tenant under the terms of the lease and which will be required to be completed by 
the Council before re-occupation; 
 
4.3 Begin negotiations with potential future occupants in order to bring options back to 
Cabinet at a future date for consideration and approval of Cabinet’s preferred occupier. 
 
 

Page 141



5. Reason for Urgency: 
 
5.1 The current tenant has notified the Council and the public of its intension not to re-open 
the Arthur Wilson Centre after it was temporarily closed due to the Covid 19 outbreak. 
The tenant is not following the procedures set out in the lease. As such Approval is sought 
from Cabinet to accept a surrender to bring the lease to an end. This will enable officers to: 
bring the lease to an end; assist the application to the  Land Registry  to remove the lease 
from the title of the property; begin negotiations with potential new tenants; commence the 
legal work to facilitate the reoccupation of the building; carry out any remediation work; all as 
soon as is practicably possible.  
 
5.2 The current tenant has applied to Companies House to dissolve the Company, Mercer 
House 1842 and if successful will mean the Council may  result in complex and prolonged 
legal procedures to terminate the lease and remove the legal title registered at the Land 
Registry making re-occupation of the property difficult  for the foreseeable future. The 
Council has objected to this application and as such the date of the decision to be made by 
Companies House has been delayed to 18th November 2020 when the application to 
dissolve may be approved.  
 
5.3 The current Covid Pandemic means Cabinet Meetings do not resume until mid 
September 2020 which will be too late to take action as described. 
 
 
6. Approvals of Members and Officers 
 

 
Designation 

 
Signature 

 
Leader, Cllr Miles Parkinson 

 
Approved by email 

 
Deputy Leader, Cllr Paul Cox 

 
Approved by email 

 
Portfolio Holder, Cllr Loraine Cox 

 
Approved by email 

 
Chief Officer, Mark Hoyle 

 
Approved by email 

 
 
Chief Executive, Dave Welsby  
 

 
 
Approved by email 

Monitoring Officer (in the absence of the 
Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 
 

 
 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 
Cllr June Harrison 
 

Approved by email 
 

 
 
 
7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):  3rd September 2020 
 
 
 

Page 142



Page 1 of 5 
 

  

 AGENDA ITEM   .           

REPORT TO: Cabinet  

DATE:  September  2020 

PORTFOLIO Housing & Regeneration 

REPORT AUTHOR: Helen McCue-Melling Regeneration & Property 
Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Surrender of Lease from Mercer House 1842 of 
Arthur Wilson Centre, Clayton Le Moors  

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval for officers to accept the surrender of the current  25 year lease  of 
Arthur Wilson Centre, Clayton Le Moors granted to Mercer House 1842.   
 
 
 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet:  
 
2.1 Agree to accept the surrender of the current 25 year lease of Arthur Wilson Centre, 
Clayton Le Moors granted to Mercer House 1842 
 
2.2 Accept the current condition of the property but seek to recover costs that may be 
incurred in carrying out any repairs or upgrades that should have been completed by the 
outgoing tenant under the terms of the lease and which will be required to be completed by 
the Council before re-occupation.  
 

Page 143



Page 2 of 5 
 

2.3 note that officers will begin negotiations with potential future occupants in order to bring 
options back to Cabinet at a future date for consideration and approval of Cabinet’s preferred 
occupier. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Mercer House 1842  entered into a 25 year lease with the Council 11th December 2013 
to occupy the Arthur Wilson Centre, Clayton Le Moors. In July 2020 Mercer House  1842 
notified the Council of its intentions to not re-open the centre after it had closed due to the 
Covid Pandemic. The Company has been clear in its email to officers and subsequent public 
notices of its intensions as such officers believe the best way forward for both parties is to 
accept a Deed Of Surrender (“DOS”) from the current tenant to document the termination of 
the lease.  
 
3.2  A DOS which, if Cabinet approve the recommendations made in part 2 of this report, will 
enable officers,  as soon as is practicably possible to: 
 
3.2.1 bring the lease to an end which has been at the tenant’s request 
 
3.2.2 assist with the necessary applications to the Land Registry which are needed to remove 
the lease from the  title of the property in order that the Council is then able to grant leases in 
the future 
 
3.2.3 progress negotiations with potential  new tenants  
 
3.2.4 commence the legal work to ensure reoccupation of the building  
 
3.2.5 carry out compliance testing e.g. electric installation, boilers, alarms etc and subsequent 
remediation work not done by the current tenants in accordance with the lease and seek to 
recover such costs from Mercer House 1842.  
 
3.3 Cabinet will be asked at a future date to consider the bids received and to choose their 
preferred option.  
 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 If the Council does not accept the Deed of Surrender and other recommendations this 
may result in: 
 
4.1.1 Mercer House 1842 proceeding to dissolve the company unless the Council makes 
another successful objection to application which in turn will result in: 
 
4.1.2  the Council needing to apply to court to forfeit the lease and embark on a complex  
lengthy and time consuming legal work to take back possession of the building  
 
4.1.3 risk losing control of the building and the re-letting process   
 

Page 144



Page 3 of 5 
 

4.1.4  a considerable delay to the re-occupation of the property for the foreseeable future thus 
making the building  vulnerable to anti social behaviour and degradation. 
 
4.1.5 the Council paying for security measures and empty property management costs (in 
default until the lease is cancelled) in order to protect the building for the foreseeable future  
 
4.1.6 Clayton continuing to be deprived of services and facilities from this site for the 
foreseeable future 
 
4.1.7  negotiations with prospective tenants ceasing 
 
4.1.8  essential work that may be required to allow re-occupation not taking place with the 
result that  a new tenant may be unable or dissuaded from taking the property. 
  
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The Chief Executive, Head of legal and Democratic Services, and the Leader have 

been consulted  
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The tenant has implied they will close the 
centre and hand back control to the Council 
but to date they remain in occupation. Costs 
of managing and monitoring the empty 
building will be  incurred until re-occupation 
by a tenant. There are likely to be compliance 
works as the tenant has failed to provide any 
test certificates for the maintenance and or 
repairs of the building. Recovery of this 
expenditure may be difficult as the Company 
has declared it is without funds however 
continue to fail to provide their accounts as 
evidence. Staffing resources in dealing with 
the DOS, the management of an empty 
building. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Accepting the surrender of the lease will help 
avoid the need to apply to court for forfeiture 
to end the lease. Land Registry will be sent 
the DOS and requested to approve the 
application to remove the lease from the title.   
 

Assessment of risk 
 

It may not be possible to re-let the terms on 
terms acceptable to the Council. However the 
building is likely to remain unoccupied in any 
event and legal responsibility and the 
Council’s ability to control the future of the 
building will be adversely affected if the 

Page 145



Page 4 of 5 
 

current tenant successfully dissolves as a 
company.   

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

N/A 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 N/A 
 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
  

Page 146

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 5 of 5 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 2 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION 
 

(Executive Procedure Rule B16) 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Summary and Approvals 
  

1. Title of Report - Christmas Lights 2020 
 

2. Report Author – Steve Riley Executive Director (Environment) 
 

3. Purpose of Report – To inform Cabinet on the possible upgrading for the Council’s 

Christmas Lighting display for 2020. 
 
Due to the ongoing Coronavirus pandemic and in line with the current Government 
advice/guidelines around large groups/gatherings, the Council has understandably had to cancel all 
remaining town centre events for the financial year 2020/21, which included the annual Christmas 
lights switch-on. 
 
With the disappointment this will bring to many residents, the Leader of the Council made a request 
to officer’s to upgrade and improve the current Christmas light displays, whilst taking into account 
the Council’s environmental agenda. 
 
Given the very short timescales before the displays have to be erected, the only possible change 
that can be undertaken to ensure that they are in place for the end of November switch-on is a 
replacement of the existing street lighting columns displays within the various townships. There is 
insufficient time to include any additional columns that do not already have an external power 
supply for a display and/or licence agreement from LCC. 
 
 

4. Decision requested 
 
Cabinet agrees to waive the Council’s contract procedures rules and approve the appointment of 
LITE Ltd, Unit 2, Farrington Place. Rossendale Road Industrial Estate, Burnley, Lancashire BB11 
5TY, to carry out  replacement of Christmas lighting displays to various street lighting columns 
within the Borough and, if  possible, an external lighting projection on Accrington Town Hall/Market 
Hall and/or old Town Hall/Clock Tower in Great Harwood. 
 
Cabinet approve Option 2 (single string of 50 Max LED ‘globe’ multi coloured column wrap lights) as 
detailed in paragraph 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7 of the report. 
 
Cabinet approve the funding of the replacement lights and any projection costs from the Council’s 
Town Centre Event budget.  

 
 

5. Reason for Urgency 
 
Whilst Cabinet meetings have not yet been reinstated (and the next meeting is not anticipated until 
late October), a decision on this matter is needed urgently and cannot wait until the next Cabinet 
meeting takes place if the scheme is to progress in time for the switch-on end November. 
 
 

6. Approvals of Members and Officers 

 

Designation Signature to give Approval 

Elected Members  Page 149



2 of 2 

 

Leader of the Council 

Cllr Miles Parkinson 

Approval by email 

 

Deputy Leader of the Council 

Cllr Paul Cox 

Approval by email 

 

Portfolio Holder 

Cllr Loraine Cox 

Approval by email 

 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 

Cllr June Harrison 

 

Approval by email 

 

Officers 

 

 

Chief Executive, David Welsby 

 

Approved by email 

Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker) 

 

- 

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 

 

- 

Chief Officer/Head of Service 

Steve Riley 

 

 
 
 

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):     24
th
 September 2020 

Page 150



 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 22 September 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson, Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment0 

TITLE OF REPORT: Christmas Lights 2020 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet on the possible upgrading for the Council’s Christmas Lighting 

display for 2020. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet agrees to waive the Council’s contract procedures rules and approve the 

appointment of LITE Ltd, Unit 2, Farrington Place. Rossendale Road Industrial Estate, 
Burnley, Lancashire BB11 5TY, to carry out  replacement of Christmas lighting displays 
to various street lighting columns within the Borough and, if  possible, an external 
lighting projection on Accrington Town Hall/Market Hall and/or old Town Hall/Clock 
Tower in Great Harwood. 

 
2.2 Cabinet approve Option 2 (single string of 50 Max LED ‘globe’ multi coloured column 

wrap lights) as detailed in paragraph 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7 of this report. 
 
2.3 Cabinet approve the funding of the replacement lights and any projection costs from 

the Council’s Town Centre Event budget.  
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Due to the ongoing Coronavirus pandemic and in line with the current Government 

advice/guidelines around large groups/gatherings, the Council has understandably had 
to cancel all remaining town centre events for the financial year 2020/21, which 
included the annual Christmas lights switch-on. 

 

Page 151



 

 

3.2 With the disappointment this will bring to many residents, the Leader of the Council 
made a request to officer’s to upgrade and improve the current Christmas light 
displays, whilst taking into account the Council’s environmental agenda.  

 
3.3 Given the extremely short timescales, the only option available is to upgrade the 

Council’s existing street lighting column displays. Officers have carried out a full street 
lighting column survey along the main townships high streets highlighted by the Leader 
of the Council and any other columns which had an existing external power socket. 
This survey identified around 100 columns that could have a new display. Due to the 
timescales, it is not possible to add any further columns. 

 
3.4 The Leader of the Council was provided with a number of lighting styles and after initial 

enquiries, the only options available to the Council, given the extremely short 
timescales, was a ‘rope lighting’ display that could be secured around the street 
lighting columns. Two sample displays, both with different colour options, were erected 
prior to the weekend 12th/13th September for members of the Leaders Policy 
Development Board to provide comments back to the Leader of the Council. 

 
3.5 Both options are available in both multi colours, (red, blue, green) or two coloured 

(warm white/gold and brilliant white). The cost of each option for each display is 
highlighted below; 

 
Option 1 
Three strings of platted Mini multi LED column wrap lights 10m - £115 +VAT 
Guarantee 1 year 
Conversion of power supply to accept new low voltage display – £100 +VAT 
 
Option 2  
Single string of 50 Max LED ‘globe’ column wrap lights 12m - £410 +VAT 
Guarantee 5 years 
Conversion of power supply to accept new low voltage display - £100 +VAT 

 
3.6 Advice from the Council’s previous long standing Christmas lighting contractor 

recommends option 2, the Max LED ‘globe’ lights, as this provides the best cost 
(£51,000) and guarantee (5 year) benefit to the Council. The Leader of the Council 
noted that the multi coloured option would provide the best fit with any remaining 
lighting displays on township Christmas trees etc.  

 

3.7 The proposal is that all column displays are the same, as this provides for easer 
erection and maintenance and because all have LED low energy bulbs and low voltage 
this provides for reduced energy consumption and improved Health and Safety for 
members of the public/Contractors. 

 
3.7 The Leader of the Council has also requested officers investigate the possibility of 

projecting a coloured display onto the front of Accrington Town/Market Hall and Great 
Harwood old Town Hall/Clock Tower. However, given the very short timescales 
remaining, officers are still investigating the feasibility with LITE and can give no 
guarantees this can be achieved in time.  

 

Page 152



 

 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Whilst officers requested quotations from three Christmas lighting suppliers, only one, 

LITE Ltd, confirmed they could provide the replacement displays in time to be erected 
for the normal switch-on at the end of November. 

 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Leader of the Council and members on the Leaders Policy Development Board plus 

Facilities Officers. 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The Leader of the Council has identified the 
unused 2020/21 Events Budget (circa £100k) 
for purchasing the new lighting displays and 
any projections. 
 
There are no additional costs for erecting the 
new displays as they are simply a straight 
replacement for the old displays. 
 
The new displays are LED bulbs so will 
consume less energy and thereby provide the 
Council with a small saving. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

A suitable form of agreement will be entered 
into with the appointed supplier and a written 
5 year guarantee will be provided for the 
lights. 

Assessment of risk 
 

The risk of non-delivery and/or missed 
switch-on has been reduced by using an 
experienced street lighting contractor to erect 
the displays. (Lancashire County Council are 
working with the assistance of the Council’s 
previous contractor who erected all the 
Christmas displays across the Borough for 
over 15 years). 
 
Agreed phased delivery dates from the 
supplier has been secured so work on 
installing the lights / conversion work to allow 
for low voltage displays can commence within 
a matter of weeks. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 

None identified within the report 

Page 153

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of 
 reports to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



Page 1 of 19 
 

REPORT TO: 

 

Cabinet 

DATE: 

 

21 October 2020 

PORTFOLIO: 

 

Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE - Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

 

Chief Planning and Transportation Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: 

 

Employment Land in Hyndburn – Future Provision 

EXEMPT REPORT  

(Local Government 

Act 1972, Schedule 

12A)  

Options Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

 

1.1 As well as needing to find sufficient land to meet the Borough’s housing needs in the local 

plan, it is also necessary to allocate land for future employment development.  The purpose of 

this report is to present to Cabinet options for the future provision of Employment Land in 

Hyndburn prior to the Council issuing the Publication Version of the Local Plan in Spring 2021.   

 

1.2 The report is intended to set out the direction of travel that the local plan is proposing to take 

with a view to addressing any concerns raised by members prior to the publication version of 

the plan being issued.  Plans illustrating the location of sites and their site reference numbers 

are appended.   

 

2. Recommendations  

 

2.1 That the Council seek to develop a strategy for employment land in the Local Plan that is 

based on the following approach:   

 

i. A connected housing and economic development strategy that is based on growth and 

a desire to meet the Borough’s housing and employment land requirements, taking into 

consideration the evidence base provided by GL Hearn (2016), Turleys (2017 and 

2019) and Aspinall Verdi (2019).   

 

ii. An employment strategy that remains consistent with the broad approach taken by the 

Core Strategy adopted in 2012 but reflects the changes described in this report and is 

based on the following objectives: 

Page 155

Agenda Item 7.



Page 2 of 19 
 

a. The provision of sufficient employment land; 

b. The identification and allocation of strategic employment sites at Frontier 

Park and Altham in the first instance, and in the longer term land at Whitebirk 

to the west of Rishton; 

c. An existing employment site strategy that protects good quality employment 

sites whilst allows the development of poor quality sites for other 

development, and; 

d. The development of a town centre strategy.   

 

iii. That the strategic employment site at Frontier Park will continue to make a contribution 

to the Borough’s Employment Land requirements during the plan period 2016-2036.   

 

iv. That the strategic employment site at Huncoat will not contribute towards future 

employment need but will be developed for housing as shown by the emerging 

Masterplan being developed for Huncoat Garden Village1.   

 

v. That land to the south of Altham Business Park contribute towards the Borough’s 

employment land requirements subject to measures being taken to mitigate the impact 

of the development to acceptable levels as described in this report.  This should be 

based around Sites 49, 60 and 218 described at Appendix 4.   

 

vi. That in the longer term, land at Whitebirk be identified as a potential strategic 

employment site subject to a masterplan being undertaken that prescribes the means 

by which this site can be developed in a sustainable manner.  This should be based 

around Sites 229, 230 and part of site 228 described at Appendix 2.   

 

vii. That the Local Plan will necessitate a review of Green Belt2.  The potential sites at 

Altham and Whitebirk are both in the Green Belt and in order for the Green Belt 

boundary to be changed in either of these locations it will be necessary for the Council 

to demonstrate that there are exceptional circumstances for this change.  This 

justification will be undertaken as part of the local plan preparation.   

 

2.2 These recommendations are based on current evidence for the Local Plan and should not 

prejudice the outcome of evidence that remains to be undertaken and which will need to be 

taken into consideration in the preparation of the Local Plan.   

 

2.3 This report is intended to provide an indication of the direction of travel that officers are seeking 

to take on Employment Land and it has been requested by the Leader of the Council.  Cabinet 

agreement to the recommendations set out above will allow officers to focus on the approach 

described.  This report does not represent policy and does not form part of the development 

plan.   

 
                                                      
1
 Notwithstanding this, the strategic employment site at Huncoat remains allocated  

2
 Although the Council has undertaken a Green Belt Assessment, the Local Plan will still necessitate a review of 

Green Belt.   

Page 156



Page 3 of 19 
 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 

 

3.1 This report will consider the existing position with regard to employment land in Hyndburn 

before considering options for the future provision of land.  It will seek to do this within the 

context of national policy and local evidence.   

 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 

3.2 NPPF advises that planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which 

businesses can invest, expand and adapt.  Significant weight should be placed on the need to 

support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and 

wider opportunities for development.  The approach taken should allow each area to build on 

its strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of the future.  This is 

particularly important where Britain can be a global leader in driving innovation, and in areas 

with high levels of productivity, which should be able to capitalise on their performance and 

potential.  Paragraphs 80-82 of NPPF are set out at Appendix 1.   

 

 The Current Position – The Hyndburn Core Strategy 

 

3.3 One of the aims of the Core Strategy is: 

 

 “To create greater opportunities for all to access improved economic opportunities and to 

provide support for the local economy and higher wage employment.” 

 

3.4 The plan seeks to deliver this aim through the delivery of key employment sites, the allocation 

of sufficient employment land, a strategy to protect existing good quality sites and through a 

town centre policy.  The key elements of the economic strategy in the Core Strategy are 

illustrated below.   

 

 
 Fig 1.  The Economic Strategy in the Hyndburn Core Strategy, 2012.  Whilst the diagram above refers to 

strategic employment sites at Whitebirk and Huncoat, this would need to be modified to reflect the 

changes described in the report, i.e. to refer to Frontier Park, Altham and Whitebirk.  The policies listed 

in the bottom boxes are those in the existing Core Strategy.   

 

See Note below 

Page 157



Page 4 of 19 
 

3.5 The Core Strategy was adopted in 2012.  At the heart of the strategy was the allocation of two 

strategic sites at Whitebirk (Frontier Park) and at Huncoat.  Both of these sites were increased 

in size to provide additional employment land in a manner consistent with the strategy.  It was 

envisaged in the Core Strategy that the strategic site at Whitebirk would be developed during 

the first phase of the Core Strategy (2012-2017), and that the site at Huncoat would be 

developed in the second phase, subject to economic recovery following the recession.  Frontier 

Park is being developed as envisaged, but Huncoat is not, hence the need to find further land.   

 

3.6 The Core Strategy also provided for the allocation of an additional area of land on the southern 

flank of Altham Business Park, amounting to approximately 5ha.  This site has now been 

developed by Whatmore.  The approach taken by the Core Strategy is considered to be sound 

but needs amending to reflect the changes in circumstances described below.   

 

 A further strategic site… 

 

3.7 At the time Hyndburn Core Strategy was adopted, Pennine Lancashire Authorities had signed 

up to the Pennine Lancashire Multi-Area Agreement (MAA) which aimed to increase GVA and 

close the output gap between Pennine Lancashire and the United Kingdom.  In order to do this 

the MAA believed it was necessary to identify a further strategic site in the sub-region capable 

of attracting inward investment.  The Core Strategy3 recognised that one opportunity to meet 

this requirement was through an extension to the existing strategic employment site at 

Whitebirk.   

 

3.8 The Core Strategy recognised that a considerable amount of work would be needed prior to 

making any firm proposals and recognised the need for further work which included the need 

to4: 

 Testing the assumption that this is the only viable option to create a strategic site 

capable of attracting investment in the key target sectors.   

 Potential of the development to reduce the out-commuting of skilled residents. 

 The ability to ensure high levels of public transport accessibility. 

 Ability to maximise employment opportunities for local residents. 

 The ability to protect and enhance major environmental, historic and resource 

assets. 

 The ability of the site to be developed in a way that preserves the function of Green 

Belt, with regard to separation of urban areas. 

 The ability to ensure the integration of the development with the landscape meets 

high environmental standards. 

 An assessment of the impacts in relation to the sterilisation of the underlying coal 

resource, along with consideration of whether the prior extraction of this resource 

would be appropriate.   

                                                      
3
 See paragraph 5.72 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy.   

4
 The first seven of these bullet points are set out in the MAA, the eighth was added at the request of The Coal 

Authority in compliance with MPG 3. 

Page 158



Page 5 of 19 
 

 Demonstrate that the development would not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding 

from Knuzden Brook and that the development will not exacerbate flooding 

elsewhere. 

The Aspinall Verdi study (2019) has assessed the site at Whitebirk and Altham against the 

main criteria listed above.  Their assessment is included at Appendix 2 and Appendix 4.   

3.9 The Hyndburn Core Strategy5 anticipated that the above work would be carried out within the 

plan period but that bringing forward such a site would occur after the plan period and that a 

review of the Green Belt Boundary in this location would be needed.  Although the Hyndburn 

Core Strategy did not specifically identify a site, the Blackburn with Darwen Core Strategy 

identified land to the west of Rishton (in Hyndburn) as a strategic employment site.   

 

 Developments since the adoption of the Core Strategy in 2012 

 

3.10 Outline planning permission6 was granted in 2015 for the development of Frontier Park at 

Whitebirk on the west side of Hyndburn in close proximity to J6 of M65.  The site was 

subsequently sold to Eurogarages and a number of reserved matters and full planning 

applications have been submitted for the development of the site.  A number of plots have now 

been completed and are occupied.  Planning permissions have now been granted across the 

site.  The majority of the buildings are occupied by distribution companies.  Frontier Park 

comprised 35ha of employment land and it is envisaged that it will be completed within the next 

five years, possibly sooner.   

 

3.11 The strategic employment site on the east side of Hyndburn at Huncoat was originally identified 

as employment land by the Hyndburn Local Plan in 1996.  The size of the site was increased 

by the Core Strategy in 2012 and at the time access was to be provided through the 

development of a link road that stretched between Burnley Road / A56 and Bolton Avenue, 

known as the Whinney Hill Link Road.  As well as serving the strategic employment site at 

Huncoat, the Link Road also served the strategic housing site on the former Huncoat Colliery 

site.   

 

3.12 Lancashire County Council originally intended to fund the development of the Link Road, but 

funding was cancelled during austerity.  This decision meant that the Link Road would have to 

be funded by developers or through other sources.   

 

3.13 In November 2016 the Pennine Lancashire Housing Zone was designated by Government and 

Huncoat was identified as Hyndburn’s Housing Zone Site.  As a means of delivering housing at 

Huncoat, a tender brief was prepared in consultation with Homes England to guide the 

appointment of consultants to prepare a Masterplanning Framework for the Huncoat Housing 

Zone.  This was prepared in the context of the extant planning policy framework.  Tender 

submission were made in Spring 2018 and shortly afterwards Arcadis were appointed as 

consultants to prepare the Masterplan.   

 

                                                      
5
 Para 5.73 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy.   

6
 Planning permission reference 11/15/0154 was granted on 25

th
 August 2015. 

Page 159



Page 6 of 19 
 

3.14 Although initial options sought to develop housing alongside the strategic employment site at 

Huncoat, it became apparent to the Master-Planning team that it was not feasible to develop 

the Council’s premier housing site alongside a strategic employment site.  Modern employment 

sites attract heavy goods traffic on a 24 hour basis and require large buildings, neither of which 

sit comfortably in close proximity to housing.  The owners of both the former power station site 

and neighbouring land (allocated as the strategic employment site) also favoured the 

development of housing.  At present the Council is seeking to develop 4,320 homes up to year 

2036 and Huncoat provides the best opportunity to provide large development sites that could 

provide this number and quality of housing. 

 

3.15 The decision was therefore taken in 2019 that the Masterplan should focus on housing 

development and not try to reconcile two conflicting land uses – housing and employment.   

 

3.16 The consequence of this decision is that the Council will need to find additional land for 

employment development to compensate for the loss of the Strategic Employment Site at 

Huncoat.  This represents a significant planning policy change, the strategic employment site 

at Huncoat extending to almost 30ha (28.48ha).   

 

 Where to now? 

 

3.17 The Council recognise the importance of new housing development and connected with this is 

the need to ensure that adequate employment land is provided to support the local economy / 

local businesses in support of the housing strategy, i.e. to provide jobs.  The amount of 

employment land proposed by the local plan will be related to the number of houses being 

proposed.   

 

3.18 A joint Housing and Economic Development Assessment was undertaken by GL Hearn for 

Hyndburn and Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council in 2018.  This found a requirement for 

58.7ha of employment land in Hyndburn over the period 2016 to 2036, equating to 1ha B1 

(Office), 22.3ha B2 (manufacturing) and 35.4ha of B8 (warehousing and distribution).   

 

3.19 The Employment Land Assessment 20167 that the Borough had sufficient land to meet future 

employment needs.  The need for employment land ranged from 13.9ha (Labour demand 

model) to 56.7ha (past take up model) and at that time there was estimated to be 63ha of land 

available for development.  It is clear from these figures alone that the development of Frontier 

Park (33.78ha) and the loss of Huncoat Strategic Employment Site (28.48ha) totalling 62.26ha 

represent a significant change.   

 

3.20 Although areas of Frontier Park (Whitebirk) remain available, this position is not expected to 

last long.  The development of the Strategic Employment site at Huncoat for housing, now 

means that it is necessary to find new sites for employment development.   

 

 The Search for Employment Land 

                                                      
7
 Undertaken by Turleys.   

Page 160



Page 7 of 19 
 

 

3.21 One of the key requirements for new employment sites is that they should have a ready access 

to the M65 motorway and be in a desirable location for developers.  Large numbers of heavy 

goods vehicles should not travel through established residential areas.  There are three 

motorway junctions that should be considered. 

 

 M65 Junction 6 – See Appendix 2 

 

3.22 This junction not only serves the Frontier Park site currently being developed by Eurogarages, 

but considerable land in east Blackburn that has been developed for a variety of commercial 

and employment uses.  A number of potential employment sites have been put forward under 

the call for sites which are set out in the map and table at Appendix 2.  An assessment of the 

attractiveness of the site to developers by Aspinall Verdi in 2019 is attached at Appendix 2.   

 

3.23 All the sites in this location are on land designated as Green Belt.  It is not possible to access 

Site 106 so this can be discounted.  Site 105 abuts residential properties on the south side of 

Blackburn Road and the site protrudes into the Green Belt making it less desirable for 

employment development.   

 

3.24 Commercial interest has been expressed in Sites 229 and 230 and when considered alongside 

part of Site 224 there is a potential site of a size that could be a strategic site.  These sites are 

in the Green Belt and there are a number of constraints that would need to be addressed 

including highways, layout (due to pylons) and ecology.  The landscape impact would also 

need to be addressed and mitigated and a new bridge is required to access Site 230.   

 

 M65 Junction 7 – See Appendix 3 

 

3.25 J7 serves the J7 Business Park and Petre Road Industrial Estate as well as sites in Clayton-

Le-Moors and Accrington.  Land remains available on the western flank of J7 Business Park 

(Site 9) and this could be extended through the inclusion of a portion of Council owned land 

(Site 134).  Site 134 is in Council ownership and is in proximity to residential development, if 

identified for employment uses it should therefore be developed in a way that would not impact 

on residential amenity, for example as office development or for use as car parking with 

landscaping.   

 

3.26 Site 107 on the west side of Dunkenhalgh Way is in a potentially good location, but the 

topography is undulating and it would be difficult to develop large industrial buildings of the 

type found on employment sites across east Lancashire.  The site is also in the Green Belt.  It 

should be noted that the Aspinall Verdi also believed Moorfield Industrial Estate to be a good 

site with potential for expansion, however, the development of Moorfield would direct higher 

numbers of heavy goods vehicles through the traffic light junction at the Hare and Hounds that 

suffers from air quality issues.   

 

 M65 Junction 8 – See Appendix 4 

 

Page 161



Page 8 of 19 
 

3.27 Altham Business Park is a successful business park that has proved attractive to business.  It 

was initially developed as an Enterprise Zone in the 1980’s but the sites within the business 

park have steadily been developed and there is now little space available for companies to 

develop or expand into.  Altham Business Park was extended by 5ha in 2012 when the Core 

Strategy was adopted but this extension has now been partially developed and planning 

permission granted for development of the remainder.   

 

3.28 Sites 49, 60 and 218 comprise land on the southern side of Altham Business Park and extend 

to the Leeds and Liverpool Canal.  Although together they have a gross area of approximately 

40ha, the net developable area will be less taking into account the need to provide landscaping 

along the Leeds and Liverpool Canal and protect the amenity of a small number of residential 

properties.  The sites are also in the Green Belt and there are areas of ecological importance 

that would have to be taken into consideration.  An assessment of the attractiveness of the site 

to developers undertaken by Aspinall Verdi in 2019 is attached at Appendix 4.   

 

3.29 Sites 49, 60 and 218 are also in close proximity to Huncoat Garden Village.  It is proposed to 

develop high quality housing at Huncoat and there would be sustainable benefits associated 

with the development of employment land in proximity to the housing land provided there are 

good connections between the two areas.  Whilst it would not be desirable to see heavy goods 

traffic travel through Huncoat to Altham, improved pedestrian and cycle connectivity would 

facilitate more sustainable patterns of travel.   

 

3.30 Although J8 of M65 is just outside the Borough boundary, it is likely to be used by heavy goods 

vehicles travelling to and from Altham Business Park.  The traffic signal junction at A6068 / 

A678 Blackburn Road would also see an increase in traffic if Altham Business Park is extended 

and there will also be a need to ensure that the A678 / Altham Lane roundabout at The Walton 

Arms can operate safely.  Improvements to highway infrastructure may therefore be required.   

 

3.31 Land between Clayton-Le-Moors and Altham has also been put forward for development, sites 

210-212 inclusive.  Whilst together these sites comprise an area that would meet future needs 

the sites do not relate well to the urban area and would represent a significant incursion into 

the Green Belt, effectively merging the two settlements of Clayton-Le-Moors and Altham.   

 

 Other Sites 

 

3.32 There are a number of smaller sites in the urban areas of Hyndburn that can contribute 

relatively small areas of land towards the Borough’s overall employment land need, but the 

size of these sites will not make a significant contribution to land supply.   

 

 Conclusions 

 

3.33 The allocation and development of employment land is vital for the local economy.  The 

development of Frontier Park at Whitebirk is expected to create 1,900 jobs (not including 

construction) and generate significant level of inward investment for the sub-region.  If the aim 

Page 162



Page 9 of 19 
 

of the Local Plan is to develop good quality family homes, it is important that there are good 

quality jobs for the residents.   

 

3.34 The Strategic Employment Site at Huncoat has been allocated for employment development 

since 1996 when the Hyndburn Local Plan was first adopted.  The site remains undeveloped 

and the current owners are seeking to develop housing on the site.  To benefit the community 

and the economy allocated sites should be developed within a reasonable period and if they 

are not, then a different approach should be taken.   

 

3.35 Frontier Park will continue to make a contribution to Hyndburn’s employment land 

requirements, but with the loss of the site at Huncoat additional land is required.  Altham 

Business Park is perhaps the Borough’s most successful business location and little or no land 

remains for development.  Extending the business park would complement Huncoat Garden 

Village and should be accessible from the Borough’s prime housing site.   

 

3.36 Towards the end of the plan period further land could be developed at Whitebirk although it is 

recommended that more detailed work is undertaken to determine how best to develop this 

area.   

 

3.37 All the sites considered are located in the Green Belt.  If sufficient land is to be provided to 

meet the Borough’s employment land requirements land will need to be taken out of the Green 

Belt.   

 

 Local Plan Update 

 

3.38 The Planning Policy team are currently shortlisting the final set of proposed allocations, 

including housing, employment and Gypsy and Traveller sites.  This work will identify the 

potential developable area of sites and provide an indicative capacity of dwelling numbers, 

employment floorspace or, for Gypsy and Traveller sites, the number of pitches which could be 

accommodated.  Some further detailed assessment will need to carried out, for example to 

assess flood risk, and liaison with landowners and/or developers will take place.  In the 

meantime, however, a list of proposed sites should be available during October. 

 

3.39 Alongside this, preparation is ongoing for the Regulation 19 consultation which is due to take 

place in May/June 2021.  This will involve publication of the proposed Site Allocations and 

Strategic Policies DPD (including a Policies Map, showing proposed allocations and policy 

designations) and a set of background papers which will provide further information and 

justification for the proposed development strategy.  Completion of further evidence base work 

will also take place over the coming months, including the Highways Capacity Study, 

landscape and heritage assessments of relevant sites and finalising the open space audit.  A 

draft of the Huncoat Masterplan is due by December 2020 and, once agreed, this will be 

incorporated into the proposed Local Plan. 

 

3.40 It is likely that the Government will issue a new Standard Methodology for calculating housing 

need in early 2021 so the timetable will need to take this into account.  

Page 163



Page 10 of 19 
 

 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

 

4.1 A number of alternative sites have been considered as part of this process.  Sites put forward 

through the call for sites have been assessed using a variety of criteria and against other 

evidence collected as part of the local plan process.   

 

4.2 The Council will be collecting further evidence on sites as part of the local plan process, for 

example highway assessments, and if this evidence indicates that the approach described in 

this report should be changed a follow up report will be presented to members.   

 

5. Consultations 

 

5.1 Developer interest has been expressed in a number of these sites.  This is set out in the report.   

 

5.2 Informal discussions have been held with Altham Parish Council in relation to an extension to 

Altham Business Park who expressed a desire to ensure that the Walton Arms roundabout and 

A678 / A6068 junctions continue to operate safely and within capacity.   

 

6. Implications 

 

Financial implications (including any 

future financial commitments for the 

Council) 

 

None.  The purpose of this report is to establish a 

direction of travel in relation to employment land 

in the Local Plan.   

Legal and human rights implications 

 

None.  Human rights and legal implications will be 

addressed through the local plan.  This report 

does not represent policy but seeks members 

views on the approach described.   

Assessment of risk 

 

There is a risk that further evidence may suggest 

that the approach described is not appropriate.     

Equality and diversity implications 

A Customer First Analysis should be 

completed in relation to policy decisions 

and should be attached as an appendix 

to the report.  

 

Not necessary, this is not a policy decision.  A 

Customer First Analysis will be completed at the 

appropriate time.   

 

 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  

 

7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of 

 reports to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  

Page 164

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 11 of 19 
 

 

 Employment Land Evidence 

 

 Hyndburn Employment Land Study 2016 

 https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/employment-land-study-2016/ 

 

 Hyndburn Housing and Economic Need Assessment 2018 

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/housing-and-economic-need-assessment-

2018/ 

 

Hyndburn Employment Land Update 2019  

Not yet published on-line.   

 

National Planning Policy Framework 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 

 

Green Belt Evidence 

 

Hyndburn Green Belt Assessment 

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/hyndburn-green-belt-assessment/ 

 

All other evidence base work and site information relating to the call for sites can be found on 

the Council’s website.   

 

8. Freedom of Information 

 

8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 

Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

  

Page 165

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/employment-land-study-2016/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/housing-and-economic-need-assessment-2018/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/housing-and-economic-need-assessment-2018/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/hyndburn-green-belt-assessment/


Page 12 of 19 
 

Appendix 1 National Planning Policy Framework 

 

6.  Building a strong, competitive economy  

 

80.  Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can 

invest, expand and adapt.  Significant weight should be placed on the need to support 

economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and 

wider opportunities for development.  The approach taken should allow each area to 

build on its strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of the 

future.  This is particularly important where Britain can be a global leader in driving innovation, 

and in areas with high levels of productivity, which should be able to capitalise on their 

performance and potential. [emphasis added] 

 

81.  Planning policies should:  

 

a)  set out a clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively 

encourages sustainable economic growth, having regard to Local Industrial Strategies 

and other local policies for economic development and regeneration;  

b)  set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local and inward investment to match the 

strategy and to meet anticipated needs over the plan period;  

c)  seek to address potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate infrastructure, 

services or housing, or a poor environment; and  

d)  be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan, allow for new and 

flexible working practices (such as live-work accommodation), and to enable a rapid 

response to changes in economic circumstances.  

 

82.  Planning policies and decisions should recognise and address the specific locational 

requirements of different sectors. This includes making provision for clusters or networks of 

knowledge and data-driven, creative or high technology industries; and for storage and 

distribution operations at a variety of scales and in suitably accessible locations  

 

 
  

Page 166



Page 13 of 19 
 

 Appendix 2 Potential Employment Sites in Proximity to J6 M65 

 
Ref Area 

ha 
Name / Description Constraints Observations 

105 7.42 Land south of Blackburn Road, 
Rishton.   

Green Belt 
Residential development 
Highway Capacity 

Site in close proximity to 
residential development.   

106 9.7 Whitebirk Moss - Land between 
Blackburn Road and M65 
Sliproad.   

No suitable access   
Green Belt 

No suitable access.   

228 7.3 Land south of Blackburn Road, 
Whitebirk.  7.3ha 

Green Belt 
Highway Capacity 

Potentially suitable but for a 
reduced area.   

229 18.1 Land between Blackburn Road 
and Sidebeet Lane.  

Green Belt 
Woodland 
Electricity Pylons 
Highway Capacity 

Attractive site for developers 
when considered with sites 
228 and 230.   

230 20.7 Land north of Railway Line off 
Sidebeet Lane.  

Green Belt 
Railway Bridge required or 
Canal Bridge.   

Potentially attractive site 
when considered with sites 
228 and 229 but need for 
new bridge to access.   

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

230 

229 

105 

228 

106 

Page 167



Page 14 of 19 
 

Aspinall Verdi Report on Whitebirk 2019 

 

Summary 

 

Large expansion site across the junction from Frontier Park. Location will be suitable for 

logistics, manufacturing, some offices, plus higher value uses to help viability pressures for 

opening up the site. Constraints include change in levels, access, values and overhead power 

cables.  High Quality Employment site in location suitable for the requirement of the key target 

sectors.   

 

The existing Whitebirk is a site that has a long history with a previous designation as a Regional 

Strategic Site by the NWDA.  It is Hyndburn’s and Blackburn’s largest employment/ commercial 

development; located in an extremely prominent location adjacent to Junction 6 of the M65 motorway.  It 

is a 90-acre site, creating an estimated 1,990 new jobs. Hyndburn, Blackburn with Darwen and 

Lancashire County Council recognise Whitebirk as a strategic employment site for the sub-region. 

 

Commercially known as Frontier Park, the completed development will provide around 1 million sq. ft of 

new warehouse and industrial buildings.  The scheme can provide units from 100,000 to 400,000sq.ft. 

The aim is to deliver a high-quality development that will attract national and international companies to 

Lancashire.  There is an element of mixed-use, with two drive through restaurants, a 150-bedroom hotel 

and conference / banqueting centre. These provide facilities for the occupiers of the estate and also 

service the wider population of Blackburn and East Lancashire.  

 

The site represents a large expansion site across the junction from Frontier Park. This location will be 

suitable for logistics, manufacturing, some offices. It is considered that the allocation of additional land 

would contribute to further economic growth and job creation in this highly sustainable employment 

location. 

 

Market Attractiveness 

 

The successful development of Frontier Park demonstrates why Whitebirk was a Strategic High Quality 

Employment Site. It demonstrates all of the qualities required by modern industry. It is large, next to a 

motorway junction, it provides rapid access to the town centre and the surrounding region, it is 

accessible to workers and gives access to markets. The strategic site option being assessed by 

Hyndburn Borough Council shares these characteristics. 

 

We would summarise its strengths and weaknesses as follows: 

 

Strengths 

 Motorway junction adjacent 

 Large site in single ownership 

 Access to markets – Manchester/ M6 corridor 

 Accessible to workforce 

 Attractive to logistics, manufacturing, energy and services; 

Page 168



Page 15 of 19 
 

 Higher value opportunities 

 

Weaknesses 

 Sloping topography limits size of unit 

 High infrastructure costs lead to viability issues 

 Historic low demand for this size of site in the location 

 Competing sites in more attractive locations on M6 (or M62) corridor 

 

Potential Growth Sectors 

 Aerospace 

 Advanced Engineering and Manufacturing 

 Energy & Environmental 

 

Alignment With Core Strategy Criteria  

 

There is strong alignment with Core Strategy Criteria and development at this location should be 

encouraged. The council should look to develop and sustain good access by public transport. 

 

Attract investment in key target sectors 

Given the wide-ranging nature of the advanced manufacturing, energy and aviation sectors, the property 

requirements of companies would be diverse. However, we would expect there to be a demand for 

Logistics, Light industrial, Manufacturing Premises; limited high-quality offices.   

 

Reduce the out-commuting of skilled residents 

Hyndburn needs more high-quality employment space to be able to service potential enquiries from not 

only local businesses, but also those in different parts of Lancashire and the North West. The 

development of such space here can provide for these companies and reduce the need for out-

commuting. 

 

Ensure high levels of public transport accessibility 

The site is on bus routes, but is a distance from the nearest railway station at Rishton.  It may be 

necessary to ensure a bus service through the planning system. 

 

Maximise employment opportunities for local residents 

The size and capacity of the site can provide for a range of building sizes and specifications. These 

buildings can provide potential employment space for manufacturing, logistics, offices and ancillary 

service uses. These can provide jobs from unskilled to NVQ Level 5. 

 

 

 

  

Page 169



Page 16 of 19 
 

 Appendix 3  Potential Employment Sites in Proximity to J7, M65 

 
Ref Area 

ha 
Name / Description Constraints Observations 

9 4.0 J7 Business Park None Allocated for employment  

134 
 

1.14 Land to rear of Collingwood and 
J7 Business Park 

Proximity to residential 
development.   

Unsuitable for large scale 
employment development.  

100 
 

3.64 Land between Blackburn Road, 
Dunkenhalgh Way and M65 

Green Belt 
Ecology 
Residential Development 
near-by 

There would be a need to 
protect residential amenity.  
Trees and woodland may 
limit opportunities.   

101 
 

6.7 Land north of Blackburn Road 
adjoining Hyndburn Brook 

Topography 
Green Belt 
Ecology 

Steep valley side, sensitive 
Green Belt.  Unsuitable.   

107 22.1 Land between M65 and 
Dunkenhalgh Way.   

Green Belt 
Access / UU Infrastructure 
Topography 
Ecology  

A large site in a potentially 
good location but undulating 
topography would make it 
difficult to develop for large 
units.   

 

 
  

Page 170



Page 17 of 19 
 

 Appendix 4 Potential Employment Sites in proximity to J8 M65 

 
Ref Area 

ha 
Name / Description Constraints Observations 

49 15.3 
 

Houghton Barn Farm Green Belt / Landscape 
Residential development  
Leeds and Liverpool Canal 
Ecology 
Highway Capacity Issues 
Public transport 

Need to protect residential amenity 
and landscape along Leeds and 
Liverpool Cabal but potentially 
attractive site.  Need to address 
highway capacity issues.  Close to 
Huncoat Garden Village.   

60 13.4 
 

Land lying west of 
Altham Lane, south of 
Barnfield 

Green Belt / Landscape 
Leeds and Liverpool Canal 
Highway Capacity Issues 
Adjacent to woodland 
Public transport 

Potentially attractive site for 
employment development subject 
to constraints being addressed.  
Close to Huncoat Garden Village.  

218 12.4 
 

Land to west of Altham 
Lane 

Green Belt / Landscape 
Leeds and Liverpool Canal 
Highway Capacity Issues 
Public transport 

Potentially attractive site for 
employment development subject 
to constraints being addressed.   
Close to Huncoat Garden Village.   
Market interest.   

210 
 

11.3 
 

Land at Moorside Farm 
2, South of Canal. 

Green Belt / Landscape 
Highways Capacity Issues 
Leeds and Liverpool Canal  
Poor Quality Moorfield 
Industrial Estate.   
Air Quality – Hare and Hounds 

Significant impact on Green Belt 
and poor relationship with existing 
urban areas.   
It would not be desirable for 
additional heavy goods traffic to go 
through the Hare and Hounds 
junction.   

211 15.2 Land at Moorside Farm 
2, North of Canal.   

212 18.0 Land at Moorside Farm 
3. 

 

 
 

60 

218 49 

212 

211 

210 

Page 171



Page 18 of 19 
 

 Aspinall Verdi Report on Altham 2019 

 

 Summary  

 

 Established and popular employment park with a range of occupiers working in a range of 

sectors.  Most are in logistics or manufacturing. Challenging topography, which may give 

viability issues, but in market terms, if it can be extended it should be. Site suitable for the three 

target sectors.  High Quality Employment site in location suitable for the requirement of the key 

target sectors.  

 

In Lancashire, Altham is viewed as a high-quality business park which has been very successful with a 

mixture of international, national and local companies.  Its occupiers include manufacturing, distribution 

and service type uses. 

 

Market Attractiveness 

 

The site has many qualities that make it an attractive location and a key part of Hyndburn’s offer to the 

market. It fulfils many of the criteria that is looked for from investors and expansion of the offer should be 

encouraged. It has good proximity to the main road network, it is in an attractive setting, we assume that 

it has good ICT cabling and offer broadband connectivity. As it is an established location, we would 

expect that the utilities capacity is able to support new development by providing adequate power. 

 

We would summarise its strengths and weaknesses as follows: 

 

Strengths 

 Accessibility to markets – central location on M65 means it can service a large area of the 

county and the M6/ Port of Liverpool. There is also rapid access to Manchester via the A56/ 

M66. 

 Attractive Pennine Lancashire setting 

 Easily reached by skilled workforce  

 Central location should give good level of demand and viable rents 

 

Weaknesses 

 Sites close to M65 are best suited to distribution and logistics, as well as Value Added growth 

sectors 

 Steeply sloping land means that plateauing will be necessary and this will have considerable 

costs. This will lead to viability challenges. 

 Little public transport accessibility 

 

Potential Growth Sectors 

 Advanced Manufacturing 

 Energy 

 Aviation 

 

Page 172



Page 19 of 19 
 

Alignment With Core Strategy Criteria  

 

There is strong alignment with Core Strategy Criteria and development at this location should be 

encouraged.  The council should look to develop and sustain good access by public transport. 

 

 Attract Investment in Key Target Areas 

 Given the wide-ranging nature of the core and potential growth sectors, the property requirements of 

companies would be diverse.  However, if this large employment site is to be developed, we would 

expect there to be a demand for the following uses. Logistics/, Manufacturing Premises; Light industrial; 

Offices – medium quality. 

 

 Reduce the out-commuting of skilled residents 

 Much of Hyndburn’s current stock of buildings is quite old and often in poor locations that are not 

suitable for the requirements of modern industry. If new space can be created here, it will help to keep 

existing businesses in the borough and also include others to relocate into.  Modern space will be 

suitable for higher value businesses. 

 

 Ensure high levels of public transport accessibility 

 The expansion land is a considerable distance from existing bus routes. The nearest railway station is 

Huncoat.  A dedicated bus service that links the station to this expansion land should be provided as part 

of the planning permission.  

 

 Maximise employment opportunities for local residents 

 The capacity of the site can provide for a range of building sizes and specifications.  These buildings can 

provide potential employment space for manufacturing, logistics, offices and ancillary service uses. 

These can provide jobs from unskilled to NVQ Level 5 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet  

DATE: 21 October 2020 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE - Leader 

REPORT AUTHORS: Cllr Glen Harrison, Chair, Environment and Climate 
Change Members Working Group 

Anne Hourican, Snr Environmental Initiatives Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Climate Emergency and Carbon Neutral Gold & 
International Standard Award 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To announce that the Council is nearing completion of a Carbon Footprint exercise, 

through which a Carbon Neutral Gold & International Standard has been awarded and 
that it is participating in the United Nations Carbon Neutral Now initiative. These are 
significant steps in the Council’s Climate Emergency action planning. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet:- 
 

a) Welcomes the Carbon Neutral Gold & International Standard award reflecting the 
Council’s participation in the One Carbon World Carbon Footprint and United 
Nations Climate Neutral Now initiatives (see paras 3.1 – 3.5) 
 

b) Continues to develop a progressive programme of carbon reduction measures plus 
a range of beneficial measures to balance any remaining impacts, with proposals 
being brought forward to future Cabinet meetings (see para 3.6) 

 
c) Recognises that significant actions have continued to be progressed, not-with-

standing the additional challenges of recent months (see para 3.7) 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Council declared a Climate Emergency in September 2019 and also completed a 

Green Review in the same year, together identifying a range of actions with a headline 
target to achieve net-zero carbon in Council activities by 2030 and to produce a 
measured baseline.      

Page 175

Agenda Item 8.



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

3.2 A Carbon Footprint report was commissioned to identify the baseline figure of CO2e1 
emissions through independent analysis of Council data for the year 2018/19 (April 
2018 to March 2019). Prepared by One Carbon World, this is part of the Carbon 
Neutral Gold & International Standards and UN Climate Neutral Now initiatives2.   

 
3.3 The Council is the 1st in the UK to participate in both initiatives.    
 
3.4 Using carbon management principles of Measure, Reduce, Offset, the UN Climate 

Neutral Now initiative invites organisations, governments and citizens to work towards 
global climate neutrality by addressing their climate footprint through a 3-step method: 

 Measure their greenhouse gas emissions. also called the carbon footprint; 
 Reduce them as much as possible through their own actions; and 
 Offset (compensate) those which cannot be currently avoided by using UN certified 

emission reductions  

3.5 The Carbon Footprint report follows a robust methodology to analyse carbon emissions 
impact of different fuels, energy sources and activities. Detailed results will be 
discussed at a future Cabinet meeting covering the operations of the Council together 
with the sports facilities operated by the Leisure Trust, measuring emissions arising 
from energy, fuel, business travel & waste.    

  
3.6 Reducing the net carbon footprint will require priority to be given to the areas of highest 

emissions as part of a comprehensive Climate Emergency action plan, including:- 
 

- Detailed energy audits of key buildings and review of options to reduce energy use, 
natural gas in particular, such as more efficient insulation methods, improved 
heating and lighting systems, and exploration of alternative/renewable energy 
sources for heating such as air source heat pumps (ASHPs) ground source heat 
pumps (GSHPs), solar thermal, Solar PV and others.  

 

- A Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund has recently been announced which could 
be an opportunity to source technical expertise as well as capital grants for 
appropriate installations.  Discussions have been initiated with APSE Energy, an 
advisory service dedicated to the public sector. 

 

- Reviewing opportunities to reduce the carbon impacts from the Council’s vehicle 
fleet, including external assistance through the Energy Saving Trust 

 

- Developing programmes of natural environment measures to balance emissions as 
well as deliver opportunities for high quality environments and local involvement. 

                                                      
1
  CO2e (equivalent) is a universal unit of measurement to indicate the global warming potential of 

seven main Green House Gases (GHGs) which contribute to climate change  

2
 Climate Neutral Now is an initiative launched by United Nations Climate Change in 2015, to   

encourage and support all levels of society to take climate action to achieve a climate neutral 
world by mid-century, as enshrined in the Paris Agreement adopted the same year. 

 

Page 176



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

3.7 The Council has continued to progress several key actions towards the goal of net zero 
carbon, such as these actions in recent months:- 

 
- electricity for a portfolio of key buildings is now sourced from 100% green energy 

 
- zero carbon emission electric lifters on refuse vehicles 
 
- working with environmental organisations on a Lancashire Woodland campaign, 

woodland creation and other habitat enhancement locally 
 

- supporting the greening of the taxi fleet  
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 In-house preparation of a carbon footprint.  Data was assembled in-house by staff from 

several services, but the Council does not currently have staff capacity to analyse and 
report on the CO2e emissions implications.  Also an externally produced carbon 
footprint offers independence and transparency and scope for monitoring progress 
ongoing. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 The data analysed for the Carbon Footprint was produced by several services in the 

Council, in particular, Corporate Property, Waste, Finance, Human Resources, 
Planning and Parks. 

 
5.2 Several Local Authorities in Lancashire have also completed a Carbon Footprint 

through One Carbon World and comparative benchmarks are now being discussed. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 

None arising from this report. Future costs 
could be balanced by energy management 
measures to reduce ongoing revenue costs. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The Climate Change Act 2008 set a legally 
binding target for the UK to bring GHG 
emissions to net zero by 2050.  The Council 
has made a Climate Emergency Declaration 
to achieve net zero carbon emissions from 
Council activities by 2030.  Tackling Climate 
Change has human rights implications, locally 
through issues like flooding, housing 
conditions and access to higher quality 
environments and globally through our 
shared responsibility to reduce the impacts 
for people living in the worst affected areas. 
 

Page 177



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

The pace and scale of delivery on the 
Council’s Climate Emergency Declaration will 
relate to available staff capacity. Options for 
additional capacity and expertise, including 
from external assistance, will need to be 
explored.  
 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

All Services and all staff will have a role to 
play and an opportunity to contribute to the 
widely shared recognition of the urgent need 
to tackle Climate Change.  

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None  
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 

Page 178

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Document is Restricted

Page 179

Agenda Item 10.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	4. Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups
	Minutes
	Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) Minutes - 24 February 2020
	Minutes

	Regeneration and Housing Panel Minutes - 9 March 2020
	Minutes


	5. Urgent Decisions Taken
	Amendment to Scheme of Delegation
	Truck Cartel
	LA Support (Litter and Dog Fouling Enforcement)
	Local Business Discretionary Grant Policy - Urgency Report
	Local Business Discretionary Grant Policy - Main Report and Appendix 1
	Local Business Discretionary Grant Policy - Appendix 2
	Contents
	About this guidance
	Introduction
	How will the grants be provided?
	How much funding will be provided to businesses?
	Who will benefit from these schemes?
	Eligibility
	Who will receive this funding?
	Will these grant schemes be subject to tax?
	Managing the risk of fraud
	Post event assurance
	Monitoring and reporting requirements
	State aid
	Annex A: Post-payment reporting
	Background
	Process
	Definitions

	Annex B: State aid – Sample paragraphs that could be included in letters to grant recipients
	Template to send to beneficiaries of aid awarded based on the UK COVID-19 Temporary Framework
	Template to send to beneficiaries of aid awarded based on De Minimis Rules


	Barnfield and Hyndburn Limited - Urgency Report
	Amendment to Rules - Taxi Licensing - Urgency Report
	Amendment to Rules - Taxi Licensing - Main Report
	Amendment to Rules - Taxi Licensing - Customer First Analysis
	Member Attenance at Meetings - Urgency Report
	Member Attendance at Meetings - Main Report
	Allotment Rental Charge - 2022 and 2023 - Urgency Report
	Allotment Rental Charge - 2022 and 2023 - Main Report
	Temporary Rent Concession - Indoor Market Hall - Urgency Report
	Temporary Rent Concession - Indoor Market Hall - Main Report
	Equality and Diversity Strategy 2020-2025 - Urgency Report
	Equality and Diversity Strategy 2020-2025 - Strategy Document
	Surrender of Lease in respect of Mercer House - Urgency Report
	Surrender of Lease in respect of Mercer House - Main Report
	Surrender of Lease in respect of Arthur Wilson Centre - Urgency Report
	Surrender of Lease in respect of Arthur Wilson Centre - Main Report
	Christmas Lights 2020 - Urgeny Report
	Christmas Lights 2020 - Main Report

	7. Employment Land in Hyndburn - Future Provision
	8. Climate Emergency and Carbon Neutral Gold and International Standard Award
	10. Urgent Decisions Taken

